
 

                                         

 

                                                                      

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY,  NOVEMBER 5, 2013 @ 7:00 P.M. 

 

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4) 

Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel (Seat 1) 

Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5) 

Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3)  

Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 1 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, November 5, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

   

 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 
 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE/AGENDA 

 
1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 
 

 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   

 
 a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 
 

Tentative  

Subject to Revision 

 

 
1 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 2 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

 b. Minutes for Approval:  October 1, 2013  
 

 c. Permission of the Town Council for Ray Sasser – 14805 Okeechobee Blvd.,  
  Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, Connection of New Potable Water Service with  
  Palm Beach County 

 
 d. Office of Inspector General Grant Agreement 
 

  
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS -  Scott Blasie of Vacant Registry (vacant property registry) 
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS – 
 
 a. Finance Advisory & Audit Committee (FAAC) Report and Approval of the  
  August and September 2013 Financial Reports – Committee Member Virginia  
  Standish 
 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS –  
 
 a. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-15  
   
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
 GROVES, FLORIDA, ACCEPTING COUNTY DEEDS FOR THE CONVEYANCE OF 
 CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY TO THE TOWN PURSUANT TO SECTION 197.592(3), 
 FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
 EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 b. RESOLUTON NO. 2013-06  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT FOR THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL 

 
2 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 3 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2012 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 
30, 2013; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 
 c. ORDINANCES- 2nd Reading – None 
   
 
 
 d.  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 - 1st Reading  
 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND 
SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS” TO DEFINE “TEMPORARY 
EVENT,”; TO AMEND SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT), TO REMOVE THE SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION REQUIREMENT FOR COMMERCIAL EQUESTRIAN 
OPERATIONS, ADD RODEO EVENTS AS A PRINCIPAL USE WITH SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION AND TEMPORARY EVENTS AS AN ACCESSORY USE WITH 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPROVAL, AND TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING 
CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(COMMERCIAL LOW AND COMMERCIAL LOW OFFICE DISTRICTS), TO 
SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR 
CERTAIN PRINCIPAL USES; TO AMEND SECTION 30-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” (INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC FACILITIES 
DISTRICT) TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO 
AMEND SECTION 115-01, ENTITLED “TABLE OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
REQUIREMENTS” TO PROVIDE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS; TO AMEND 

 
3 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 4 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

ARTICLE 170, ENTITLED “SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES” TO DEFINE THE 
CATEGORIES FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION REVIEW, AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, REVIEW PROCEDURES AND 
RELATED MATTERS FOR THE CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
REVIEW; TO AMEND ARTICLE 120, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL 
HEARINGS,” SECTION 120-015, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS” 
TO SPECIFY THE SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS THAT ARE CONSIDERED QUASI-
JUDICIAL MATTERS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

e. ORDINANCE No. 2013-08 – 1st reading 
 
Ordinance No. 2013-08 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 163.3184(3) FLORIDA STATUTES TO: 
(1) AMEND THE  TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TEXT; (2) AMEND 
THE DRAINAGE SUB-ELEMENT TEXT OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
ELEMENT; (3) AMEND THE RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE 
ELEMENT TEXT; AND (4) AMEND THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
ELEMENT TEXT; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 

 
 f.  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-09 – 1st Reading Quasi Judicial Public Hearing  
 
 Ordinance No. 2013-09 – Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 (Simon Trust Property – Loxahatchee Groves Commons) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE   GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE 

 
4 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 5 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 21.73 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
OF SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON 
THE MAP ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING DESGNATION AGRICULTURAL 
RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION COMMERCIAL LOW PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
(CL/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE REVISIONS OF THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
 
 
 g. ORDINANCE No. 2013-10 – 1st Reading Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 
 Ordinance No. 2013-10 – Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 (Solar Sportsystems, Inc. – Groves Town Center) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE   GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE 
REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 90.33 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON THE MAP 
ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING DESGNATION AGRICULTURAL 
RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION MULTIPLE LAND USE PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT (MLU/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE 
REVISIONS OF THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 7.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 
 1. State Road (SR) 7  Extension 
 

 
5 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 6 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

 2. Western Plaza/Mr. Yee 
 
 3. Literacy Coalition 
 
 
8.  OLD BUSINESS    

 
  
 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a. Work Authorizations for Underwood Management Services Group 
 
 b. Roadway, Equestrian Trails & Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC)  
  Proposal Regarding Controlled Equestrian Crossings for B and F Roads at   
  Okeechobee Blvd. (Keith Harris, Member of RETGAC) 
 
 c. E-Mail from Southern States 
 
 d. Special Acts – Legislation Regarding Roadways  
 
 e. Minto West Land Use Amendment and Rezoning  
 
 f. Discussion and Approval of all Concerns of LGWCD Proposed Legislation  
  Regarding Roadways (Vice Mayor Jarriel) 
 
 g. Review of Council’s policies, practices and procedures not included in Town  
  Ordinances and Resolutions to determine if any modifications or changes need to  
  be made (Councilman Jim Rockett) 

 

   
 
 
 
10.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 

 
6 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 7 of 7  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/05/2013 
 

 
b. Town Attorney   
  
 
c. Town Council Members 
 
 

 
11.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next regular Town Council Meeting is scheduled for December 3, 2013 
 
 

 
Comment Cards: Anyone from the public wishing to address the Town Council must complete a Comment Card before speaking. This must 
be filled out completely with your full name and address and given to the Town Clerk. During the meeting, before public comments, you may 
only address the item on the agenda in which is being discussed at the time of your comment. During public comments, you may address any 
item you desire. Please remember that there is a three (3) minute time limit on all public comment. Any person who decides to appeal any 
decision of the Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose, may 
need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made which included testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
Persons with disabilities requiring accommodations in order to participate should contact the Town Clerk’s Office (561-793-2418), at least 48 
hours in advance to request such accommodation. 

 
7 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2. A.  

INVOICE FROM GOREN,CHEROF, DOODY & EZROL, P.A. 

 
8 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
9 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
10 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
11 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
12 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
13 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
14 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
15 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
16 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
17 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
18 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
19 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
20 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
21 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
22 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
23 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
24 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2. b.  

MINUTES FOR APPROVAL:  OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 
25 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 

Tuesday, October 1, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 

  
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
1. OPENING 
 
 a. Call to Order & Roll Call 

 
Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.  Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel, and Councilmen Tom Goltzené, Ryan Liang, and Jim Rockett. 
Also present were Town Manager Mark Kutney, Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town 
Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann, Town Planning Technician Braeden Garrett, and Town 
Clerk Susan Eichhorn. 

 
 

 b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 

 c. Approval of Agenda 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel requested the addition of two items for discussion only, to be added to the 
Agenda under Old Business: 

 
26 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 2 of 15   
 

10.b. Discussion of  vacant property registry. 
10.c. Discussion of vacant property at 2380 C Road 
 

Motion: Motion made by Councilman Liang to approve the Agenda, as amended. The 
motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 

 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   

 
 a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 

 b. Minutes for Approval:  Minutes of August 20, 2013; Minutes  of September 3,  
  2013;   Minutes of September 17, 2013 Minutes of September 20, 2013  

 
Motion: Motion made by Vice Mayor Jarriel, seconded by Councilman Liang, to 
approve the minutes listed on the Consent Agenda.  The motion passed 5/0.   

 
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Rd:  Commented regarding consideration of a safe controlled equestrian 
crossing at Okeechobee Blvd., and B and F Roads.  He respectfully requested that the Town 
Council consider the project, and distributed a conceptual study packet to the Town Council. 
 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to receive and file the Conceptual Study of 
Controlled Equestrian Crossings for B and F Roads at Okeechobee Blvd.  The motion was 
seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 
Dennis Lipp, 13402 North Rd.:  Commented regarding the Inspector General and encouraged 
support of the Inspector General.   
 
Sharyn Browning, 3056 D Rd.:  Commented regarding the Literacy Coalition “Read for the 
Record.”  
 
Virginia Standish, 15410 North Rd.:  Commented regarding notices regarding paving of B Rd. 
being sent out to residents on B Rd. 
 
Ken Johnson, Collecting Canal Rd.:  Commented regarding B Road and said that he falls within 
that area, and had not received any notification of anything going on B Road.  Questioned why 
this was being done, when the College and developers are going to pay for it. Referred to the 
bridge that crosses Collecting Canal on B Rd. and the heavy trucks going on the road, and asked 
when the bridge was last inspected.  Commented regarding notification of Loxahatchee Groves 
property owners when development projects were planned in surrounding communities.  
Commented regarding the Community Emergency Response Team (CERT). 
 
 

 
27 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 3 of 15   
 

 
4.  PRESENTATIONS - None 
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS –None  
 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS –  
 

 
7.  PUBLIC HEARINGS (Ordinances 2nd Reading)  
   

a. Ordinance No. 2013-05  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, AMENDING PART III, 
ENTITLED “SUPPLEMENTAL REGULATIONS,” ARTICLE 80, 
ENTITLED “CONDITIONAL USES,” SECTION 80-020, ENTITLED 
“RESIDENTIAL ENTERPRISE,” OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
TO PERMIT A LIMITED NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS TO 
TRANSACT BUSINESS AT THE LOCATION OF A RESIDENTIAL 
ENTERPRISE; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY, 
CODIFICATION, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that this is the second hearing of Ordinance No. 2013-05 and read 
Ordinance 2013-05 by title as printed above.  He noted that it will require a vote of four out of 
five council members to pass this ordinance. 
 
Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann provided the staff report.  Staff recommendation 
was for approval of the proposed ULDC text amendments.  
 
Mayor Browning opened the public hearing. 
 
Discussion by the Town Council took place regarding allowing three customers per day, 
changing residential enterprise to home occupation, and approving the ordinance tonight and 
then at a later time have the Planning & Zoning Board and the Unified Land Development Code 
Review Committee review the code in order to change the home occupation section. 
 
Town Manager Kutney stated that he had provided the Town Council a memorandum in April 
with his concerns about taking action on this ordinance.  He noted that Mr. Kline had options and 
in that memo Town Manager Kutney had recommended that we recognize that there are 
problems with the code in residential enterprise and home office too.  The other continuing effort 
is the historical legacy that was associated with the issues that came up under the hay sales.  
Perhaps the Town Council would like staff to look at the options.  

 
28 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 4 of 15   
 

 
Mayor Browning commented that we have two committees that said that we should not go 
forward with this.  As much as we want to help, we have to be careful. 
 
Public Comments: 
 
Dennis Lipp 13402 North Rd.:   Commented that he serves as chairman of the Planning & 
Zoning Board, and that he did not recommend that the residential enterprise should be changed 
to allow customers. 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented that he endorsed the comments of Mr.  Lipp.  He noted 
that the ULDC Review Committee had discussed the issue, as well as alternatives for Mr. Kline.  
He suggested that Section 80-020 of the ULDC is dropped.  
 
Todd McLendon, 3481 D Rd.:  Commented that he agreed that it should be cancelled tonight. 
 
Virginia Standish, 15410 North Rd:  Commented that she was speaking as the Chair of the 
ULDC Review Committee.  She emphasized that the most important thing they considered was 
the three customers with no limit.  Also, the Committee understood the difficulties of making a 
living, however alternatives were available.  Southern and Okeechobee both have retail 
businesses, and the internet could also be used.   The residential enterprise seemed to be overkill, 
and it was troubling that so much time and money has been spent for one individual when he did 
have other options. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2013-05, with 
the provision of 3 customers per day.   
 
Discussion occurred. 
 
Councilman Liang seconded the motion. 
 
Upon roll call, the motion failed 5/0. 
 
 
 
 
8.  ORDINANCES  (1st Reading)  - 
 

a.  Public Hearing:   
 
Ordinance No. 2013-07 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE 
OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS WITHIN THE 
TOWN; PROVIDING FOR LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING 

 
29 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 5 of 15   
 

THE OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS OVER 
WHICH THE TOWN HAS TRAFFIC CONTROL JURISDICTION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.212, FLORIDA STATUTES; 
CONFIRMING THAT GOLF CARTS MAY NOT BE OPERATED ON OR 
ACROSS THE PORTIONS OF FOLSOM ROAD, OKEECHOBEE 
BOULEVARD AND SOUTHERN BOULEVARDS THAT LIE WITHIN 
THE TOWN; PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS BY 
UNLICENSED DRIVERS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF 
THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Ordinance No. 2013-07 by title, as printed above. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo reviewed the changes made to the Ordinance:    golf carts can be safely 
operated on Town roads, using the same list used for gas tax; permits operation of golf carts only 
by licensed drivers.  He also noted that crossing Okeechobee Blvd., Southern Blvd.,  and Folsom 
Rd. would need to be discussed, and signs would need to be provided and put up. 
 
Mayor Browning opened the public hearing and discussion. 
 
Councilman Goltzené thanked Attorney Cirullo for the good job, and the only change he would 
make would be the ability to cross Okeechobee Blvd.   
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that he thought we are opening a can of worms, and asked if we 
are trying to get a cost estimate on signs, etc. 
 
Councilman Rockett commented that this ordinance is attempting to solve a problem that he does 
not think we have.  Have we considered that the vast majority of residents who use our roads for 
their cars will now have a new hazard to contend with, as well as the added liability concern of 
sharing the narrow roads with golf carts.  Our roads are not up to FDOT standards.  Golf carts 
will add a new risk to driving in Loxahatchee Groves.  He brought up the Florida Statutes that 
would apply.  Loxahatchee Groves was not set up for a senior citizen community or golf cart 
development. He asked who has made the determination that golf carts can safely travel across 
the roads in Loxahatchee Groves.  He noted that he had concerns regarding liability. If the 
ordinance is passed, then he thought that the road signs that have to be erected have to include 
the things he pointed out all regulations as well as those in the Florida State Statutes, and he was 
not comfortable on relying on those that are operating golf carts to have read Florida Statutes.   
 
Motion: Councilman Goltzené made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2013-07, with 
the change that we allow crossing on Okeechobee Road.    
  
Councilman Goltzené requested that the second reading be in December, as he was unable 
to attend the November Town Council meeting.   
 

 
30 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 6 of 15   
 

The motion is seconded by Ryan Liang. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that  he would appreciate the opportunity to read the title as it 
was now changed, before the Town Council voted on the ordinance.  
 
Mayor Browning commented that he did not see this as a big thing.  Right now you can ride a 
horse or drive a farm tractor down the roads.  Maybe we need to begin to change things to where 
people driving through begin to realize that our community is a community.  I do not see a 
problem.  If we have a sign, we need to include everything.  If you drive on our roads, respect 
our community.  The other thing I would like to do is to limit it to the number of seats or riders.  

 
Public Comment: 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd:  Commented that he agreed with Vice Mayor Jarriel and Councilman 
Rockett that we are opening a can of worms.  He read sections from Town Attorney Cirullo’s 
memo where all of the particulars of the golf carts were pointed out.  He commented that he did 
not think that riding on Town roads would be safe with kids doing the driving, and did not think 
the Town has the ability to enforce the restrictions that are in the Florida Statutes, and it was not 
going to be realistic in terms of enforcement.   
 
Frank Schiola, Marcella Blvd.:  Commented that he mows grass over in Wellington and all he 
sees on those roads is golf carts -- that is how equestrians move from one barn to another. The 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves was turning from an agriculture community to 
agriculture/equestrian community and people move from one barn to another.  He does not see 
kids on golf carts, but does see kids on ATVs.  He suggested including Compton Road as a 
change to the ordinance.   
 
Dennis Lipp, 13402 North Rd.:  Commented that Mr. Schiola brought up some good points.  He 
noted that his car headlights could not pick up two kids on a golf cart and he almost went into a 
canal trying to avoid them.  This is not a golf course community.  These are washboard roads.  
How many times have we had automobiles going into the canal?   
 
Ken Johnson, Collecting Canal Rd.:  Commented regarding opening ourselves up to a can of 
worms, and concurred with what Vice Mayor Jarriel and Councilman Rockett said.  One thing to 
consider was the cost of signs, and they would need to be in multiple languages.  I think we have 
a tremendous liability issue.  Who is going to check out these golf carts for safety.  If I 
understand the Palm Beach Sheriff’s Office (PBSO), if the people in that golf cart try to run 
when the officers try to stop them, they will not chase them.   We are opening an issue that does 
not need to be opened.  It will cost taxpayers for a lawsuit if someone gets maimed, injured or 
killed on our roads. 
 
Ann Parker, 15565 Collecting Canal Rd:  Commented that she understood all of the reasoning.  
If you say golf carts, will it include all of the other ATVs, etc?  She thinks it will cause a lot of 
problems. 
 

 
31 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 7 of 15   
 

Town Attorney Cirullo advised that right now, the motion was to approve the ordinance and 
strike the prohibition on Okeechobee.  If it was desired to also limit the number of riders, the 
motion would need to be amended.  Anything that was not in the State Statutes would need to be 
posted on the signage.   
 
Councilman Liang clarified that golf carts only CROSS Okeechobee, not ride ON Okeechobee.   
 
Councilman Goltzené amended the motion to say that the amount of riders is limited to the 
number of seats available and to allow crossings at Okeechobee at the letter roads.  
Councilman Liang, the seconder of the motion, agreed with the amendment. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that, before you vote, because you clarifiy that it is only 
permitted to cross Okeechobee, he would re-read the title with the new limitations and if it 
passes the text will be changed to reflect the change on Okeechobee. certain portions of Folsom 
Road, Okeechobee Blvd. and Southern Blvd.  -- limiting the number of riders on golf carts. 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE 
OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS WITHIN THE 
TOWN; PROVIDING FOR LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING 
THE OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS OVER 
WHICH THE TOWN HAS TRAFFIC CONTROL JURISDICTION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.212, FLORIDA STATUTES; 
CONFIRMING THAT GOLF CARTS MAY NOT BE OPERATED ON OR 
ACROSS THE CERTAIN PORTIONS OF FOLSOM ROAD, 
OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD AND SOUTHERN BOULEVARDS THAT 
LIE WITHIN THE TOWN; PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF GOLF 
CARTS BY UNLICENSED DRIVERS; LIMITING THE NUMBER OF 
RIDERS ON GOLF CARTS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF 
THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo clarified that Section 5 of the ordinance will be amended as to 
Okeechobee.  Section 6 will be added to limit the number of riders to the number of seats on the 
golf cart. 
 
The motion passed on roll call vote, 3/2, with Vice Mayor Jarriel and Councilman Rockett 
casting dissenting votes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
32 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 8 of 15   
 

 9.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 

 IGC Update:  At the last meeting we discussed Quit Claim deeds for the OGEM roads. 
We discussed a local bill for the remaining District Roads. We also heard a presentation 
from Nina Corning of REGAC, and she wanted to talk to especially the District as to the 
trails and the future, and District right of ways and how we can make the trails work.  We 
discussed drainage on North A road relative to two properties and it is a matter that Mr. 
Yohe and I will continue to work out.  We set the date of our next meeting for October 
25, 2013.  One discussion we had was relative to B Road and improvements to B Road 
by the developers.  Basically the developers have been working internally to determine 
their proportions of share of the road improvements.    There were a number of issues 
related to the B Road improvements and the IGC felt that we should be looking at trying 
to have a workshop or a special meeting in mid to late October -- a joint meeting with the 
District, Town Council, and inviting the developers to that discussion. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo pointed out that B Road did relate to the proposed development.  In 
discussions with the developer, the portion of the road that connects to Southern to the entrance 
to the college would need to be constructed and designed to FDOT standards.  The developers 
were going to fund that.  For the improvements north of that, the concept would be that the 
developer, the District and the Town would work on the costs for that and property owners to 
OGEM that road. That is going to be part of the proposal that you will see with the PUD zoning 
applications.  We will have two public hearings, the first of which is coming on November 5, 
2013, Town Council meeting.   
 
Town Manager Kutney clarified that the only reason why the proposal was not to have asphalt all 
the way to Collecting Canal, was because apparently the former administrator of the District 
asked to have OGEM from the entrance of the two developments up to Okeechobee. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that needs to be changed.  The only reason we use OGEM is to 
cut the costs and because we have canals.  They need to go all the way from Southern to 
Collecting Canal with pavement and a sidewalk and then we will pick it up from there and do 
OGEM to Okeechobee Blvd. 
 
Mayor Browning commented that he was concerned with where we make the transition, and was 
concerned with safety points. 
 
Town Manager Kutney pointed out that both the Planning & Zoning Board and the Roadway, 
Equestrian Trails & Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC) also asked the developers to 
have that transition of OGEM.  He suggested a joint meeting in late October where both the 
District and the Town could take some action. 
 
Mayor Browning said that he had a call from Dr. Gallon of Palm Beach State College requesting 
a meeting regarding the letter sent regarding the District assessment.  Mayor Browning would 
like to set up a meeting with himself, Town Attorney and Dr. Gallon to talk about with both 
issues -- the road paving and the assessment issue. 
 

 
33 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 9 of 15   
 

It was the consensus of the Town Council to allow Mayor Browning to do that. 
 
Discussion took place regarding the  issue of timing for the legislature and the Special Act 
regarding the District roads.  It was the Consensus of the Town Council to allow Town 
Attorney Cirullo to work with District Attorney Viator on a draft local bill, and to schedule 
a public workshop meeting with the District and the Town Council for discussion of the 
roadway matters on October 22, 2013.  
 
Public Comment: 
 
Nina Corning, E Rd.:  Commented regarding the transition from pavement to OGEM -- 
RETGAC suggested some sort of a turn-around or something like that, so that people turn around 
and go back out to Southern and not cut through the Town.  RETGAC is looking for some 
control over the easements as well.   
 
 

 ULDC Review Committee Update and Request Items for Further Review:  The ULDC 
Review Committee will potentially hold two meetings in the next three months and he 
asked that the Town Council give him any items that they want the ULDC to look at.   

 
 

 RETGAC and Planning and Zoning Board Joint Meeting – October 10, 2013:  There will 
be a joint meeting of the Planning & Zoning Board, and RETGAC regarding the  
amendments to the Comprehensive Plan for the CIE elements. 
  

 Update on Palms West Plaza Improvements:  Staff and Mr. Yee had a meeting on 
September 6, 2013, and Mr. Yee has not gotten back to me.  I am considering drafting a 
letter and giving him a time frame, so we can see what he wants to do. 

 
 

 Met with Simmons and White relative to D Rd and Okeechobee traffic signal.  Told them 
that the preference was for a wire signal and asked them for proposal to design, and 
install the signal and verify what the actual site improvements required by Palm Beach 
County would be.  He asked them to give him a proposal and provide costs.  Hopefully 
we will have their proposal soon and he will be able to issue to them a Notice to Proceed.   
The key factor is for them to identify what the site improvements are. 

 
 
 
10.  OLD BUSINESS    

 
 a. Management Evaluation 
  
Town Manager Kutney distributed a packet to the Town Council, noting that the Mayor had 
requested that the Management Company come up with an evaluation form.  The form was 
tailored to address all aspects of the Town Charter and the Management Contract.  The form 

 
34 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 10 of 15   
 

allowed the Town Council to rate the Management Company on all aspects of the Town Charter 
and the Management Contract.  He stated that the Town Council members could complete the 
form, or give him feedback on the form.   
 
 
 
 
 b.    Vacant Property Registry 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel stated that he had mentioned this at the last Town Council meeting about a 
company coming in to do a presentation about how they function, etc.  He is bringing it up 
tonight so that Town Attorney Cirullo can get direction, and apparently this company can do a 
presentation at the  November 5, 2013 Town Council Meeting.   
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that the issue you have is with the procurement code, and that he 
would have to look into that.  Anyone was welcome to give a presentation, but that would not 
provide any advantage to them in going through a selection process because you would have to 
direct something through the procurement process.  The Town could also piggy back on other 
government contracts under the procurement code.  Anytime you bring a vendor in here, I think 
there may be the expectation of doing business with the Town.  Any presenter could only 
provide you with knowledge of what is out there that you are not aware of it.   
 
Councilman Goltzené commented that he would be more inclined to go ahead and do a request 
where various people can make presentations or make their proposal, and then we would choose 
two or three people to do presentations. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that he agreed with Councilman Goltzené.  Bring as many as you 
want on November 5th to do a presentation.  Just make it known to them that they are just here to 
educate us on how this works and cannot expect any special privileges.  Hopefully some other 
people could be requested to do presentations on that same date. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that he did not think direction from the Town Council was needed 
to put an item on the Agenda, it is just what is the item going to be, so that we can understand it 
and prepare for it too.  There could not be any direction to procure given tonight, because it was 
not on the Agenda. 

 
Councilman Liang asked if there was anything against the rules for us to look at what Wellington 
and Royal Palm have and do an RFP from there.  We would wait for the presentation to find out 
what the services are and how it would serve the Town, and then we can determine whether we 
want to pursue.   
 
Town Attorney Cirullo replied that after the presentations, you can decide if that is a service that 
the Town needs, and then you can pursue it. 
 

 
35 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 11 of 15   
 

Town Manager Kutney pointed out that the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) has their own 
thoughts and observations about piggy backing and they will have a meeting on November 14th 
to discuss this issue. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo indicated that any presentation would be informational, fact finding on 
the service to the Town, and then you can decide whether you need it, and then how to procure it. 
Make it clear that they are coming only for informational purposes. 
 
 
 
 

 c. Discussion of vacant property at 2380 C Road 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel explained that this property was one of the reasons why he thought there was 
a need for a registry company to take over our vacant property registry.  He explained that in 
2008, an owner of the house was making crack and the house caught on fire and no one has been 
in it since.  Supposedly the Mayor received a letter stating that a person had been occupying the 
property since July of 2012.  The person states that the property was abandoned.  He noted that 
the Town has a lien of approximately $116,000 against this property and the Magistrate ruled 
that for every day after the hearing it would be $100 per day. His concern was that since 2008 
this property is still like it was then.  The person now occupying the property said that his 
intention is to rehabilitate the property and make it his home. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that the lien is recorded.  The next step is to ask the Special 
Magistrate to authorize the Town to foreclose its lien.  It must be understood that if there is a 
mortgage on the property, if we recorded our lien after the mortgage was recorded, we would be 
subject to that mortgage.  If there is a mortgage foreclosure pending it would foreclose our lien.    
From a code enforcement aspect, you may be able to find a docket to see if there is an actual 
foreclosure and where it is in the process.  You could foreclose it on your own and see if that 
pushes action, or you could get involved in the foreclosure somehow.  The first thing I could do 
is to determine whether there is a foreclosure and if so, what stage it is in. 
 
Town Manager Kutney explained that the Interlocal Agreement that the Town amended with the 
County in 2011 basically addresses only in progress inspections.  The Town reviews it for 
planning and zoning and then it goes to the County for all other aspects.  The problem we see in 
the agreement is that the County will not do any other building official duties.  Only a building 
official can take certain actions.  He noted that he had provided Town Attorney Cirullo with the 
Interlocal Agreement and asked him to take a look at it, and we have not yet had the opportunity 
to discuss the matter. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel stated that we need to direct staff to do something about this tonight.  I want 
to hear if the Town Council can do something about it and approach the County.  This property 
needs to be condemned.  Whoever owns this property needs to know that they owe us money.  
  
Motion:  Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion that the Town notify the property owner and 
tell them how much they owe us and come to a conclusion on this matter. 

 
36 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 12 of 15   
 

 
Mayor Browning stated that we were not going to make motions on discussion items. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel replied that he would put it on the Agenda for the next meeting. 
  
Councilman Rockett commented that he had a lot of experience with this kind of a problem.    If 
we can move the process along with some incentive to the mortgage company that is the best that 
we are going to get; he did not think there would be any particular gain in this case. 
 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Ken Johnson, Collecting Canal:  it sounds as if we can get the right firm it could be some profit 
for the town to help the town reduce our taxes.  That needs to be explored.  As far as 10.c., it 
sounds like the condition of the property it should be demolished.  It should be bulldozed, and if 
we can get some money out of it -- it will reduce our taxation.  I think that needs to be explored 
too. 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented that he rode through the roads on Sunday, and saw a 
motorcycle in the garage of this abandoned property and  stopped and talked to the gentleman, 
and told him of the taxes, code liens, assessments.  He asked the gentleman for documentation 
and he produced a file indicating that the mortgage lien is $260,000.   A foreclosure proceeding 
was filed, but they have dismissed that because they did not see any way to collect any 
meaningful amount of money.  It would cost more money to take over a property that is already 
under liens.  The thing the Town could do is work with the County and get some threat to 
demolish the improvements; the mortgage company would be looking at a one acre property if 
the structure is demolished.  If the Town threatens to demolish the structure, that could force the 
mortgagee to try to recover some of the value of the property; the only way to get this moving is 
to threaten to demolish this structure and notify the mortgagee of what we are doing.   
 
Town Manager Kutney advised that the only person that he was aware of that can declare a 
structure unsafe is a building official, which he was not sure we have the ability to do right now.  
We must make sure we are proceeding properly from a legal standpoint. 
 
Councilman Goltzené suggested that the ULDC Review Committee look at this issue too.  It was 
the consensus of the Town Council to allow the ULDC Review Committee to review the 
issue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
37 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 13 of 15   
 

11. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a. Office of Inspector General Grant Agreement 
 
Town Manager Kutney reported on the material in the back up.   He recommended that if the 
Town Council wanted to enter into this agreement, the Town Attorney had some concerns 
relative to some of the language in the agreement, and it could be brought back at the November 
5, 2013, Town Council meeting if the Town Council was so inclined. 
  
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that he would contact Palm Beach County with his concerns 
relative to Section 5 of the Agreement.  Other than that, it was a policy decision as to whether the 
Town Council thought it was appropriate to make a voluntary payment, 
 
It was the consensus of the Town Council that County Commissioner Santamaria would be 
consulted in this matter, in order to determine how the funding/payment was being 
handled. 
 
Rockett:  my point was how the funding is being done.  I will get some more info from Jess 
 
Motion: Councilman Goltzené made a motion Town Attorney Cirullo proceed 
forward to look into this, and bring this back to the Town Council.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 3/2 with Vice Mayor Jarriel and 
Councilman Rockett dissenting. 
 
 
 
 
 b. Discussion of Highland Dunes PUD 
   
Mayor Browning advised that he had met with the County Commissioner on this.  The property 
is 2 1/2 miles west of Seminole Pratt and its northern boundary is to align with the potential 
Okeechobee Blvd.  I would like permission from the Town Council to meet with every single 
County Commissioner.   
 
It was the consensus of the Town Council to allow Mayor to speak with each County 
Commissioner.   
 
Councilman Goltzené advised that he will not be at the meeting in November.   
 
Mayor Browning stated that the density is very important to him.  Density should reflect the 
communities closest to them.  Councilman Rockett added that if you need any resources like 
Town Attorney Cirullo you go ahead and do that.  Consensus of the TC to agree with 
Councilman Rockett's comment.   
 
 
 

 
38 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 14 of 15   
 

Public Comment: 
 
Marge Herzog, A Rd.:  Commented that she was at the County Commission meeting and when 
she got up she spoke about the impact that the development would have on Okeechobee Blvd., 
and she had asked if they were considering asking the development to pay for lights on 
Okeechobee.  The Landowners Association directed her to write a letter to the Inspector General 
and to each County Commissioner, and they were forwarded to County departments for review.  
The rural area notification needs to be reviewed, because only 28 people were notified. 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented that he hoped that the Town Council would direct Town 
Attorney Cirullo to use a legal argument to restart the legal process so that we have more than 30 
days. 
 
Nina Corning 234 E Rd.:  Commented regarding the project and questioned if we had made 
contact with the other towns affected by this in order to collaborate with them.  How can we 
prevent them from using Okeechobee Blvd?   
 
 
Public Comments: 
 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Rd.:  Commented on the development plans and requested that Town 
Management place the controlled equestrian crossings on the Planning & Zoning Board agenda 
and the RETGAC agenda and also that the Town Council put this on an immediate agenda to 
refer to the Comprehensive Plan in order to discourage cut through traffic throughout town.   
 
 
 
 
12.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 

 
 
b. Town Attorney   
 
 1.  “B” Road Improvements  
 
Town Attorney Cirullo clarified that this item had been discussed earlier in the meeting. 
 
 
c. Town Council Members 
 
Councilman Rockett questioned why there are not second monthly Town Council meetings.  
Town Manager Kutney advised that he brought it up in his management report and no one 
had a problem with it.  Councilman Rockett said that he did not appreciate that mechanism to 

 
39 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2013 

 

 
Town Council Minutes 10‐01‐13  Page 15 of 15   
 

decide when the meetings would be held. Councilman Rockett said that his point is that the 
mechanism to ask the Town Council to make a decision was to have the opportunity to vote 
on it.  He thanked everyone for coming. 
 
Councilman Goltzené indicated that Town Manager Kutney had brought the matter up, and 
the idea of having the second meetings of the month was to discuss special separate items. 
 
Councilman Liang:  Requested the FACC Committee review assuming the debt service for 
the OGEM roads that we have taken over and possibly have them make presentations to the 
Town Council. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel:  Thanked everyone for coming. 
 
Councilman Goltzené:  On the subject of the Management Company managing the Town, I 
think that is what we hired them to do. When they say things and everyone sits there and 
acknowledges what they said, and then later on act like it didn’t happen – if every single 
decision made in this Town has to be made directly by the Town Council, then we need a lot 
more time and meetings; I don't think we need to have the Town Council make every single 
decision.  We hired professionals for a purpose. We will find out in the evaluation report 
what the problem is, because I don’t see the problem.  Maybe if these people were to meet 
with staff a little more often and find out what is going on they might know what is going on, 
instead of having a list of questions at the meeting.  I meet with staff, and I do not need to ask 
all of my questions at the meeting, because I think it is very,very ineffective.  I think it is 
causing a problem with the Town Council and a problem with Town Management where 
certain people are trying to cause dissension. 
 
Mayor Browning:  Requested that a meeting is set after the first of the year, for our Town to 
meet the candidates for the County Commission to have them all come out here and talk to 
us.   

 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the town Council Meeting of October 1, 2013, was adjourned at  
10:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
______________________________   ______________________________ 
Susan Eichhorn, Town Clerk     David Browning, Mayor 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 

 
These minutes were approved at the November 5, 2013, Town Council Meeting. 

 
40 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2. c.  

PERMISSION FOR WATER SERVICE 

 
41 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM: Braeden Garrett, Town Planning Technician   
 
THROUGH: Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            September 30, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:      Ray Sasser – 14805 Okeechobee Blvd., Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, 

Connection of New Potable Water Service with Palm Beach County 
   
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
In accordance with the Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ Comprehensive Plan, Infrastructure 
Element 3-3, and Chapters 166 and 180, Florida Statutes, the Town is authorized to provide 
utility service within the Town’s municipality limits. In order to avoid the duplication of 
pipelines and other facilities, the Town has agreed to allow the County to provide potable water, 
wastewater, and reclaimed water services within the Town’s municipal limits.  Property owners 
along Southern Boulevard, Okeechobee Boulevard and 40th Street, who are adjacent to these 
water mains, may request connection with the permission of the Town Council. 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
Ray Sasser is requesting approval for water connection service at 14805 Okeechobee Boulevard.  
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 
 

 N/A 
 
IV. ATTACHMENTS 
 

 Application 
 

V. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Motion by Town Council to approve the application. 
 

 
42 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
43 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2. d.  

OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL GRANT AGREEMENT 

 
44 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



   TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

Revised October 30, 2013 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            September 26, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Office of Inspector General (OIG) Grant Funding 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
This issue was discussed at the September 17th Town Council Meeting and the Town Manager 
advised that he would bring the matter back to Town Council at the October 1, 2013 meeting. 
As Town Council is aware, there is a group of fourteen cities that have filed a lawsuit against 
Palm Beach County challenging the funding method outlined in the Inspector General 
Ordinance. Further, the Palm Beach County Clerk and Comptroller also joined the lawsuit 
requesting the Court provide direction relative to the Clerk’s obligations as a result of the 
lawsuit. However, the Clerk and Comptroller will not collect or release previously paid fair share 
payments until that Office receives direction from the Court on legal obligations in that regard. 
This matter may continue for some time and has resulted in the OIG facing budgetary challenges 
to properly fund the office. The Town has paid its fair share of $481 in 2011 and first quarterly 
payment of $468 in 2012. At the time of the County’s request in May 2012, the Town elected to 
not pay the funds due to the aforementioned issues with Palm Beach County Clerk. Palm Beach 
County is requesting help from the municipalities to defray the expenses associated with the OIG 
while the lawsuit is still ongoing. At the October 1, 2013 Town Council meeting, the Town 
Council elected to defer the item until County Commissioner Santamaria could be consulted by 
members of the Town Council for his input and the Town Attorney could consult with the Palm 
Beach County Attorney’s Office regarding the offset provision of the proposed agreement. 
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
Since that letter in May 2012, three municipalities have agreed to meet their funding obligation 
through a voluntary grant agreement with Palm Beach County. The County has issued a new 
August 28, 2013 letter requesting the Town’s cooperation in this program and such letter was the 

 
45 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



subject of discussion at the September 17th meeting. Essentially, Palm Beach County is 
requesting all of the remaining municipalities not involved in the lawsuit to enter into a grant 
agreement with the County in the amount of $2,218 annually (Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
allocation). The draft Grant Agreement is attached to this agenda item. Should Town Council 
approval entering into this agreement, Town Management will modify the agreement to 
customize it for Loxahatchee Groves and place it on  the November 5th Town Council Consent 
Agenda for ratification. The Town Attorney spoke with the County Attorney and was advised 
that the intent of the language is to avoid double dipping in the event that the County prevails in 
its litigation. Should the County prevail, it will be a policy direction from the County 
Commission on how to proceed, but having this language will ensure that the town will get the 
benefit of any voluntary contribution in the event the County Commission is either required or 
elects to collect past due funding. 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

Monies have been budgeted in the FY2014 Budget for the Inspector General Office 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

August 28, 2013 Letter From Mayor Steven L. Abrams to Mayor David Browning 

Draft Model Agreement OIG Funding 

OIG Ordinance Section 2-429 Financial Support and Budgeting 

10/28/13 email correspondence from Mike Cirullo to Susan Eichhorn regarding the Voluntary 
Funding Agreement for the OIG 

 

 REQUESTED ACTION 

 
Motion by Town Council to approve entering into a grant funding agreement with Palm Beach 
County and authorize the Mayor to execute the same. Should Town Council approve entering 
into the grant agreement, Town Management Staff will bring the model ordinance back to Town 
Council for ratification on November 5, 2013 Town Council Agenda under  Consent Agenda  for 
ratification. The Model Ordinance has been customized by the Town Attorney and is ready for 
Town Council adoption. 
 
 

 
46 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
47 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



1 
 

GRANT AGREEMENT 
 
 

This Grant Agreement is made the ___________ day of _______________, 2013, between 

the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, a municipality located in Palm Beach, Florida (hereinafter 

MUNICIPALITY") and Palm Beach County, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, 

(hereinafter "COUNTY"), each one constituting a public agency as defined in Part I of Chapter 163, 

Florida Statutes. 

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, based on overwhelming voter approval in a countywide referendum, the voters 

approved meaningful ethics reform for both County and municipal governments, including the 

creation, operation, and funding of an Office of Inspector General by countywide Ordinance 2011-

009 (hereinafter “Ordinance”); and 

WHEREAS, this Ordinance provides a method of apportioning the costs of the Office of 

Inspector General budget among the County and each MUNICIPALITY in a fair and equitable 

manner in order to adequately fund the Office of Inspector General operations; 

WHEREAS, certain cities have filed a lawsuit challenging the validity of the Ordinance as it 

relates to the funding method for the Office of Inspector General operations; and 

WHEREAS, MUNICIPALITY has not filed suit challenging the Ordinance, but due to the 

pendency of this lawsuit, the Clerk and Comptroller also having joined the lawsuit to determine its 

rights and responsibilities under the Ordinance, will not act in furtherance of the Ordinance until the 

pending case is resolved by the court or agreement of the parties;  

WHEREAS,  MUNICIPALITY wants to support the Office of Inspector General operations 

by providing a grant for its share of funding of Inspector General operations as reflected in the 

 
48 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



2 
 

Ordinance; however, the parties recognize that this grant is not being made pursuant to any 

ordinance, instead the MUNICIPALITY finds that voluntarily granting these funds to the County 

furthers the vital public purpose of meaningful ethics reform as determined by a majority of voters 

within the MUNICIPALITY and County, and to support the needed operations of the Office of 

Inspector General. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, terms, and covenants 

hereinafter set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals  

All previous recitals set forth above are specifically incorporated herein by direct reference.  

Section 2. Purpose and Calculation of Funding Amount 

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide for biannual grants for the adequate funding of 

the Office of Inspector General operations to enable the office to carry out the full scope of its 

duties.  

The MUNICIPALITY’s funding amount shall be based on is actual expenses as recorded in 

the most recent audited year and reported in the Florida Department of Financial Services Local 

Government Electronic Reporting system (LOGER), pursuant to section 218.32, Florida Statutes, as 

may be amended.  Each MUNICIPALITY’s proportionate share shall be based on its actual 

expenses as defined in the then current Uniform Accounting System Manual, published by the State 

of Florida, Department of Financial Services, Bureau of Local Government, and shall include the 

following Object Categories:  30 - Operating Expenditures/Expenses; 60 - Capital Outlay; and 80 – 

Grants and Aids.  Notwithstanding the above, however, law enforcement, pension funds, electric 

utility services, fire control, and intergovernmental transfer costs shall not be included in the 

 
49 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



3 
 

proportionate share calculation.     

Section 3. Grant Payments and Calculations 

 The COUNTY and the MUNICIPALITY agree that the biannual grant payments for FY 

2014 shall be $1109.00 for a total annual grant of $2,218.00.  Future grant payment amounts for 

subsequent fiscal years will be recalculated for the term of this Agreement using the LOGER 

calculation described in Section 2 of this Agreement.  The COUNTY will provide the 

MUNICIPALITY notice of this recalculated amount on or before August 10 of each year.  For FY 

2014, the COUNTY will provide notice of grant amounts due on January 10, 2014 and July 10, 

2014.  For subsequent fiscal years, the COUNTY will provide notice of grant amounts due on 

October 10 and July 10 of each year for the term of this Agreement. 

Section 4. Representative/Monitoring Position 

The COUNTY'S representative/contract monitor during the term of this Agreement shall be 

Brad Merriman, Assistant County Administrator, whose telephone number is (561) 355-4019. 

The MUNICIPALITY'S representative/contract monitor during the term of this Agreement 

shall be the Town Manager, Mark Kutney, whose telephone number is (561) 793-2418. 

Section 5. Credit for all payments received.   

In the event the COUNTY prevails in the aforementioned lawsuit, Town of Gulf Stream, et 

al. v. Palm Beach County, the COUNTY may have a cause of action against the MUNICIPALITY 

for all sums due the COUNTY in accordance with the Ordinance that is the subject of the lawsuit.  

The COUNTY acknowledges and agrees that all amounts paid by the CITY to the COUNTY 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be credited against an amount the COUNTY may seek in such 

cause of action. The terms of this provision shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

 
50 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



4 
 

 

Section 6. Effective Date/Term 

This Agreement is retroactive in nature and shall take effect October 1, 2013.  The 

Agreement shall continue until September 30, 2015 unless otherwise terminated as provided herein. 

Section 7. Termination 

This Agreement may be voluntarily terminated by either party hereto upon thirty days written 

notice to the other party.   

Section 8. Annual Appropriation 

Each party’s performance and obligation to pay under this agreement shall be assured by an 

annual budgetary appropriation by its respective governing body for subsequent fiscal years for the 

duration of this Agreement.  

Section 9. Notice 

All notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be deemed sufficient to each 

party when delivered by United States Mail to the following: 

COUNTY     MUNICIPALITY 

Palm Beach County    Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

301 N. Olive Avenue, Rm. 1101  14579 Southern Blvd., Suite #2 

West Palm Beach, FL 33401   Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470 

Section 10. Delegation of Duty 

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the delegation of the constitutional or 

statutory duties of state, county, or municipal officers. 

Section 11. Liability 

 
51 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



5 
 

The parties to this Agreement and their respective officers and employees shall not be 

deemed to assume any liability for the acts, omissions, and negligence of the other party.  Further, 

nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity by either party, pursuant to 

Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, (2010), as amended. No provision of this Agreement is intended to, 

or shall be construed to, create any third party beneficiary or to provide any rights to any person or 

entity not a party to this Agreement. 

Section 12. Amendments 

This Agreement may be amended only by the duly authorized and executed written 

amendment(s) to this Agreement.   

Section 13. Captions 

The captions and section designations herein set forth are for convenience only and shall 

have no substantive meaning. 

Section 14. Severability 

In the event that any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or provision hereof be held by a 

court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such shall not affect the remaining portions of this 

Agreement and the same shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 15. Entirety of Agreement 

This Agreement represents the entire understanding between the parties, and supersedes all 

other negotiations, representations, or agreement, written or oral, relating to this Agreement. 

 

[Remainder of this page left intentionally blank] 

 
 

 
52 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



6 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement on the day and 
year first above written.  
 
ATTEST:     PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA, BY ITS 
SHARON R. BOCK    BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
CLERK & COMPTROLLER 
 
 
By:______________________________ By:______________________________________ 
      Deputy Clerk      Mayor 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND  APPROVED AS TO TERMS 
LEGAL SUFFICIENCY   AND CONDITIONS 
 
 
By:_____________________________ By:_______________________________ 
      County Attorney 
 
 
 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, a Florida 
Municipal Corporation 

 
ATTEST: 

By _____________________________ 
David Browning 

 Mayor 
__________________________      

Town Clerk       
 
    
[TOWN SEAL]     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 

By_____________________________ 
        Town Attorney 

 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\AGMTS 2013\OIG Grant Loxahatchee Groves.doc 

 
53 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 4. 

PRESENTATION OF SCOTT BLASIE OF VACANT REGISTRY 

(no back‐up) 

 
54 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 5.a – COMMITTEE REPORTS 

FINANCE ADVISORY & AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

AUGUST AND SEPTEMBER 2013 FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 
55 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 Transportation Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

FIRST LOCAL OPTION FUEL TAX (6 CENT) 249,245        205,507         82.5%

SECOND LOCAL OPTION FUEL (5 CENT) 117,326        95,254           81.2%

CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND -                   -                     

TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE -                   -                     

Total Revenues 366,571       300,761         82.0%

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS (6 CT) MAINT. 16,245          19,066            117.4%

TOWN ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 80,000          27,465            34.3%

DISTRICT ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 150,000        80,897            0.6%

ROADS AND STREETS (5 CT) -                   -                 

SPECIAL PROJECTS (6 CT) -                   901                 0.0%

148th TERR BRIDGE(5)/CULVERT  -                   -                 

CONSTRUCTION TOWN RDS & STREETS -                   -                 

TRANSFER TO FUND BALANCE 120,326 -                 0.0%

Total Expenses 366,571       128,329         35.0%

Excess(deficiency) -                   172,432         

Solid Waste Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

SOLID WASTE ASSESSMENTS 350,052        350,052          100.0%
DISCOUNT FEES (10,392)         (10,214)           98.3%

Revenues Budget Year-to-Date % SWA RECYCLING INCOME 8,000            7,719              96.5%

AD VALOREM TAXES @ 1.2000 210,005         210,006         100.0% CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 137,309        126,000          91.8%

ELECTRIC UTILITY TAX          202,000         180,975         89.6% Total Revenues 484,969        473,557          97.6%

COMMUNICATION SERVICES TAX    116,726         98,603           84.5%

COUNTY OCCUPATIONAL LICENSES  3,800             6,086             160.2% CONTRACTUAL-WASTE OVERSIGHT          12,000          8,336              69.5%

FPL FRANCHISE FEE 206,000         128,383         62.3% PBC ADMINSTRATION FEE 1% 3,463            3,189              92.1%

HAULER LICENSE FEE 2,000             2,000             100.0% POSTAGE & FREIGHT 500 28                   

PBC WATER UTILITY FRANCHISE 6,500             5,150             79.2% SOLID WASTE CONTRACTOR 451,634        413,998          91.7%

PLANNING & ZONING PERMIT FEES 500               76                 15.2% OTHER SANITATION SERVICES 16,500          15,250            92.4%

STATE REVENUE SHARING 77,873           72,056           92.5%  LEGAL ADVERTISING             872               -                     0.0%

HALF CENT SALES TAX 212,024         183,504         86.5% MANAGEMENT FEES -                   -                     

GENERAL GOVERNMENT CHARGES 7,500             10,517           140.2% Total Expenses 484,969        440,801          90.9%

COST RECOVERY FEES 35,000           34,110           97.5% Excess(deficiency) 32,756            

COURT FINES 2,500             1,411             Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

CODE ENFORCEMENT FINES 5,000             300               6% CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 400,000       400,000          100.0%

INTEREST 3,600             202               5.6% TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 912,466 0.0%

OTHER MISC. INCOME 500               2,204             440.7% Total Revenues 1,312,466     400,000          30.5%

TRANSFER FROM  FUND BALANCE* 523,752         523,752         100.0%

Total Revenues 1,615,280     1,459,335      90.3% DEVELOP TOWN HALL ALTERNATIVES 500,000       -                     -                 
TRAILS 200,000       -                     -                 

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % OGEM PAVING/COST SHARING -                   -                     

LEGISLATIVE       43,235           26,543           61.4% ROAD & DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENT 362,466       -                     -                 
EXECUTIVE 277,538         254,598         91.7% TRAFFIC LIGHT OKEECHOBEE 250,000       -                     -                 
FINANICAL AND ADMINSTRATIVE 22,250           19,828           89.1% -                 
LEGAL COUNSEL 120,000         96,092           80.1% Total Expenses 1,312,466     0.0%

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING & ZONING 177,233         152,225         85.9% Excess(deficiency) 400,000         
OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT 693,739         650,661         93.8% Contract Services Expenditures

LAW ENFORCEMENT 275,285         251,886         91.5% Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date %

PUBLIC WORKS 6,000             2,290             38.2% Waste Pro 451,634        413,998          91.7%

Total Expenditures 1,615,280      1,454,123      90.0% Palm Beach County Sheriff 275,285        251,886          91.5%

Excess(deficiency) -                        5,212             Underwood Management Services Group 330,835        305,385          92.3%

Goren, Cherof, Doody, Ezrol 120,000        107,555          89.6%

Tew & Associates 35,000          34,484            98.5%

YTD-Total Funds Expen. Budget Land Research Management 32,260            

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % Calvin Giodorno 508                 

Total Townwide Budget 3,779,286      2,023,253      53.5% Frank Schiola 25,000          18,732            74.9%

YEE's Corporation 10,800          10,800            100.0%

Loxahatchee Water Control District 150,000 138,237          92.2%

Total Expenses 1,398,554       1,313,845         

* Funds provided from unassigned fund balance not a true revenue by definition Expenditures include Non District Road Maintenance & OGEM Subsidy

General Fund Revenue Budget Selected Other Funds

General Fund Revenues

General Fund Expenditures

(92% of year elapsed)

Town of Loxahatchee Groves
Financial Activity Report as of August 30, 2013

AD VALOREM TAXES
FPL FRAN FEE

WATER FRAN FEE
ELEC UTIL TAX

COMM SVCS TAX

STATE REV SHARE

1/2 SALES TAX

PBC\OCC BUS TAX

GEN GOVT 
CHARGES

COST RECOV FEES

CODE ENFORC 
FINES

PLAN ZON PERMIT 
FEES

INTEREST

OTH MISC INCOME

TRANS FR SANI 
FUND

 -  200,000  400,000  600,000  800,000  1,000,000

AD VALOREM TAXES
ELEC UTIL TAX

COMM SVCS TAX
PBC/OCC BUS TAX

FPL FRAN FEE
HAULER LIC FEE

WATER FRAN FEE
PLAN ZON PERM FEES

STATE REV SHARE
1/2 SALES TAX

GEN GOVT CHARGES
COST RECOV FEES

COURT FINES
CODE ENFORC FINES

INTEREST
OTHER MISC. INCOME
TRANS FR  FUND BAL

General Fund Revenue

Budget YTD

2012-08 FinActRep  
56 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-311-100-000 Ad Valorem Taxes -                      210,006.01      -                     210,005.00            1.01                         100.0%
Ad Valorem Taxes Subtotal -                      210,006.01      210,005.00            1.01                         

001-314-100-000 Electric Utility Tax 24,187.37            180,975.14      -                     202,000.00            (21,024.86)               89.6%
001-315-100-000 Communications Services 8,685.51             98,602.97        -                     116,726.00            (18,123.03)               84.5%
001-316-200-000 County Occupational License 2,066.47             6,086.26          -                     3,800.00               2,286.26                  160.2%

Local Taxes Subtotal 34,939.35            285,664.37      -                     322,526.00            (36,861.63)               

001-323-100-000 FPL Franchise Fee 17,610.80            128,382.65      -                     206,000.00            (77,617.35)               62.3%
001-323-125-000 Haulers License Fee -                      2,000.00          -                     2,000.00               -                          100.0%
001-323-300-000 PBC Water Utility Franchise 375.22                5,149.52          -                     6,500.00               (1,350.48)                 79.2%
001-329-100-000 Planning & Zoning Permit -                      76.00               -                     500.00                  (424.00)                    15.2%

Permits, Franchise Fees & Special Subtotal 17,986.02            135,608.17      -                     215,000.00            (79,391.83)               

001-335-120-000 State Revenue Sharing 8,162.79             72,056.20        -                     77,873.00             (5,816.80)                 92.5%
001-335-180-000 Half Cent Sales Tax 17,018.46            183,503.55      -                     212,024.00            (28,520.45)               86.6%

Intergovernmentall Revenue Subtotal 25,181.25            255,559.75      289,897.00            (34,337.25)               88.2%

001-341-000-000 General Government Charges 280.00                10,516.87        -                     7,500.00               3,016.87                  140.2%
001-343-349-000 Cost Recovery Fees 906.10                34,110.25        -                     35,000.00             (889.75)                    97.5%

Charges for Services Subtotal 1,186.10             44,627.12        -                     42,500.00             2,127.12                  

001-351-100-000 Court Fines -                      1,411.37          -                     2,500.00               (1,088.63)                 
001-354-100-000 Code Enforcement Fines -                      300.00             -                     5,000.00               (4,700.00)                 6.0%

Code Enforcement Fines Subtotal -                      1,711.37          -                     7,500.00               (5,788.63)                 

001-361-100-000 Interest 15.01                  202.30             -                     3,600.00               (3,397.70)                 5.6%
001-369-000-000 Other Misc Income -                      2,203.50          -                     500.00                  1,703.50                  440.7%

Other Misc Revenue Subtotal 15.01                  2,405.80          -                     4,100.00               (1,694.20)                 

001-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance* -                      523,752.00      -                     523,752.00            -                          100.0%
Other Non-operating Sources Subotal -                      523,752.00      523,752.00            -                          

Grand Total Revenue 79,307.73            1,459,334.59   -                     1,615,280.00         (155,945.41)             90.3%
* Funds provided from unassigned fund balance not a true revenue by definition

 
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL
as of August 30, 2013

General Fund
Revenues

UMSG,LLC

Page 1 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
57 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-511-310-000 Professional Services 650.00                650.00             -                     15,000.00             14,350.00                4.3%
001-511-400-000 Travel -                      92.00               -                     2,000.00               1,908.00                  4.6%
001-511-492-000 Other Operating Expenses -                      1,084.00          -                     1,500.00               416.00                     72.3%
001-511-499-000 Other Current Charges - Council Reimbursement 2,500.00             15,000.00        -                     15,000.00             -                          100.0%
001-511-500-000 Education & Training -                      -                  -                     1,000.00               1,000.00                  0.0%
001-511-510-000 Office Supplies 14.07                  51.84               -                     300.00                  248.16                     17.3%
001-511-520-000 Operating Supplies -                      -                  -                     300.00                  300.00                     0.0%
001-511-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions 2,094.00             6,338.00          -                     4,785.00               (1,553.00)                 132.5%
001-511-820-000 Special Events/Contributions -                      3,327.45          -                     3,350.00               22.55                       99.3%

Legislative Total 5,258.07             26,543.29        -                     43,235.00             16,691.71                61.4%

001-512-340-000 Other Services 21,367.82            235,046.02      -                     256,414.00            21,367.98                91.7%
001-512-400-000 Travel 71.99                  1,212.29          -                     1,500.00               287.71                     80.8%
001-512-410-000 Communication Services -                      130.00             -                     -                        (130.00)                    -
001-512-420-000 Postage & Freight - NEW 18.33                  1,337.93          -                     1,500.00               162.07                     89.2%
001-512-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      817.44             -                     1,000.00               182.56                     81.7%
001-512-492-000 Other Operating Expenses 5.00                    182.35             -                     944.00                  761.65                     19.3%
001-512-493-000 Election Expense -                      6,961.47          -                     7,010.00               48.53                       99.3%
001-512-510-000 Office Supplies 1,200.22             8,759.74          -                     8,600.00               (159.74)                    101.9%
001-512-521-000 Loxahatchee Groves CERT - MOVED -                      150.60             -                     -                        (150.60)                    -
001-512-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions -                      -                  -                     570.00                  570.00                     0.0%

Executive Total 22,663.36            254,597.84      277,538.00            22,940.16                91.7%

001-513-320-000 Accounting and Auditing -                      16,100.00        -                     16,500.00             400.00                     97.6%
001-513-470-000 Printing and Binding 75.00                  2,817.48          -                     4,750.00               1,932.52                  59.3%
001-513-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      910.00             -                     1,000.00               90.00                       91.0%
001-513-493-000 Election Expense (moved) -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Financial & Administrative Total 75.00                  19,827.48        22,250.00             2,422.52                  89.1%

001-514-310-000 Professional Services 13,231.77            96,092.41        -                     120,000.00            23,907.59                80.1%
Legal Total 13,231.77            96,092.41        120,000.00            23,907.59                80.1%

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

as of July 31, 2013

General Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 2 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
58 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-515-310-000 Professional Services 3,375.00             39,539.41        -                     59,493.00             19,953.59                66.5%
001-515-340-000 Other Services 6,394.43             70,338.73        -                     76,740.00             6,401.27                  91.7%
001-515-343-000 Planning & Zoning Contract -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-515-347-000 Comprehensive Plan -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-515-349-000 Cost Recovery Expenditure 906.10                38,158.77        -                     35,000.00             (3,158.77)                 109.0%
001-515-490-000 Legal Advertising - NEW 254.56                4,188.16          -                     6,000.00               5,666.52                  69.8%

Comprehensive Planning & Zoning Total 10,930.09            152,225.07      177,233.00            28,862.61                85.9%

001-519-315-000 Special Magistrate 2,274.08             22,145.32        -                     26,000.00             3,854.68                  85.2%
001-519-354-000 Code Compliance 1,556.50             24,460.75        -                     39,000.00             14,539.25                62.7%
001-519-410-000 Communications Services 568.29                5,078.02          -                     5,700.00               621.98                     89.1%
001-519-440-000 Rentals and Leases 1,433.63             17,214.71        -                     20,000.00             2,785.29                  86.1%
001-519-450-000 Insurance -                      17,485.00        -                     17,500.00             15.00                       99.9%
001-519-460-000 Repair & Maint - Building 200.00                2,200.00          -                     2,426.00               226.00                     90.7%
001-519-470-000 Printing and Binding -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-480-000 Promotional Activities -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-490-000 Computer Repair 80.00                  1,465.63          -                     3,000.00               1,534.37                  48.9%
001-519-491-000 Computer Services 140.00                3,230.05          -                     5,631.00               2,400.95                  57.4%
001-519-494-000 Inspector General Office -                      -                  -                     5,280.00               5,280.00                  0.0%
001-519-810-000 Aids to Govt Agencies Grant - LGWCD -                      28,893.00        -                     28,893.00             -                          
001-519-820-000 Loxahatchee Groves CERT -                      2,488.34          -                     3,000.00               511.66                     82.9%
001-519-900-000 Transfer toTransportation Fund -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-910-000 Transfer to Sanitation Fund -                      126,000.00      -                     137,309.00            11,309.00                91.8%
001-519-920-000 Transfer to Capital Projects -                      400,000.00      -                     400,000.00            -                          100.0%
001-519-990-000 Contingency -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Other Governmental Services Total 6,252.50             650,660.82      693,739.00            43,078.18                93.8%

001-521-341-000 Professional Services-PBSO 22,898.75            251,886.25      -                     274,785.00            22,898.75                91.7%
001-521-342-000 Contractual-ADDL PBSO -                      -                  -                     500.00                  500.00                     0.0%

Law Enforcement Total 22,898.75            251,886.25      275,285.00            23,398.75                91.5%

001-539-310-000 Other Services -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-539-340-000 Professional Services -                      2,290.20          -                     6,000.00               3,709.80                  38.2%

Public Works Total -                      2,290.20          6,000.00               3,709.80                  38.2%

Grand Total Expenditure 81,309.54            1,454,123.36   -                     1,615,280.00         165,011.32              90.0%

Net Revenue (2,001.81)            5,211.23          -                        

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2013

General Fund
Expenditures

 BUDGET VS ACTUAL
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES

UMSG,LLC

Page 3 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
59 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

101-312-410-000 1st Local Option Fuel Tax 18,595.06            205,506.73      -                     249,245.00            (43,738.27)               82.5%
101-312-420-000 2nd Local Option Fuel Tax 8,703.01             95,254.44        -                     117,326.00            (22,071.56)               81.2%
101-363-990-000 Contribution from General Fund -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Total Revenue 27,298.07            300,761.17      366,571.00            82.0%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

101-541-467-000 Traffic Control Signs (6 ct) Maint. 217.50                19,066.42        -                     16,245.00             (2,821.42)                 117.4%
101-541-468-000 Non-District Roads (6 ct) Maint. -                      27,465.02        -                     80,000.00             52,534.98                34.3%
101-541-469-000 District Roads (6 ct) Maint. 1,007.00             80,896.85        -                     150,000.00            69,103.15                0.0%
101-541-631-000 Road and Streets (5 cent) -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-632-000 Special Projects (6 cent) -                      901.00             -                     -                        (901.00)                    -
101-541-634-000 148th Terr Bridge (5)/Culvert -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-636-000 Construct Town Rds & Sts -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-990-000 Transfer to Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     117,326.00            117,326.00              0.0%
101-541-996-000 Transfer to Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     3,000.00               3,000.00                  0.0%

Total Expenditure 1,224.50             128,329.29      -                     366,571.00            35.0%

Net Revenue 26,073.57            172,431.88      -                        -                          

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2013

Transportation Fund
Revenues

Transportation Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 4 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
60 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-363-990-000 Contributions from General Fund -                      400,000.00      -                     400,000.00            -                          100.0%
305-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     912,466.00            (912,466.00)             0.0%

Total Revenue -                      400,000.00      -                     1,312,466.00         (912,466.00)             30.5%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-519-600-000 Develop Town Hall Alternatives -                      -                  -                     500,000.00            500,000.00              0.0%
305-541-341-000 Trails (changed from Linear Park/Grant Match) -                      -                  -                     200,000.00            200,000.00              0.0%
305-541-346-000 OGEM Paving/Cost Sharing -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
305-541-434-000 Road & Drainage Improvement -                      -                  -                     362,466.00            362,466.00              0.0%
305-541-436-000 Traffic Light Okeechobee -                      -                  -                     250,000.00            250,000.00              0.0%

Total Expenditure -                      -                  -                     1,312,466.00         1,312,466.00           0.0%

Net Revenue -                      400,000.00      -                        400,000.00              

Revenues

Capital Improvement Program
Expenditures

Capital Improvement Program

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2013

UMSG,LLC

Page 5 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
61 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



92% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-323-125-000 Haulers Licensing Fee - MOVED TO GF -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
405-325-205-000 Solid Waste Assessments -                      350,051.69      -                     350,052.00            (0.31)                       100.0%
405-325-206-000 Discount Fees -                      (10,213.83)       -                     (10,392.00)            178.17                     98.3%
405-343-120-000 SWA Recycling Income 2,146.71             7,719.28          -                     8,000.00               (280.72)                    96.5%
405-363-990-000 Contributions from General Fund -                      126,000.00      -                     137,309.00            (11,309.00)               91.8%

Total Revenue 2,146.71             473,557.14      -                     484,969.00            (11,411.86)               97.6%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-534-345-000 Contractual - Waste Over 1,139.50             8,336.00          -                     12,000.00             3,664.00                  69.5%
405-534-346-000 PBC Administration Fee 1 -                      3,189.05          -                     3,463.00               273.95                     92.1%
405-534-420-000 Postage & Freight -                      28.00               -                     500.00                  472.00                     5.6%
405-534-434-000 Solid Waste Contractor 37,636.20            413,998.20      -                     451,634.00            37,635.80                91.7%
405-534-436-000 Other Sanitation Service -                      250.00             -                     16,500.00             16,250.00                1.5%
405-534-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      15,000.00        -                     872.00                  (14,128.00)               720.2%
405-534-595-000 TOLG Management Fee -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Total Expenditure 38,775.70            440,801.25      -                     484,969.00            44,167.75                90.9%

Net Revenue (36,628.99)          32,755.89        -                        

Solid Waste Fund
Revenues

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
 BUDGET VS ACTUAL

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2013

UMSG,LLC

Page 6 of 6
Created: 9/18/2013

 
62 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 Transportation Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

FIRST LOCAL OPTION FUEL TAX (6 CENT) 249,245        225,163         90.3%

SECOND LOCAL OPTION FUEL (5 CENT) 117,326        104,421         89.0%

CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND -                   -                     

TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE -                   -                     

Total Revenues 366,571       329,584         89.9%

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS (6 CT) MAINT. 16,245          19,066            117.4%

TOWN ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 80,000          70,007            87.5%

DISTRICT ROADS (6 CT) MAINT. 150,000        149,198          0.6%

ROADS AND STREETS (5 CT) -                   -                 

SPECIAL PROJECTS (6 CT) -                   901                 0.0%

148th TERR BRIDGE(5)/CULVERT  -                   -                 

CONSTRUCTION TOWN RDS & STREETS -                   -                 

TRANSFER TO FUND BALANCE 120,326 -                 0.0%

Total Expenses 366,571       239,172         65.2%

Excess(deficiency) -                   90,412           

Solid Waste Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

SOLID WASTE ASSESSMENTS 350,052        350,052          100.0%
DISCOUNT FEES (10,392)         (10,214)           98.3%

Revenues Budget Year-to-Date % SWA RECYCLING INCOME 8,000            7,719              96.5%

AD VALOREM TAXES @ 1.2000 210,005         210,006         100.0% CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 137,309        126,000          91.8%

ELECTRIC UTILITY TAX          202,000         203,391         100.7% Total Revenues 484,969        473,557          97.6%

COMMUNICATION SERVICES TAX    116,726         108,062         92.6%

COUNTY OCCUPATIONAL LICENSES  3,800             8,588             226.0% CONTRACTUAL-WASTE OVERSIGHT          12,000          8,336              69.5%

FPL FRANCHISE FEE 206,000         146,190         71.0% PBC ADMINSTRATION FEE 1% 3,463            4,249              122.7%

HAULER LICENSE FEE 2,000             2,000             100.0% POSTAGE & FREIGHT 500 28                   5.6%

PBC WATER UTILITY FRANCHISE 6,500             5,550             85.4% SOLID WASTE CONTRACTOR 451,634        451,634          100.0%

PLANNING & ZONING PERMIT FEES 500               976               195.2% OTHER SANITATION SERVICES 16,500          15,250            92.4%

STATE REVENUE SHARING 77,873           78,495           100.8%  LEGAL ADVERTISING             872               -                     0.0%

HALF CENT SALES TAX 212,024         200,161         94.4% MANAGEMENT FEES -                   -                     

GENERAL GOVERNMENT CHARGES 7,500             11,007           146.8% Total Expenses 484,969        479,497          98.9%

COST RECOVERY FEES 35,000           34,110           97.5% Excess(deficiency) (5,940)             

COURT FINES 2,500             1,411             Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Fund Budget Year-to-Date %

CODE ENFORCEMENT FINES 5,000             300               6.0% CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 400,000       400,000          100.0%

INTEREST 3,600             217               6.0% TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 912,466 0.0%

OTHER MISC. INCOME 500               2,204             440.7% Total Revenues 1,312,466     400,000          30.5%

TRANSFER FROM  FUND BALANCE* 523,752         523,752         100.0%

Total Revenues 1,615,280     1,536,419      95.1% DEVELOP TOWN HALL ALTERNATIVES 500,000       -                     -                 
TRAILS 200,000       -                     -                 

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % OGEM PAVING/COST SHARING -                   -                     

LEGISLATIVE       43,235           29,043           67.2% ROAD & DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENT 362,466       -                     -                 
EXECUTIVE 277,538         278,139         100.2% TRAFFIC LIGHT OKEECHOBEE 250,000       -                     -                 
FINANICAL AND ADMINSTRATIVE 22,250           19,828           89.1% -                 
LEGAL COUNSEL 120,000         102,247         85.2% Total Expenses 1,312,466     0.0%

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING & ZONING 177,233         174,301         98.3% Excess(deficiency) 400,000         
OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT 693,739         653,660         94.2% Contract Services Expenditures
LAW ENFORCEMENT 275,285         275,243         100.0% Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date %

PUBLIC WORKS 6,000             2,949             49.2% Waste Pro 451,634        451,634          100.0%

Total Expenditures 1,615,280      1,535,410      95.1% Palm Beach County Sheriff 275,285        275,243          100.0%

Excess(deficiency) -                        1,009             Underwood Management Services Group 330,835        333,147          100.7%

Goren, Cherof, Doody, Ezrol 120,000        113,839          94.9%

Tew & Associates 35,000          34,484            98.5%

YTD-Total Funds Expen. Budget Land Research Management 32,260            

Expenditures Budget Year-to-Date % Calvin Giodorno 508                 

Total Townwide Budget 3,779,286      2,254,079      59.6% Frank Schiola 25,000          21,426            85.7%

YEE's Corporation 10,800          11,700            108.3%

Loxahatchee Water Control District 150,000 221,420          147.6%

Total Expenses 1,398,554       1,495,661         
* Funds provided from unassigned fund balance not a true revenue by definition Expenditures include Non District Road Maintenance & OGEM Subsidy

General Fund Revenue Budget Selected Other Funds

General Fund Revenues

General Fund Expenditures

(100% of year elapsed)

Town of Loxahatchee Groves
Financial Activity Report as of September 30, 2013

AD VALOREM TAXES
FPL FRAN FEE

WATER FRAN FEE ELEC UTIL TAX

COMM SVCS TAX

STATE REV SHARE

1/2 SALES TAX

PBC\OCC BUS TAX

GEN GOVT 
CHARGES

COST RECOV FEES

CODE ENFORC 
FINES

PLAN ZON PERMIT 
FEES

INTEREST

OTH MISC 
INCOME

TRANS FR SANI 
FUND

 -  200,000  400,000  600,000  800,000  1,000,000

AD VALOREM TAXES
ELEC UTIL TAX
COMM SVCS TAX
PBC/OCC BUS TAX

FPL FRAN FEE
HAULER LIC FEE

WATER FRAN FEE
PLAN ZON PERM FEES

STATE REV SHARE
1/2 SALES TAX

GEN GOVT CHARGES
COST RECOV FEES

COURT FINES
CODE ENFORC FINES

INTEREST
OTHER MISC. INCOME
TRANS FR  FUND BAL

General Fund Revenue

Budget YTD

2012-09 FinActRep  
63 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-311-100-000 Ad Valorem Taxes -                      210,006.01      -                     210,005.00            1.01                         100.0%
Ad Valorem Taxes Subtotal -                      210,006.01      210,005.00            1.01                         

001-314-100-000 Electric Utility Tax 22,415.90            203,391.04      -                     202,000.00            1,391.04                  100.7%
001-315-100-000 Communications Services 9,459.14             108,062.11      -                     116,726.00            (8,663.89)                 92.6%
001-316-200-000 County Occupational License 2,501.50             8,587.76          -                     3,800.00               4,787.76                  226.0%

Local Taxes Subtotal 34,376.54            320,040.91      -                     322,526.00            (2,485.09)                 

001-323-100-000 FPL Franchise Fee 17,806.85            146,189.50      -                     206,000.00            (59,810.50)               71.0%
001-323-125-000 Haulers License Fee -                      2,000.00          -                     2,000.00               -                          100.0%
001-323-300-000 PBC Water Utility Franchise 400.32                5,549.84          -                     6,500.00               (950.16)                    85.4%
001-329-100-000 Planning & Zoning Permit 900.00                976.00             -                     500.00                  476.00                     195.2%

Permits, Franchise Fees & Special Subtotal 19,107.17            154,715.34      -                     215,000.00            (60,284.66)               

001-335-120-000 State Revenue Sharing 6,438.73             78,494.93        -                     77,873.00             621.93                     100.8%
001-335-180-000 Half Cent Sales Tax 16,657.74            200,161.29      -                     212,024.00            (11,862.71)               94.4%

Intergovernmentall Revenue Subtotal 23,096.47            278,656.22      289,897.00            (11,240.78)               96.1%

001-341-000-000 General Government Charges 489.70                11,006.57        -                     7,500.00               3,506.57                  146.8%
001-343-349-000 Cost Recovery Fees -                      34,110.25        -                     35,000.00             (889.75)                    97.5%

Charges for Services Subtotal 489.70                45,116.82        -                     42,500.00             2,616.82                  

001-351-100-000 Court Fines -                      1,411.37          -                     2,500.00               (1,088.63)                 
001-354-100-000 Code Enforcement Fines -                      300.00             -                     5,000.00               (4,700.00)                 6.0%

Code Enforcement Fines Subtotal -                      1,711.37          -                     7,500.00               (5,788.63)                 

001-361-100-000 Interest 14.77                  217.07             -                     3,600.00               (3,382.93)                 6.0%
001-369-000-000 Other Misc Income -                      2,203.50          -                     500.00                  1,703.50                  440.7%

Other Misc Revenue Subtotal 14.77                  2,420.57          -                     4,100.00               (1,679.43)                 

001-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance* -                      523,752.00      -                     523,752.00            -                          100.0%
Other Non-operating Sources Subotal -                      523,752.00      523,752.00            -                          

Grand Total Revenue 77,084.65            1,536,419.24   -                     1,615,280.00         (78,860.76)               95.1%
* Funds provided from unassigned fund balance not a true revenue by definition

BUDGET VS ACTUAL
as of SEPT 30, 2013

General Fund
Revenues

UMSG,LLC

Page 1 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
64 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-511-310-000 Professional Services -                      650.00             -                     15,000.00             14,350.00                4.3%
001-511-400-000 Travel -                      92.00               -                     2,000.00               1,908.00                  4.6%
001-511-492-000 Other Operating Expenses -                      1,084.00          -                     1,500.00               416.00                     72.3%
001-511-499-000 Other Current Charges - Council Reimbursement 2,500.00             17,500.00        -                     15,000.00             (2,500.00)                 116.7%
001-511-500-000 Education & Training -                      -                  -                     1,000.00               1,000.00                  0.0%
001-511-510-000 Office Supplies -                      51.84               -                     300.00                  248.16                     17.3%
001-511-520-000 Operating Supplies -                      -                  -                     300.00                  300.00                     0.0%
001-511-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions -                      6,338.00          -                     4,785.00               (1,553.00)                 132.5%
001-511-820-000 Special Events/Contributions -                      3,327.45          -                     3,350.00               22.55                       99.3%

Legislative Total 2,500.00             29,043.29        -                     43,235.00             14,191.71                67.2%

001-512-340-000 Other Services 21,367.82            256,413.84      -                     256,414.00            0.16                         100.0%
001-512-400-000 Travel 110.71                1,323.00          -                     1,500.00               177.00                     88.2%
001-512-410-000 Communication Services -                      130.00             -                     -                        (130.00)                    -
001-512-420-000 Postage & Freight - NEW 644.00                1,981.93          -                     1,500.00               (481.93)                    132.1%
001-512-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      817.44             -                     1,000.00               182.56                     81.7%
001-512-492-000 Other Operating Expenses 10.60                  192.95             -                     944.00                  751.05                     20.4%
001-512-493-000 Election Expense -                      6,961.47          -                     7,010.00               48.53                       99.3%
001-512-510-000 Office Supplies 1,407.84             10,167.58        -                     8,600.00               (1,567.58)                 118.2%
001-512-521-000 Loxahatchee Groves CERT - MOVED -                      150.60             -                     -                        (150.60)                    -
001-512-540-000 Books, Publications & Subscriptions -                      -                  -                     570.00                  570.00                     0.0%

Executive Total 23,540.97            278,138.81      277,538.00            (600.81)                    100.2%

001-513-320-000 Accounting and Auditing -                      16,100.00        -                     16,500.00             400.00                     97.6%
001-513-470-000 Printing and Binding -                      2,817.48          -                     4,750.00               1,932.52                  59.3%
001-513-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      910.00             -                     1,000.00               90.00                       91.0%
001-513-493-000 Election Expense (moved) -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Financial & Administrative Total -                      19,827.48        22,250.00             2,422.52                  89.1%

001-514-310-000 Professional Services 6,154.36             102,246.77      -                     120,000.00            17,753.23                85.2%
Legal Total 6,154.36             102,246.77      120,000.00            17,753.23                85.2%

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
BUDGET VS ACTUAL
as of SEPT 30, 2013

General Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 2 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
65 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

001-515-310-000 Professional Services 15,216.25            54,755.66        -                     59,493.00             4,737.34                  92.0%
001-515-340-000 Other Services 6,394.43             76,733.16        -                     76,740.00             6.84                         100.0%
001-515-343-000 Planning & Zoning Contract -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-515-347-000 Comprehensive Plan -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-515-349-000 Cost Recovery Expenditure 129.50                38,288.27        -                     35,000.00             (3,288.27)                 109.4%
001-515-490-000 Legal Advertising - NEW 335.84                4,524.00          -                     6,000.00               1,476.00                  75.4%

Comprehensive Planning & Zoning Total 22,076.02            174,301.09      177,233.00            2,931.91                  98.3%

001-519-315-000 Special Magistrate -                      22,145.32        -                     26,000.00             3,854.68                  85.2%
001-519-354-000 Code Compliance 79.50                  24,540.25        -                     39,000.00             14,459.75                62.9%
001-519-410-000 Communications Services 533.81                5,611.83          -                     5,700.00               88.17                       98.5%
001-519-440-000 Rentals and Leases 1,418.91             18,633.62        -                     20,000.00             1,366.38                  93.2%
001-519-450-000 Insurance -                      17,485.00        -                     17,500.00             15.00                       99.9%
001-519-460-000 Repair & Maint - Building 200.00                2,400.00          -                     2,426.00               26.00                       98.9%
001-519-470-000 Printing and Binding -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-480-000 Promotional Activities -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-490-000 Computer Repair 261.44                1,727.07          -                     3,000.00               1,272.93                  57.6%
001-519-491-000 Computer Services 140.00                3,370.05          -                     5,631.00               2,260.95                  59.9%
001-519-494-000 Inspector General Office -                      -                  -                     5,280.00               5,280.00                  0.0%
001-519-810-000 Aids to Govt Agencies Grant - LGWCD -                      28,893.00        -                     28,893.00             -                          
001-519-820-000 Loxahatchee Groves CERT 365.13                2,853.47          -                     3,000.00               146.53                     95.1%
001-519-900-000 Transfer toTransportation Fund -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-519-910-000 Transfer to Sanitation Fund -                      126,000.00      -                     137,309.00            11,309.00                91.8%
001-519-920-000 Transfer to Capital Projects -                      400,000.00      -                     400,000.00            -                          100.0%
001-519-990-000 Contingency -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Other Governmental Services Total 2,998.79             653,659.61      693,739.00            40,079.39                94.2%

001-521-341-000 Professional Services-PBSO 23,356.75            275,243.00      -                     274,785.00            (458.00)                    100.2%
001-521-342-000 Contractual-ADDL PBSO -                      -                  -                     500.00                  500.00                     0.0%

Law Enforcement Total 23,356.75            275,243.00      275,285.00            42.00                       100.0%

001-539-310-000 Other Services -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
001-539-340-000 Professional Services 659.72                2,949.92          -                     6,000.00               3,050.08                  49.2%

Public Works Total 659.72                2,949.92          6,000.00               3,050.08                  49.2%

Grand Total Expenditure 81,286.61            1,535,409.97   -                     1,615,280.00         79,870.03                95.1%

Net Revenue (4,201.96)            1,009.27          -                        

BUDGET VS ACTUAL
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES

AS OF SEPT 30, 2013

General Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 3 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
66 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account Month to Date Year to Date Encumbrance Annual Budget Annual Variance % Used

101-312-410-000 1st Local Option Fuel Tax 19,655.94            225,162.67      -                     249,245.00            (24,082.33)               90.3%
101-312-420-000 2nd Local Option Fuel Tax 9,166.37             104,420.81      -                     117,326.00            (12,905.19)               89.0%
101-363-990-000 Contribution from General Fund -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Total Revenue 28,822.31            329,583.48      366,571.00            89.9%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

101-541-467-000 Traffic Control Signs (6 ct) Maint. -                      19,066.42        -                     16,245.00             (2,821.42)                 117.4%
101-541-468-000 Non-District Roads (6 ct) Maint. 42,541.70            70,006.72        -                     80,000.00             9,993.28                  87.5%
101-541-469-000 District Roads (6 ct) Maint. 68,300.85            149,197.70      -                     150,000.00            802.30                     0.0%
101-541-631-000 Road and Streets (5 cent) -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-632-000 Special Projects (6 cent) -                      901.00             -                     -                        (901.00)                    -
101-541-634-000 148th Terr Bridge (5)/Culvert -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-636-000 Construct Town Rds & Sts -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
101-541-990-000 Transfer to Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     117,326.00            117,326.00              0.0%
101-541-996-000 Transfer to Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     3,000.00               3,000.00                  0.0%

Total Expenditure 110,842.55          239,171.84      -                     366,571.00            65.2%

Net Revenue (82,020.24)          90,411.64        -                        -                          

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
BUDGET VS ACTUAL
AS OF SEPT 30, 2013

Transportation Fund
Revenues

Transportation Fund
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 4 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
67 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-363-990-000 Contributions from General Fund -                      400,000.00      -                     400,000.00            -                          100.0%
305-399-000-000 Transfer from Fund Balance -                      -                  -                     912,466.00            (912,466.00)             0.0%

Total Revenue -                      400,000.00      -                     1,312,466.00         (912,466.00)             30.5%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

305-519-600-000 Develop Town Hall Alternatives -                      -                  -                     500,000.00            500,000.00              0.0%
305-541-341-000 Trails (changed from Linear Park/Grant Match) -                      -                  -                     200,000.00            200,000.00              0.0%
305-541-346-000 OGEM Paving/Cost Sharing -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
305-541-434-000 Road & Drainage Improvement -                      -                  -                     362,466.00            362,466.00              0.0%
305-541-436-000 Traffic Light Okeechobee -                      -                  -                     250,000.00            250,000.00              0.0%

Total Expenditure -                      -                  -                     1,312,466.00         1,312,466.00           0.0%

Net Revenue -                      400,000.00      -                        400,000.00              

Capital Improvement Program

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
BUDGET VS ACTUAL
AS OF SEPT 30, 2013

Revenues

Capital Improvement Program
Expenditures

UMSG,LLC

Page 5 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
68 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



100% Elapsed

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-323-125-000 Haulers Licensing Fee - MOVED TO GF -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%
405-325-205-000 Solid Waste Assessments -                      350,051.69      -                     350,052.00            (0.31)                       100.0%
405-325-206-000 Discount Fees -                      (10,213.83)       -                     (10,392.00)            178.17                     98.3%
405-343-120-000 SWA Recycling Income -                      7,719.28          -                     8,000.00               (280.72)                    96.5%
405-363-990-000 Contributions from General Fund -                      126,000.00      -                     137,309.00            (11,309.00)               91.8%

Total Revenue -                      473,557.14      -                     484,969.00            (11,411.86)               97.6%

Account Number Account  Month to Date  Year to Date Encumbrance  Annual Budget  Annual Variance  % Used

405-534-345-000 Contractual - Waste Over -                      8,336.00          -                     12,000.00             3,664.00                  69.5%
405-534-346-000 PBC Administration Fee 1 1,060.00             4,249.05          -                     3,463.00               (786.05)                    122.7%
405-534-420-000 Postage & Freight -                      28.00               -                     500.00                  472.00                     5.6%
405-534-434-000 Solid Waste Contractor 37,636.20            451,634.40      -                     451,634.00            (0.40)                       100.0%
405-534-436-000 Other Sanitation Service -                      15,250.00        -                     16,500.00             1,250.00                  92.4%
405-534-490-000 Legal Advertising -                      -                  -                     872.00                  872.00                     0.0%
405-534-595-000 TOLG Management Fee -                      -                  -                     -                        -                          0.0%

Total Expenditure 38,696.20            479,497.45      -                     484,969.00            5,471.55                  98.9%

Net Revenue (38,696.20)          (5,940.31)         -                        

Solid Waste Fund
Revenues

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
BUDGET VS ACTUAL
AS OF SEPT 30, 2013

UMSG,LLC

Page 6 of 6
Created: 10/24/2013

 
69 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.A. 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013‐15 

 
70 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            October 30, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Conveyance of County –Owned Surplus Parcels Located in Loxahatchee Groves 
 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
Upon Town Council request, Town Management contacted the Palm Beach County Property and 
Real Estate Management Division regarding the possibility of having surplus properties located 
within the Town conveyed to the Town. Town Management research and contacts with the 
County determined that such action was possible and on May 21, 2013 Town Council directed 
Town Management to accept the parcels that were made available from Palm Beach County. On 
September 30, 2013 the Town received a transmittal letter, a Resolution No. 2013-1226 and the 
deeds to three properties that were conveyed by Palm Beach County on September 10, 2013.   
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
The property control numbers are identified on the attached correspondence from Richard 
Bogatin of Palm Beach County. The properties include 0.21 acres located at 147th Ave. N; 0.45 
acres located at 24th Court N. and 0.27 acres located at Raymond Drive. The Town Attorney has 
provided the attached resolution which accepts the deeds conveyed by Palm Beach County.  
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

No impact identified at this time 

 

 

 
71 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



IV. ATTACHMENTS 

September 30, 2013 Letter from Richard C. Bogatin to Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Resolution 2013-15 Town of Loxahatchee Groves accepting County Deeds 

 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Town Council motion to approve Resolution 2013-15 and acceptance of the County Deeds  
 
 
 
 

 
72 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
73 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
74 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
75 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ACCEPTING COUNTY 
DEEDS FOR THE CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
TO THE TOWN PURSUANT TO SECTION 197.592(3), FLORIDA 
STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, Palm Beach County acquired title to certain lands within the Town of 

Loxahatchee Groves for delinquent taxes; and,  

 WHEREAS, Section 197.592(3), Florida Statutes, provides that such lands located within a 

municipality, and not to be conveyed to the record owner, shall be conveyed to the municipality in 

which the lands are located; and,  

 WHEREAS, on September 10, 2013, the Palm Beach County Commission adopted 

Resolution 2013-1226, conveying three (3) parcels of real property to the Town of Loxahatchee 

Groves via County Deeds, reserving for the County phosphate, mineral, metals and petroleum rights 

but releasing all rights of entry and exploration for such rights; and,  

 WHEREAS, the three County Deeds were recorded on September 19, 2013 in the official 

records of Palm Beach County at:  Official Records Book 26333, Page 1552; Official Records Book 

26333, Page 1553; and Official Records Book 26333, Page 1554, copies of which are attached 

hereto; and,  

 WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves hereby accepts the 

County Deeds and the conveyance of the subject parcels of real property. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 

 Section 1. Each "WHEREAS" clause set forth above is true and correct and herein 

 
76 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
 

Page 2 of 3 – Resolution 2013-15 

incorporated by this reference. 

 Section 2. The Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves hereby accepts the 

County Deeds recorded  at Official Records Book 26333, Page 1552; Official Records Book 26333, 

Page 1553; and Official Records Book 26333, Page 1554, copies of which are attached hereto, for 

the conveyance of real property from Palm Beach County, with associated reservation and release of 

rights by Palm Beach County, of the three parcels of real property described in the above referenced 

County Deeds. 

 Section 3. If any clause, section, or other part of this Resolution shall be held by any 

court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such unconstitutional or invalid part 

shall be considered as eliminated and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining portions of 

this Resolution. 

 Section 4. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed 

to the extent of such conflict.   

 Section 5. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and 

adoption. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, THIS 5th DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2013. 
 
 
  
  
ATTEST:      TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
        FLORIDA 
_______________________________ 
TOWN CLERK               __________________________________ 
        Mayor David Browning  
 
 
 
 
 

 
77 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
 

Page 3 of 3 – Resolution 2013-15 

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:        __________________________________ 
        Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
 
      
______________________________            __________________________________ 
Office of the Town Attorney    Council Member 
 
        __________________________________ 
        Council Member 
 
        __________________________________ 
        Council Member 
 
 

    
 
 
 
 
    

 
78 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
79 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
80 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
81 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.b. 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013‐16 

 
82 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            October 30, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Budget Amendment for The Town’s Budget for the Fiscal Year beginning 

October 1, 2012 and ending September 30, 2013 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
Florida Statute 166.241 (4) permits each municipality to amend its adopted budget at any time 
within a fiscal year or within 60 days following the end of a fiscal year. Town Management has 
concluded a review of the budget and expenditures during the fiscal year beginning October 1, 
2012 and ending September 30, 2013 and is recommending amendments to the Town’s budget as 
set forth in the exhibit attached to Resolution 2013-16.  
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
This amendment provides the necessary changes to the estimated revenues and appropriations 
during the Fiscal Year 2012-2013 for all funds. The amendment also includes the Statement of 
Estimated Changes in Fund Balances as requested by Councilman Rockett. 
 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

This amendment will clean up the remaining changes necessary and related to estimated 
revenues and appropriations for the fiscal year 2012-2013 to end in balance. 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

 

 
83 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Resolution 2013-16 and Exhibit “A” Budget Amendments for the Fiscal Year Beginning October 
1, 2012 and ending on September 30, 2013. 

 

V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Motion by Town Council to approve the Budget Amendments for Fiscal Year 2012-2013 
 
 
 
 

 
84 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT FOR THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2012 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 
30, 2013; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 166.241(4), Florida Statutes, the Town may amend its 

adopted budget for the Fiscal Year beginning October 1, 2012 and ending September 30, 2013, at 

any time within a fiscal year, and 

 WHEREAS, the Town Management has concluded a review of the budget and expenditures 

during the Fiscal Year beginning October 1, 2012 and ending September 30, 2013, and is 

recommending amendments to the Town’s budget as set forth in Exhibit A” hereto.   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 

 Section 1. Each "WHEREAS" clause set forth above is true and correct and herein 

incorporated by this reference. 

 Section 2. The Town’s adopted budget for the Fiscal Year beginning October 1, 2012, 

and ending September 30, 2013, is hereby amended as set forth in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and 

expressly made a part hereof. 

 Section 3. If any clause, section, or other part of this Resolution shall be held by any 

court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such unconstitutional or invalid part 

shall be considered as eliminated and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining portions of 

this Resolution. 

 Section 4. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed 

 
85 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



2 – Res. 2013-16 

to the extent of such conflict.   

 Section 5. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and 

adoption. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, THIS 5th DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2013. 
 
 
  
  
ATTEST:      TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
        FLORIDA 
_______________________________ 
TOWN CLERK               __________________________________ 
        Mayor David Browning  
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:        __________________________________ 
        Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
      
______________________________            __________________________________ 
Office of the Town Attorney    Council Member Tom Goltzene 
 
        __________________________________ 
        Council Member Ryan Liang 
 
        __________________________________ 
        Council Member Jim Rockett 
 
 

    
 
 
 
 
    
 

 
86 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



EXHIBIT "A" 
 

(BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2012 
AND ENDING ON SEPTEMBER 30, 2013) 

 

 
87 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY11-12 FY11-12 FY11-12

ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED

BUDGET BUDGET

Fund #

001 GENERAL FUND 1,615,280             117,954               1,733,234           

101 TRANSPORTATION FUND 366,571                -                          366,571              

305 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND 1,312,466             (912,466)             400,000              

405 SOLID WASTE FUND 484,969                -                          484,969              

Total Estimated Revnue 3,779,286             (794,512)             2,984,774           

001 GENERAL FUND 1,615,280             117,954               1,733,234           

101 TRANSPORTATION FUND 366,571                -                          366,571              

305 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND 1,312,466             (912,466)             400,000              

405 SOLID WASTE FUND 484,969                -                          484,969              

Total Appropriations 3,779,286             (794,512)             2,984,774           

All Funds
Fiscal Year 2012-13

ESTIMATED REVENUES

APPROPRIATIONS

 
88 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY12-13 FY12-13 FY12-13
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

001-311-100-000 AD VALOREM TAXES @ 1.2000 210,005          210,005          
TAXES SUBTOTAL 210,005          0 210,005          

001-314-100-000 ELECTRIC UTILITY TAX          202,000          202,000          
001-314-510-000 COMMUNICATION SERVICES TAX    116,726          116,726          
001-316-200-000 COUNTY OCCUPATIONAL LICENSES  3,800              4,788 8,588              

TAXES SUBTOTAL 322,526          4,788 327,314          

001-323-100-000 FPL FRANCHISE FEE             206,000          206,000          
001-323-125-000 HAULER LICENSING FEE 2,000              2,000              
001-323-300-000 PBC WATER UTILITY FRANCHISE FEE 6,500              (550) 5,950              
001-329-100-000 PLANNING & ZONING PERMIT 500                 476 976                 

PERMITS, FRANCHISE FEES & SPECIAL SUBTOTAL 215,000          (74) 214,926          

001-335-120-000 STATE REVENUE SHARING         77,873            7,060 84,933            
001-335-180-000 HALF CENT SALES TAX           212,024          4,700 216,724          

INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE SUBTOTAL 289,897          11,760 301,657          

001-341-000-000 GENERAL GOVERNMENT CHARGES     7,500              3,500 11,000            
001-343-349-000 COST RECOVERY FEES 35,000            35,000            

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 42,500            3,500 46,000            

001-351-100-000 COURT FINES 2,500              (1,000) 1,500              
001-354-100-000 CODE ENFORCEMENT FINES 5,000              (4,700) 300                 

JUDGEMENTS, FINES & FORFEITS SUBTOTAL 7,500              (5,700) 1,800              

001-361-100-000 INTEREST                      3,600            (3,350) 250               
001-369-000-000 OTHER MISC INCOME             500               1,704 2,204            

OTHER MISC. REVENUE SUBTOTAL 4,100              (1,646) 2,454              

001-385-100-000 TRANSFER FROM SANITATION FUND -                      -                      
001-399-000-000 TRANSFER FROM  FUND BALANCE 523,752        105,326 629,078        

OTHER NON-OPERATING SOURCES TOTAL 523,752          105,326 629,078          

GRAND TOTAL REVENUE 1,615,280     117,954 1,733,234     

MISCELLANEOUS

TAXES

GENERAL FUND:
Fiscal Year 2012-13

ESTIMATED REVENUES

 
89 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY12-13 FY12-13 FY12-13
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

GENERAL FUND:
Fiscal Year 2012-13

001-511-310-000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 15,000            (1,600) 13,400            
001-511-400-000 TRAVEL 2,000              (1,500) 500                 
001-511-490-000  POSTAGE & FREIGHT - (Was legal advertising) -                      -                      
001-511-492-000 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES      1,500              1,500              
001-511-499-000 OTHER CURRENT CHARGES - New Town Counsel Compensaton 15,000            2,500 17,500            
001-511-500-000 EDUCATION AND TRAINING        1,000              (1,000) -                      
001-511-510-000 OFFICE SUPPLIES               300                 0 300                 
001-511-520-000 OPERATING SUPPLIES            300                 0 300                 
001-511-540-000 BOOKS, PUBLICATIONS AND DUES   4,785              1,600 6,385              
001-511-820-000 SPECIAL EVENTS/CONTRIBUTIONS 3,350            0 3,350            

 LEGISLATIVE  TOTAL    43,235          0 43,235          

001-512-340-000  OTHER SERVICES 256,414          0 256,414          
001-512-400-000 TRAVEL 1,500              (150) 1,350              
001-512-410-000 COMMUNICATION SERVICES - (Moved to Gen Govt)   -                      130 130                 
001-512-420-000 POSTAGE & FREIGHT                      1,500              600 2,100              
001-512-490-000  LEGAL ADVERTISING - (New) 1,000              (100) 900                 
001-512-492-000 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES      944                 (700) 244                 
001-512-493-000  ELECTION EXPENSE 7,010              0 7,010              
001-512-510-000 OFFICE SUPPLIES               8,600              3,000 11,600            
001-512-521-000 LOXAHATCHEE GROVES C.E.R.T. - (Moved to Gen Govt) -                      -                      

 001-512-540-000 BOOKS, PUBLICATIONS AND DUES   570               (570) -                    
 EXECUTIVE TOTAL 277,538        2,210 279,748        

001-513-320-000 ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING 16,500            (400) 16,100            
001-513-470-000 PRINTING AND BINDING          4,750              (1,800) 2,950              
001-513-490-000 LEGAL ADVERTISING             1,000              1,000 2,000              
001-513-493-000 ELECTION EXPENSE - (Moved to Executive)              -                     0 -                    

FINANICAL AND ADMINSTRATIVE TOTAL 22,250          (1,200) 21,050          

001-514-310-000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES         120,000          (13,000) 107,000          
001-514-312-000 LEGAL -COMP PLAN -                     -                    

 LEGAL SERVICES TOTAL 120,000        (13,000) 107,000        

001-515-310-000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES    59,493            1,000 60,493            
001-515-340-000 OTHER SERVICES 76,740            0 76,740            
001-515-343-000 PLANNING & ZONING CONTRACT    -                      0 -                      
001-515-347-000 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN            -                      0 -                      
001-515-349-000 COST RECOVERY EXPENDITURES 35,000            5,100 40,100            
001-515-490-000 LEGAL ADVERTISING - (New) 6,000            (1,000) 5,000            

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING AND ZONING TOTAL  177,233        5,100 182,333        

APPROPRIATIONS

LEGAL COUNSEL

FINANICAL AND ADMINSTRATIVE

EXECUTIVE

LEGISLATIVE       

 PLANNING & ZONING

 
90 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY12-13 FY12-13 FY12-13
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

GENERAL FUND:
Fiscal Year 2012-13

001-519-315-000 SPECIAL MAGISTRATE            26,000            (2,000) 24,000            
001-519-354-000 CODE COMPLIANCE 39,000            (10,000) 29,000            
001-519-410-000 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 5,700              800 6,500              
001-519-440-000 RENTALS AND LEASES            20,000            (900) 19,100            
001-519-450-000 INSURANCE                     17,500            0 17,500            
001-519-460-000 R & M BUILDINGS                     2,426              200 2,626              
001-519-470-000 PRINTING AND BINDING -                      0 -                      
001-519-480-000 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES        -                      0 -                      
001-519-490-000 COMPUTER EQUIP SOFTWARE & HARDWARE REPAIR 3,000              0 3,000              
001-519-491-000 COMPUTER SERVICES 5,631              (1,200) 4,431              
001-519-494-000 INSPECTOR GENERAL OFFICE FEE 5,280              (1,600) 3,680              
001-519-810-000 AIDS TO GOVERNMENT AGENCIES GRANT - LGWCD 28,893            0 28,893            
001-519-820-000  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES CERT 3,000              200 3,200              
001-519-900-000 TRANSFER TO TRANSPORTATION FUND -                      141,844 141,844          
001-519-910-000 TRANSFER TO SANITATION FUND 137,309          0 137,309          
001-519-920-000 TRANSFER TO CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 400,000          0 400,000          
001-519-990-000 CONTINGENCY                   -                     0 -                    

OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES TOTAL 693,739        127,344 821,083        

001-521-341-000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES-PBSO        274,785          500 275,285          
001-521-342-000 CONTRACTUAL-ADDL PBSO           500               (500) -                    

LAW ENFORCEMENT TOTAL           275,285        0 275,285        

001-539-340-000 OTHER SERVICES 6,000              (2,500) 3,500              
001-539-310-000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES         -                      0 -                      

 PUBLIC WORKS  TOTAL          6,000              (2,500) 3,500              

GRAND TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,615,280       117,954 1,733,234       

PUBLIC WORKS

OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT

LAW ENFORCEMENT

 
91 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY12-13 FY12-13 FY12-13
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

101-312-410-000 FIRST LOCAL OPTION FUEL TAX (6 CENT) 249,245       249,245         
101-312-420-000 SECOND LOCAL OPTION FUEL (5 CENT) 117,326       -                   117,326         
101-363-990-000 CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND -                  -                   
001-399-000-000 TRANSFER FROM  FUND BALANCE (6 CT) -                  -                   -                   

Total Revenue 366,571       0 366,571         

101-541-467-000 TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS - 6 c 16,245         2,900 19,145          
101-541-468-000 TOWN ROADS MAINT. - 6 c 80,000         (2,900) 77,100          
101-541-469-000 ROAD MAINTENANCE DISTRICT - 6 c 150,000       150,000         
101-541-631-000 ROAD AND STREETS - NEW CONSTRUCTION - -                  -                   

101-541-632-000 SPECIAL PROJECTS -                    -                    
101-541-633-000 22nd ROAD DITCH           -                  -                   
101-541-634-000 148th TERR BRIDGE(5)/CULVERT  -                  -                   
101-541-990-000 TRANSFER TO FUND BALANCE (5 CT) 117,326       117,326         
101-541-996-000 TRANSFER TO FUND BALANCE (6 CT) 3,000             3,000             

Total Expenditure 366,571         -                    366,571         

 APPROPRIATIONS

Transportation Fund
Fiscal Year 2012-13

ESTIMATED REVENUES

 
92 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY11-12 FY11-12 FY11-12
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

305-363-990-000 CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 400,000            400,000            

305-399-000-000 TRANSFER FROM FUND BALANCE 912,466            (912,466) -                       

Total Revenue 1,312,466         (912,466)    400,000            

305-519-600-000 DEVELOP TOWN HALL ALTERNATIVES 500,000            (500,000) -                       

305-541-341-000 TRAILS (Name change Linear Park/Grant Match) 200,000            200,000            

305-541-346-000 OGEM PAVING/COST SHARING -                       -                       

305-541-434-000  ROAD & DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENT 362,466            (162,466) 200,000            

305-541-436-000 TRAFFIC LIGHT OKEECHOBEE BLVD 250,000            (250,000) -                       

Total Expenditure 1,312,466         (912,466)    400,000            

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND
Fiscal Year 2012-13

ESTIMATED REVENUES

APPROPRIATIONS

 
93 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



FY12-13 FY12-13 FY12-13
ADOPTED CHANGE AMENDED
BUDGET BUDGET

Account Number

405-323-125-000 HAULERS LICENSING FEE - Moved to Gen F -                    -                -                   

405-325-205-000 SOLID WASTE ASSESSMENTS (1,260 units) 350,052        350,052       

405-325-206-000 DISCOUNT FEES (10,392)         -                (10,392)        

405-343-120-000 SWA RECYCLING INCOME 8,000            8,000           

405-363-990-000 CONTRIBUTION FROM GENERAL FUND 137,309        -                137,309       

Total Revenue 484,969        -                484,969       

405-534-345-000 CONTRACTUAL-WASTE OVERSIGHT         12,000          (790)          11,210         

405-534-346-000 PBC ADMINSTRATION FEE 1% 3,463            790           4,253           

405-534-420-000 POSTAGE & FREIGHT 500               -                500              

405-534-434-000 SOLID WASTE CONTRACTOR 451,634        451,634       

405-534-436-000 OTHER SANITATION SERVICES 16,500          -                16,500         

405-534-490-000 LEGAL ADVERTISING 872               -                872              

405-534-595-000 TOLG MANAGEMENT FEES -                    -                   

Total Expenditure 484,969        -                484,969       

Solid Waste Fund
Fiscal Year 2012-13

ESTIMATED REVENUES

APPROPRIATIONS

 
94 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida

9/30/12 Fund Balance $1,311,888

FY2013 Fiscal Policy Reserve @ 25% ($398,270)

FY 2013 Transfer to CIP ($400,000)

Reimburse Transportation Fund for Capital 

Expenditure (North Road OGEM) ($141,844)

FY 2013 July Transfer to Solid Waste Fund ($137,309)

FY 2013 Est. Total Fund Balance $234,466

FY 2014 Est. Total Fund Balance $234,466

5 cent Fund Balance 6 cent Fund Balance

9/30/12 Fund Balance $320,012 9/30/12 Fund Balance $322,347

FY 2013 Estimated Change $117,326 FY 2013 Reimbursement North Road OGEM $141,844

FY 2013 Est. Total Fund Balance $437,338 FY 2013 Est. Total Fund Balance $464,191

FY 2014 Appropriated (Budgeted ) Fund Balance ($437,000) FY 2014 Appropriated (Budgeted ) Fund Balance ($419,191)

FY 2014 Est. Total ASSIGNED Fund Balance $338 FY 2014 Est. Total ASSIGNED Fund Balance $45,000

9/30/12 Fund Balance $31,689

Fiscal Policy Reserve @ 10% ($46,997)

FY 2013 Estimated Change 5,000          

Est. Total Fund Balance 9/30/12 ($10,308)

FY 2014 Est. Total Fund Balance ($10,308)

Actual results may require a contribution from the General Fund to meet the Fiscal Policy

9/30/12 ASSIGNED Fund Balance $1,000,000

FY 2013 Estimated Change $400,000

FY 2013 Est. Total ASSIGNED Fund Balance $1,400,000

FY 2014 Appropriated (Budgeted ) Fund Balance ($973,517)

FY 2014 Est. Total ASSIGNED Fund Balance $426,483

CAFR ASSIGNED FUND BALANCE

Capital Improvement Program

Statement of Estimated Changes in Fund Balances
General Fund

Transportation Fund

Solid Waste Fund

CAFR UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE

CAFR UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE

CAFR UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE

UMSG,LLC 10/29/201310:18 PM  
95 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.d. 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013‐06 

 
96 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 
840 N.E. Stokes Terrace                                                                                                               William F. Underwood, II 
Jensen Beach, Florida 34957                                                                                                                                           Managing Partner 
Telephone: 772.233.1511                                                                                                                                           Email: umsg@att.net                    

 
TO:  Town Council through Mark Kutney, Town Manager  

FROM: Jim Fleischmann, Town Planning Consultant 

RE: Proposed ULDC text amendments; Article 170 – Special Exception Uses. 

DATE: September 13, 2013. 

_________________ ______________________________________________________________ 

I.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Per Section 05-070, the Town Council may amend the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) for the 
purposes of public necessity, convenience, general welfare, or good planning and zoning practice.  Any 
amendment to the ULDC requires a super majority of the Council. 

Due to its potentially time consuming and costly approval process, the Town Council has requested staff 
and the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) Review Committee to prepare corrective amendments 
to Article 170. Special Exception Uses of the ULDC that will result in a more “user friendly” process.  

II. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A.  APPLICANT:  Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  

B.  PURPOSE:  Staff, in conjunction with the ULDC Review Committee, has prepared the 
following land development code amendments in order to address Town Council’s direction to create a 
more “user friendly” special exception process:  

1.  Creation of special exception use categories based upon the degree of potential impacts 
upon neighboring properties, including traffic generation, environmental concerns, hours of 
operation, compatibility, etc.     
 

2.  Simplification of the application and approval process, particularly for those special exception 
uses with minimal potential impacts. 

 
3. Revision of public notice requirements in order to reduce special exception costs. 

 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 18 

 

 
97 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 2 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

III. REQUESTED ULDC TEXT AMENDMENTS 

Staff proposes revisions to Article 170. Special Exception Uses of the ULDC. In order to insure 
consistency throughout the ULDC, staff proposes to incorporate revisions to the following additional code 
sections: 

1. Section 10-015.  Definitions. 
2. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
3. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office District). 
4. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
5. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 

 
Copies of the proposed ULDC amendments are included in Attachment A. 

IV. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed text amendments will allow special exception uses with potentially minimal impacts to be 
processed in an expedited, cost-efficient manner, while insuring that uses with greater potential impacts 
continue to receive a thorough review by the Town. 

A. REASON AND/OR  NEED FOR THE PROPOSED TEXT CHANGE:   
 

The basic purpose of the proposed text amendments is to streamline the special exception application 
and approval process for uses that do not require a complete review under the Town’s current process.  
However, safeguards remain in place to require a  thorough review should site-specific circumstances 
dictate.  

B. REASON THE PRESENT TEXT IS INVALID OR INAPPROPRIATE: 

The current text of the ULDC is not necessarily invalid or inappropriate; however, current code 
requirements can impose a serious and potentially unnecessary financial burden upon property owners, 
in terms of application, processing and advertising costs.   Proposed amendments will relieve an 
applicant of this burden, if it is demonstrated that a more relaxed approval process is warranted.  

C. HOW DOES THE PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT FURTHER THE PURPOSES OF THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OR OTHER TOWN CODES, REGULATIONS OR PLANS 
DESIGNED TO IMPLEMENT THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

The proposed text amendments are revisions to six sections of the ULDC oriented to streamlining the 
special exception approval process in circumstances where such action is warranted.  The following 
general Future Land Use Element Comprehensive Plan directives are supportive of the proposed 
amendments: 

1. Policies 1.1.4(b) and (j)  direct the Town to adopt land development regulations to assure 
that development is compatible with adjacent land uses, provide for open spaces, and 
buffer residential from non-residential uses.  
 

 

 
98 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 3 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2. Policy1.1.5 requires the Town, when reviewing development permit applications, to 
consider compatibility with adjacent uses and zoning districts. 

 
3. Policy 1.1.8.5 directs the Town to maintain specific regulations that restrict the types on 

non-residential and nonagricultural uses allowed and promote the rural character through 
design. 

 
4. Policy1.1.9 directs the Town to define accessory uses and to minimize the potential 

adverse impacts upon neighboring properties. 
 

D. IS THERE AN ERROR OR AMBIGUITY TO BE CORECTED: There is no error or ambiguity in 
the ULDC to be corrected by the proposed amendment.  Rather, the amendment will streamline the 
current process for special exception approval for projects with minimal impacts.  

V. ULDC COMMITTEE ACTION: 

The ULDC Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendments at its meeting on June 20, 2013. 
The following motions were made and passed unanimously by the Committee: 

1.  Approve Article 170. Special Exception Uses, subject to the following changes: 
 
a.  Indicate that private and/or personal events are Category B special exceptions or 

exempt from the process. 
 

b. Private events less than 24 hours in duration are exempt from the process. 
 

c. In Section 170-015(C) clarify that the “layout” drawing is to be prepared by the 
applicant and the zoning confirmation letter is to be prepared by staff. 

 
d. Section 170-020(B) – last line:  “… notification of Town Council” should be changed to 

“. . . notification to Town Council.” 
 

e. Section 170-040(C) change two year waiting period to one year waiting period. 
 

2. Approval of Section 115-010. Table of Public Notice Requirements, as presented by staff 
and subject to any other changes that may need to be made by the Town’s Attorney. 

 

3. Approve the proposed special exception category assignments proposed by staff (Ref: 
Table 1), with the exception that commercial equestrian operations are not required to 
obtain special exception approval.  Rather, commercial exception operations are to be 
listed in the AR District as permitted principal uses. 

 

4. The issue of whether or not mobile homes should be special exception, conditional, or 
permitted principal uses is delayed until the AR District is reviewed by the Committee. 

 

 

 

 
99 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 4 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

VI. PLANNING AND ZONING (P & Z) BOARD ACTION:  The P & Z Board, at its September 12, 2013 
meeting, recommended approval of the proposed Special Exception ULDC amendments by a 5 – 0 vote, 
subject to the following three conditions:  

1.  Rodeo events be added to Section 20-015. Permitted uses. as a principal use 
permitted subject to Special Exception A approval. 
 

2. Section 10-015 Definitions.  The proposed definition of Temporary Event  be 
expanded to read “  . . . activities or facilities will occur or exist on-site . . . “. 

 

3. Section 170-010(B) be revised to read: 
 

(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review.  The Town Manager, based upon 
his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards listed in 
Section 170-025(A), may further determine that a potential Category B Special 
Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A Special Exception.  

 

VII. STAFF FINDINGS: Planning staff finds the text amendments proposed by staff, as amended by the 
ULDC Review Committee and Planning and Zoning Board, to be consistent with: (1) The directive of the 
Town Council; (2) The intent and direction of the Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan; and (3) 
appropriate review criteria for a zoning change listed in Section 160-020 of the ULDC.   
 

VIII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the proposed ULDC text 
amendments, as presented in Attachment A: 

. 

IX. TOWN COUNCIL ACTION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
100 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 5 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

TABLE 1 

Recommended Special Exception Categories by Zoning District 

 

Zoning District Special Exception Use Special Exception 

Agricultural Residential 

(ULDC Section 20-015) 

Non-Profit Community Recreational 
Facility (Principal Use) 

Category A 

Commercial Equestrian Operations   
(Principal Use) 

Category A 

Retail Nursery (Principal Use) Category A 

Wireless Communication Facilities 
Principal Use) 

Category A 

Rescued Animal Care (Principal Use) Category A 

Retail Nursery (Accessory Use) Category B 

Mobile Home (Principal Use) Category B 

U-Pick Farms (Accessory Use) Category B 

Outdoor Events (Principal Use) 

Temporary Events (Accessory Use)          

Category B 

Category C 

Commercial Low 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Day Labor Hiring Center (Permitted Use) Category A 

Outdoor Events (Subject to Section 80-
025) 

Category B 

Commercial Low Office 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Outdoor Events (Subject to Section 80-
025) 

Category B 

Institutional and Public 
Facilities 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Private Service Club or Lodge 
(Permitted Use) 

Category A 

Wireless Communication Facilities 
(Permitted Use) 

Category A 

Day Labor Hiring Center 

(Accessory Use) 

Category B 

Parks and Recreation NA NA 

Conservation NA NA 

 

 

 

 
101 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 6 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

Proposed ULDC Text Amendments (Ref: Following Pages) 

 

(Underlined text is to be added and struck through text is to be deleted): 

 

1. Article 170. Special Exception Uses 
 

2. Section 10-015.  Definitions    
 

3. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
 

4. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low 
Office District). 

 

5. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
 

6. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
102 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 7 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Article 170.  SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES 

 

Section 170-005. – Purposes. 

Special exception uses may be compatible with the other land uses permitted in a zoning district 
but, because of their unique characteristics and potential impacts on the surrounding neighborhood 
and the Town as a whole, require individual review of their location, design, configuration, and/or 
operation in order to ensure that the use is appropriate at a particular location.  

Section 170-010. - Applicability. 

This Article specifies the procedure processing and disposition of applications for special 
exception uses as set forth in the schedule of district regulations. ,and categorized as follows: 

(A) Category A – Full Review.  
 
(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review.  The Town Manager, based upon 

his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards listed in 
Section 170-025(A, may further determine that a potential Category B Special 
Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A Special Exception.  

 
(C) Category C – Temporary Events Review. An outdoor event may qualify for Category C 

special exception approval as a temporary event provided that applicants shall certify 
that none of the following activities or facilities will occur on-site for a period exceeding 
twenty-four (24) consecutive hours.  An outdoor event that cannot certify to the above 
shall be processed as a Category B special exception:   

 
(1) Signage advertising the event. 
 
(2) Temporary buildings, tents or similar structures erected for the event. 

 
(3) Electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections to be used during the event.  

 
(4) Portable sanitary facilities imported for use during the event.  

 
(5)  Parking for event participants. 

A Category C temporary event holder shall further certify that trash and garbage shall 
be policed and removed daily. 

(D) Private temporary events held for family and friends of the property owner that occur 
for a period not to exceed twenty-four (24) hours shall not be required to obtain 
special exception approval under this article.  

 

 

 

 

 
103 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 8 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-015. - Supplemental application requirements. 

In addition to the general application requirements, the applicant shall provide the following 
materials:  

(A) The existing and proposed use of the property 
 
(B) For Category A special exceptions, The the existing use, zoning and land use 

designations of lands within fifteen hundred feet (1,500) of the subject property. For 
Category B special exceptions, the existing use, zoning and land use designations of 
lands abutting the subject property. 

 
(C) A For Category A special exceptions, a site plan meeting the requirements of Article 

155, “Site Plans.”  For Category B special exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter 
from the Town Manager stating that all applicable provisions of the code are satisfied. 
The Category B zoning confirmation letter shall include a property/building layout with 
dimensions provided by the applicant.  For Category C special exceptions, a zoning 
confirmation letter from the Town Manager stating that the proposed event is granted 
a Category C special exception. In order to be granted a Category C special 
exception an affidavit shall be provided by the applicant certifying that the conditions 
of Section 170-010(C) shall be complied with. 

 
(D) Any other information as may be required for a determination of the nature of the 

proposed use and its consistency with the criteria for the approval of a special 
exception use.  

 
Section 170-020. - Special exception use procedures. 

(A) Public notice shall be made in accordance with Article 115, "Public Hearing Notices." 
 

(B) All Category A special exception uses and their related accessory uses including 
enlargement or modification of an existing special exception use require the 
authorization of the Town Council.  The paragraphs will automatically re-letter once B 
is deleted. Category B special exception uses and their   related accessory uses 
including enlargement or modification of   an existing special exception use require 
the authorization of  the Town Manager and notification to the Town Council.  
Category C special exception uses require the authorization of   the Town Manager. 

 
(C) Category A Special special exception uses are matters that are quasi-judicial in 

nature as defined by Section 120-020:  “Ex parte communications on quasi-judicial 
proceedings prohibited”.  All matters that are defined as quasi-judicial in nature shall 
utilize the quasi-judicial hearing procedures set forth therein.  The petitioner shall 
bear the burden of providing competent substantial evidence that the special 
exception use should be granted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
104 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 9 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-025. - Special exception use review standards; Town Council action. 

(A) The Town Council shall review the application Category A special exception 
applications to determine whether the special exception use complies with the 
following standards. The Town Manager shall review Category B applications to 
determine whether the special exception use complies with the following standards:  

 
(1) That the use will not cause a detrimental impact to the value of existing contiguous 

uses, uses in the general area, and to the zoning district where it is to be located.  
 
(2) That the use will be compatible with the existing uses on contiguous property, with 

uses in the general area and zoning district where the use is to be located and 
compatible with the general character of the area, considering population density, 
design, scale and orientation of structures to the area, property values and existing 
similar uses or zoning.  

 
(3) That adequate landscaping and screening are provided to buffer adjacent uses 

from potential incompatibilities. 
 

(4) That adequate parking and loading is provided, and ingress and egress is so 
designed as to cause minimum interference with traffic on abutting streets.  

 
(5) That the use will not have a detrimental environmental impact upon contiguous 

properties and upon properties located in the general area or an environmental 
impact inconsistent with the health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(6) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on vehicular, pedestrian or 

equestrian traffic, or parking conditions, and will not result in the generation or 
creation of traffic inconsistent with the health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(7) That the use will not utilize turning movements in relation to its access to public 

roads or intersections, or its location in relation to other structures or proposed 
structures on or near the site that would be hazardous or a nuisance.  

 
(8) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on the future development of 

contiguous properties or the general area, according to the Comprehensive Plan.  
 

(9) That the use will not result in the creation of incompatible noise, lights, vibrations, 
fumes, odors, dust or physical activities, taking into account existing uses, uses 
located on contiguous properties, uses in the general area and the zoning in the 
vicinity due to its nature, duration, direction or character.  

 
(10) That the use will not overburden existing public services and facilities. 

 
(B) The Town Council may deny the  a Category A special exception application, approve 

it, or approve it with conditions. In issuing its decision to grant a Category A  special 
exception, the Town Council may place more restrictive requirements and conditions 
on applicants than are provided in the code when the conditions are based upon site 
considerations and its use, and the potentially resulting impacts upon the surrounding 
area or zoning district where the subject property is located. The Town Manager may 
deny a Category B application, approve it, or approve it with conditions. 

 

 
105 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 10 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-030. - Modification of special exceptions.        

                                                

If the applicant wishes to amend a special exception use proposal, the proposed amendment shall 
be processed and reviewed in accordance with the procedures set forth in this article for new special 
exception uses.  

Section 170-035. - Expiration of special exceptions. 

(A) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A special exception, and the Town 
Manager, in the case of a Category B or Category C special exception, may prescribe 
a reasonable time limit within which the action for which the special exception is 
required shall be begun or completed or both; provided, that in the absence of such 
time limit, a special exception approval shall expire unless:  

 
(1)  The applicant submits all development permit applicationsand construction  

 drawings (if applicable) that are necessary  to establish the special exception use    
 within 12 months of Town Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  

       applicable; and  

(2)   The applicant obtains all necessary development permits (including payment of 
all fees) within 18 months of Town   Council approval, or Town Manager  
approval, as applicable; and  
 

(3)    The development permits remain valid until the project is complete; and 
 

(4)    The conditions and limitations of the special exception are  
satisfied. 

(B) It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to ensure that a special exception 
approval does not expire.  

 
(C) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A  special exception, and the Town 

Manager, in the case of a Category B special exception, may grant an extension if the 
applicant submits the extension request within 13 months of the date of Town Council 
or Town Manager approval and the applicant can demonstrate good cause for the 
delay. Good cause may include, but shall not be limited to, delay caused by 
governmental action or inaction or other factors beyond the control of the applicant.  

 
Section 170-040. - Effect of approval or denial. 

(A) The use for which a special exception has been granted by the Town Council or Town 
Manager shall not be commenced by the owner, his or her agent or lessee until such 
time as the decision is deemed to be final (i.e., all appeal times have expired) and all 
of the improvements and/or documentation stipulated in the grant of special exception 
necessary for the orderly use of the property have been accomplished.  

 
(B) Approval of a special exception use shall run with the use once established (i.e., not 

expired or revoked) unless otherwise stipulated as a condition of approval.  
 

 

 
106 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 11 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

(C) Upon denial of an application for a special exception use, there shall be a two  one 
year waiting period before any applicant may submit an application for the same or 
substantially similar application and for the same property as that which was initially 
denied.  

 
(D) Whenever the Town Council has taken action to approve a   

special exception use, the commission shall not consider any application to modify the 
conditions of approval for a period of 12 months from the date of such action, unless 
the commission waives the time period in order to prevent injustice.  

Section 10-015. Definitions. 

(A) Any term not defined in this section shall have the meaning given by the most recent 
edition of Webster's Unabridged Dictionary. 

 
Temporary event.  An outdoor event, such as a fund raising, sporting, holiday,  
religious, fraternal or civic event  where none of the following activities or facilities will 
occur or exist on-site for a period exceeding twenty-four (24) consecutive hours:  (1) 
Signage; (2) buildings, tents or similar structures; (3) electrical, plumbing or similar 
utility connections; and/or (3) portable sanitary facilities.  

Section 20-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning districts may be used for the following specified 
uses. 

Principal  Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 

Single Family Dwelling Permitted  

Mobile Home Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Public Schools Permitted 

Congregate Living Facility, Type I Permitted 

Non-Profit Community Recreational Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Essential Services Permitted 

Commercial Equestrian Operations Permitted w/Special Exception 

Wholesale Nursery Permitted 

Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Aviculture Permitted subject to Article 80 

Commercial Kennels Not Permitted 

Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 

Feed Lots Not Permitted 

 
107 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 12 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Commercial Animal Manure Management Not Permitted 

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 

Rescued Animal Care Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Outdoor Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Agriculture Permitted 

Bona Fide Agriculture Permitted 

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Rodeo Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 

Accessory Dwelling Permitted  

Groom’s Quarter Permitted 

Caretaker’s Quarter Permitted 

Home Offices Permitted subject to Article 80 

Residential Enterprise Permitted subject to Article 80 

Wholesale Nursery Permitted 

Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

U-Pick Farms Permitted w/Special Exception Category B  

Private Kennels Permitted  

Private Stables Permitted  

Yard Sales Permitted subject to Article 80 

Veterinarian Services Permitted 

Dog Boarding Permitted 

Temporary Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category C 

 

 

 

 

 
108 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 13 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 25-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office zoning districts may be used for one or 
more the following uses. 

Principal  Uses Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)

Adult Entertainment Permitted subject to Article 20 Not Permitted 

Arcade, Video Permitted Not Permitted

Automobile Repair Garage Permitted Not Permitted

Bank or Financial Institution Permitted Permitted 

Bar, Lounge, Tavern or Pub Permitted Not Permitted

Barber Shop, Beauty or Nail Salon Permitted Not Permitted

Pool Hall Permitted Not Permitted

Car Wash, Self-Service or 
Automated 

Permitted Not Permitted

Catering or Food Service Delivery Permitted Not Permitted

Child Care Center Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Animal Manure 
Management 

Not Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

Convenience Store Permitted Not Permitted

Dance/Night Club Permitted Not Permitted

Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception 
Category A 

Not Permitted

Delicatessen Permitted Not Permitted

Theater or Auditorium Permitted Not Permitted

Dry Cleaning or Laundry Service Permitted Not Permitted

Employment Agency Not Permitted Not Permitted

Essential Services and Utilities Permitted Permitted 

Exhibition of Wildlife Pets Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

Gasoline Station Permitted Not Permitted

Shooting Range, Indoor Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

 
109 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 14 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Hotel Permitted Not Permitted

Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted subject to Article 80 Permitted subject to Article 80 

Laboratory (e.g., medical, dental, 
research) 

Permitted Permitted 

Offices (e.g. business, professional, 
medical) 

Permitted Permitted 

Package Liquor, Beer or Wine Store Permitted Not Permitted 

Outdoor Events Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Permitted subject to Article 80 
and to a Special Exception 
Category B 

Retail Plant or Produce Sales Permitted Not Permitted

Restaurant, Fast Food Permitted Not Permitted

Restaurant, Full Service Permitted Permitted 

Restaurant, Take Out Permitted Permitted 

Retail Services Permitted Not Permitted

Retail Store Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Recreation (e.g. batting 
cages, rink) 

Permitted Not Permitted

Veterinary Clinic or Hospital Permitted Not Permitted

Warehouse, Self Storage Permitted Not Permitted

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted Permitted 

Adult Day Care Permitted Permitted 

Schools, Public or Private Permitted Not Permitted 

Gym or Fitness Center Permitted Permitted 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
110 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 15 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

Section 30-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Institutional and Public Facilities zoning district may be used for one or more the 
following uses. 

Principal  Uses Institutional and Public Facilities  

Cemetery Not Permitted 

Congregate Living Facility Permitted 

Churches, Place of Worship Permitted 

Day Care, Preschool Permitted 

Essential Services Permitted 

Government Facilities and Services Permitted 

Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted Subject to Article 80 

Outdoor Events Conditional Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Private Service Club or Lodge Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Public Parks and Outdoor Events Permitted 

School, Public and Private Permitted 

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Institutional and Public Facilities 

Cemetery Not Permitted 

Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Child Care, Preschool, Adult Day Care Permitted 

Swimming Pool Permitted 

 

 

 

 

 
111 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 16 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

  Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 
 

Section 115-010:  Table of public notice requirements 
Application 
Type 

Required 
Public 
Hearings 

Timing of 
Notice 
(number of 
days prior to 
public 
hearing that 
notice must 
be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice 
Format 

Mail Notice 
Radius 

Sign 
Posting 
Required 

Other 
Notice 

Administrative 
Appeal 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Applicant Only No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Variance Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception A 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception B 

Not Required 10 days Not Required Abutting 
Properties 

Not Required Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception C 

Not Required Not Required Not Required Not Required Not Required Not 
Required 

Site Plan Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Plat Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
property owner 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for fewer 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council  30 days Standard Ad All owners of 
property 
proposed for 
rezoning shall 
be notified 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
112 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 17 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

  Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements (2) 
 

 
 
Application 
Type 

Required 
Public 
Hearings 

Timing of 
Notice 
(number of 
days prior to 
public 
hearing that 
notice must 
be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice Format

Mail Notice 
Radius 

Sign 
Posting 
Required 

Other 
Notice 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for more 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Amendments 
to the Unified 
Land 
Development 
Code (ULDC) 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days No Not Required  Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
Land use map 
amendment 
(small scale per 
Section 
163.3187(1)(c) 
F.S.) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town 
Hall 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town 
Hall 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Land use plan 
amendment (not 
small scale) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
113 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Page 18 of 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 120-015: Quasi-judicial matters 

For purposes of this Article, the following matters, regardless of whether the final determination is made 
by the Town Council or a board, shall be considered to be quasi-judicial: 

 

(A) Site Plans 
(B) Plats 
(C) Conditional use approvals 
(D) Category A Special Exceptions, and appeals of denials of Category B and C Special 

Exceptions by the Town Manager 
(E) Variances 
(F) Administrative appeals 
(G) Site-specific rezonings 
(H) Any other matters the Town Attorney determines are subject to quasi-judicial hearing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
114 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 1 of 17 
 

 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND 
SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS” TO DEFINE “TEMPORARY 
EVENT,”; TO AMEND SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT), TO REMOVE THE SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION REQUIREMENT FOR COMMERCIAL EQUESTRIAN 
OPERATIONS, ADD RODEO EVENTS AS A PRINCIPAL USE WITH SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION AND TEMPORARY EVENTS AS AN ACCESSORY USE WITH 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPROVAL, AND TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING 
CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(COMMERCIAL LOW AND COMMERCIAL LOW OFFICE DISTRICTS), TO 
SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR 
CERTAIN PRINCIPAL USES; TO AMEND SECTION 30-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” (INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC FACILITIES 
DISTRICT) TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO 
AMEND SECTION 115-01, ENTITLED “TABLE OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
REQUIREMENTS” TO PROVIDE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS; TO AMEND  
ARTICLE 170, ENTITLED “SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES” TO DEFINE THE 
CATEGORIES FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION REVIEW, AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, REVIEW PROCEDURES AND 
RELATED MATTERS FOR THE CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
REVIEW; TO AMEND ARTICLE 120, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL 
HEARINGS,” SECTION 120-015, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS” 
TO SPECIFY THE SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS THAT ARE CONSIDERED QUASI-
JUDICIAL MATTERS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS,   due to its potentially time consuming and costly approval process,  the 

Town Council has directed staff and the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) Review 

Committee to prepare amendments to Article 170, entitled “Special  Exception Uses” of the 

ULDC that will result in a more “user friendly” process for Town residents; and 

 
115 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 2 of 17 
 

 

WHEREAS, in response to the Town Council directive, the Town’s staff has prepared 

proposed amendments to the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) and,  

 
WHEREAS, the Town’s ULDC Review Committee considered the proposed ULDC 

amendments at its June 20, 2013, meeting and recommended that the Town Council approve the 

amendments to the ULDC proposed by staff subject to revisions which have been incorporated in 

Attachment A  hereto; and,  

WHEREAS, the Town’s Planning and Zoning Board considered the proposed ULDC 

amendments at its September 12, 2013, meeting and pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, Florida 

Statutes, recommended that the Town Council approve the amendments to the ULDC as worded 

in Attachment A  hereto; and,  

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Town of Loxahatchee Groves finds that the  adoption 

of this Ordinance, to revise ULDC provisions related to Special Exception Uses is consistent 

with the Town’s Comprehensive Plan, and in the best health and welfare interests of the Town, 

its property owners and residents. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 
  

Section 1:  That the foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as 

being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Ordinance.   

Section 2:  That the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, hereby amends 

the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC), by amending Section 10-015, entitled 

“Definitions” to define “Temporary Event,”; amending Section 20-015, entitled “Permitted 

Uses” (Agricultural residential District), to eliminate the special exception requirement for 

commercial equestrian operations, add Rodeo Events as a Principal Use with special exception 

 
116 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 3 of 17 
 

 

approval and Temporary Events as an Accessory Use with special exception approval, and to 

specify the category of special exception necessary for certain uses in the zoning category; 

amending Section 25-015, entitled “Permitted Uses” (Commercial Low And Commercial Low 

Office Districts), to specify the category of special exception necessary for certain Principal 

Uses; amending Section 30-015, entitled “Permitted Uses” (Institutional And Public Facilities 

District) to specify the category of special exception necessary for certain uses in the zoning 

category; amending Section 115-01, entitled “Table Of Public Notice Requirements” to provide 

notice requirements for the different categories of Special Exceptions; amending Article 170, 

entitled “Special Exception Uses” to define the categories for special exception review, and to 

provide for the application requirements, review procedures and related matters for the 

categories of special exception review, and amending Section 120-015, entitled “Quasi-Judicial 

Matters” to specify the special exceptions that are considered Quasi-Judicial Matters, as fully set 

forth in Attachment “A”, and incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 3:  Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or parts of 

Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   

Section 4:  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held by the Court to be unconstitutional, inoperative, or void, 

such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance. 

Section 5:  Codification.  The Town Clerk shall cause this ordinance to be codified as a 

part of the ULDC. 

Section 6:  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 

 
117 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 4 of 17 
 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 5TH DAY OF 
NOVEMBER, 2013. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 
_____ DAY OF ____________________, 2013.       
              
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
       FLORIDA 
 
ATTEST:      ____________________________________ 
       Mayor David Browning  
        
_____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
TOWN CLERK     Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
    
       ____________________________________ 
       Council Member 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:   
       ____________________________________
       Council Member 
_________________________________   
Office of the Town Attorney    ____________________________________ 
       Council Member 
 

 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\ORD 2013\2013-06 Special Exception(2).doc 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
118 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 5 of 17 
 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A – Ordinance 2013-06 
  

Special Exception Amendments  
 

 (Ref: Following Page) 
 

 Amendments to the following ULDC Sections:               
 

1. Article 170. Special Exception Uses 
 

2. Section 10-015.  Definitions    
 

3. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
 

4. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office District). 
 

5. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
 

6. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 
 

7. Section 120-015.  Quasi-judicial matters. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
119 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 6 of 17 
 

 

 
 

Article 170.  SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES 
 
Section 170-005. – Purposes. 
 

Special exception uses may be compatible with the other land uses permitted in 
a zoning district but, because of their unique characteristics and potential impacts 
on the surrounding neighborhood and the Town as a whole, require individual 
review of their location, design, configuration, and/or operation in order to ensure 
that the use is appropriate at a particular location.  

 
Section 170-010. - Applicability. 
 

This Article specifies the application requirements, processing and disposition of 
applications for special exception uses as set forth in the schedule of district 
regulations, and categorized as follows: 

 
(A) Category A – Complete Special Exception Review per  Sections 170-

015,  170-020, and 170-025   of this code.  
 

(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review per Sections 170-
015, 170-020,  and 170-025 of this code.   

 
(C) Category C – Temporary Event Administrative Review. An Outdoor 

Event may qualify for a Category C  special exception approval as a 
Temporary Event provided that applicants shall certify, by written 
affidavit on a form provided by the Town,  that none of the following 
activities or facilities will occur on-site for a period exceeding twenty-
four (24) consecutive hours: 

 
(1) Signage advertising the event. 

 
(2) Temporary buildings, tents or similar structures erected for the 

event. 
 

(3) Electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections to be used during 
the event.  

 
(4) Portable sanitary facilities imported for use during the event.  

 
(5) Parking for event participants. 

 
A Category C temporary event holder shall further certify that trash and 
garbage shall be policed and removed daily. 

 
120 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 7 of 17 
 

 

 
An outdoor event that cannot certify to the above shall be processed 
as a Category B special exception.  

 
(D) Private temporary events held for family and friends of the property 

owner, on the property owner’s property, that occur for a period not to 
exceed twenty-four (24) hours shall not be required to obtain special 
exception approval under this article.  

 
Section 170-015. - Supplemental application requirements. 
 

In addition to the general application requirements, the applicant shall provide the 
following materials:  

 
(A) The existing and proposed use of the property 

 
(B) For Category A special exceptions, The the existing use, zoning and 

land use designations of lands within fifteen hundred feet (1,500) of 
the subject property. For Category B special exceptions, the existing 
use, zoning and land use designations of lands abutting the subject 
property. 

 
(C) A For Category A special exceptions, a site plan meeting the 

requirements of Article 155, “Site Plans.”  For Category B special 
exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter from the Town Manager 
stating that all applicable provisions of the code are satisfied. The 
Category B zoning confirmation letter shall include a property/building 
layout with dimensions provided by the applicant.  For Category C 
special exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter from the Town 
Manager stating that the proposed event is granted a Category C 
special exception. In order to be granted a Category C special 
exception an affidavit shall be provided by the applicant certifying that 
the conditions of Section 170-010(C) shall be complied with. 

 
(D) Any other information as may be required for a determination of the 

nature of the proposed use and its consistency with the criteria for the 
approval of a special exception use., including the category of review 
for such application.  

 
Section 170-020. - Special exception use procedures. 
 

(A) Public notice shall be made in accordance with Article 115, "Public 
Hearing Notices." 

 
(B) All Category A special exception uses and their related accessory 

 
121 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 8 of 17 
 

 

uses including enlargement or modification of an existing special 
exception use require the authorization of the Town Council.  The 
paragraphs will automatically re-letter once  B is deleted. Category B 
special exception uses and their related accessory uses including 
enlargement or modification of an existing special exception use 
require the authorization of  the Town Manager and notification to the 
Town Council. Category C special exception uses require the 
authorization of  the Town Manager. 

 
(C) Category A Special special exception uses are matters that are quasi-

judicial in nature as defined by Section 120-020:  “Ex parte 
communications on quasi-judicial proceedings prohibited”.  All matters 
that are defined as quasi-judicial in nature shall utilize the quasi-
judicial hearing procedures set forth therein.  The petitioner shall bear 
the burden of providing competent substantial evidence that the 
special exception use should be granted. 

 
Section 170-025. - Special exception use review standards; Town Council 
action. 
 

(A) The Town Council shall review the application Category A special 
exception applications to determine whether the special exception use 
complies with the following standards. The Town Manager shall review 
Category B applications to determine whether the special exception 
use complies with the following standards:  

 
(1) That the use will not cause a detrimental impact to the value of 

existing contiguous uses, uses in the general area, and to the 
zoning district where it is to be located.  

 
(2) That the use will be compatible with the existing uses on 

contiguous property, with uses in the general area and zoning 
district where the use is to be located and compatible with the 
general character of the area, considering population density, 
design, scale and orientation of structures to the area, property 
values and existing similar uses or zoning.  

 
(3) That adequate landscaping and screening are provided to buffer 

adjacent uses from potential incompatibilities.  
 

(4) That adequate parking and loading is provided, and ingress and 
egress is so designed as to cause minimum interference with traffic 
on abutting streets.  

 
(5) That the use will not have a detrimental environmental impact upon 

 
122 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 9 of 17 
 

 

contiguous properties and upon properties located in the general 
area or an environmental impact inconsistent with the health, safety 
and welfare of the community.  

 
 

(6) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on vehicular, 
pedestrian or equestrian traffic, or parking conditions, and will not 
result in the generation or creation of traffic inconsistent with the 
health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(7) That the use will not utilize turning movements in relation to its 

access to public roads or intersections, or its location in relation to 
other structures or proposed structures on or near the site that 
would be hazardous or a nuisance.  

 
(8) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on the future 

development of contiguous properties or the general area, 
according to the Comprehensive Plan.  

 
(9) That the use will not result in the creation of incompatible noise, 

lights, vibrations, fumes, odors, dust or physical activities, taking 
into account existing uses, uses located on contiguous properties, 
uses in the general area and the zoning in the vicinity due to its 
nature, duration, direction or character.  

 
(10) That the use will not overburden existing public services and 

facilities. 
 

(B) The Town Council may deny the  a Category A  special exception 
application, approve it, or approve it with conditions. In issuing its 
decision to grant a Category A  special exception, the Town Council  
may place more restrictive requirements and conditions on applicants  
than are provided in the code when the conditions are based upon      
site considerations and its use, and the potentially resulting impacts  
upon the surrounding area or zoning district where the subject  
property is located.  

 
(C) The Town Manager may deny a Category B application, approve it, or 

approve it with conditions.  In addition, the Town Manager, based upon 
his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards 
listed in Section 170-025(A,) may determine that a potential Category 
B Special Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A 
Special Exception, in which case it will be processed as a Category A 
Special Exception. 

 

 
123 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 10 of 17 
 

 

 
(D) The Town Manager may deny a Category C application, approve it, or 

approve it with conditions, based upon a determination of compliance 
with Section 170-010(C) (1) - (5).  The Town Manager, based upon his 
determination of non-compliance with Section 170-010(C) (1) - (5)  
may determine that a potential Category C Special Exception is most 
appropriately processed as a Category B Special Exception, in which 
case it will be processed as a Category B Special Exception. 

 
(E) Denials of Category B and C Special Exceptions may be appealed to 

the Town Council.  An applicant shall file a written request for appeal 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written denial by the Town 
Manager.  

 
Section 170-030. - Modification of special exceptions.        
                                                
If the applicant wishes to amend a special exception use proposal, the proposed 
amendment shall be processed and reviewed in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in this article for new special exception uses.  
 
Section 170-035. - Expiration of special exceptions. 
 

(A) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A special exception, and 
the Town Manager, in the case of a Category B or Category C special 
exception, may prescribe a reasonable time limit within which the 
action for which the special exception is required shall be begun or 
completed or both; provided, that in the absence of such time limit, a 
special exception approval shall expire unless:  

 
(1)  The applicant submits all development permit applications 
       and construction drawings (if applicable) that are necessary   
       to establish the special exception use within 12 months of  
       Town Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  
       applicable; and  

 
(2)   The applicant obtains all necessary development permits  

  (including payment of all fees) within 18 months of Town    
  Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  
   applicable; and  

 
(3)    The development permits remain valid until the project is 

complete; and 
 

(4)    The conditions and limitations of the special exception are  
satisfied. 

 
124 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 11 of 17 
 

 

 
(B) It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to ensure that a 

special exception approval does not expire.  
 

(C) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A  special exception, and 
the Town Manager, in the case of a Category B special exception, may 
grant an extension if the applicant submits the extension request within 
13 months of the date of Town Council or Town Manager approval and 
the applicant can demonstrate good cause for the delay. Good cause 
may include, but shall not be limited to, delay caused by governmental 
action or inaction or other factors beyond the control of the applicant.  

 
Section 170-040. - Effect of approval or denial. 
 

(A) The use for which a special exception has been granted by the Town 
Council or Town Manager shall not be commenced by the owner, his 
or her agent or lessee until such time as the decision is deemed to be 
final (i.e., all appeal times have expired) and all of the improvements 
and/or documentation stipulated in the grant of special exception 
necessary for the orderly use of the property have been accomplished.  

 
(B) Approval of a special exception use shall run with the use once 

established (i.e., not expired or revoked) unless otherwise stipulated 
as a condition of approval.  

 
(C) Upon denial of an application for a special exception use, there shall 

be a two  one year waiting period before any applicant may submit an 
application for the same or substantially similar application and for the 
same property as that which was initially denied.  

 
(D) Whenever the Town Council has taken action to approve a   

special exception use, the commission shall not consider any 
application to modify the conditions of approval for a period of 12 
months from the date of such action, unless the commission waives 
the time period in order to prevent injustice.  

 
Section 10-015. Definitions. 

 
(A) Any term not defined in this section shall have the meaning given by 

the most recent edition of Webster's Unabridged Dictionary. 
 

Temporary event.  An Outdoor Event not  to exceed a period of three 
(3) consecutive days, such as a fund raising, sporting, holiday,  
religious, fraternal or civic event  where none of the following activities 
or facilities will occur or exist on-site for a period exceeding twenty-four 

 
125 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 12 of 17 
 

 

(24) consecutive hours:  (1) Signage; (2) buildings, tents or similar 
structures; (3) electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections; and/or 
(3) portable sanitary facilities.  
 

Section 20-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning districts may be used for the 
following specified uses. 
 

Principal  Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 
Single Family Dwelling Permitted  
Mobile Home Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
Public Schools Permitted 
Congregate Living Facility, Type I Permitted 
Non-Profit Community Recreational Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Essential Services Permitted 
Commercial Equestrian Operations Permitted w/Special Exception 
Wholesale Nursery Permitted 
Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Aviculture Permitted subject to Article 80 
Commercial Kennels Not Permitted 
Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 
Feed Lots Not Permitted 
Commercial Animal Manure Management Not Permitted 
Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 
Rescued Animal Care Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
 
Outdoor Events 

Permitted w/Special Exception subject to Article 
80 and to a Special Exception Category A   

Agriculture Permitted 
Bona Fide Agriculture Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Rodeo Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 
Accessory Dwelling Permitted  
Groom’s Quarter Permitted 
Caretaker’s Quarter Permitted 
Home Offices Permitted subject to Article 80 
Residential Enterprise Permitted subject to Article 80 
Wholesale Nursery Permitted 
Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
U-Pick Farms Permitted w/Special Exception Category B  
Private Kennels Permitted  
Private Stables Permitted  
Yard Sales Permitted subject to Article 80 
Veterinarian Services Permitted 
Dog Boarding Permitted 
Temporary Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category C 

 
126 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 13 of 17 
 

 

 
Section 25-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office zoning districts may 
be used for one or more the following uses. 
 

Principal  Uses Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)
Adult Entertainment Permitted subject to Article 20 Not Permitted 
Arcade, Video Permitted Not Permitted 
Automobile Repair Garage Permitted Not Permitted 
Bank or Financial Institution Permitted Permitted 
Bar, Lounge, Tavern or Pub Permitted Not Permitted 
Barber Shop, Beauty or Nail Salon Permitted Not Permitted 
Pool Hall Permitted Not Permitted 
Car Wash, Self-Service or 
Automated 

Permitted Not Permitted 

Catering or Food Service Delivery Permitted Not Permitted
Child Care Center Permitted Not Permitted
Commercial Animal Manure 
Management 

Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted 
Convenience Store Permitted Not Permitted 
Dance/Night Club Permitted Not Permitted 
Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception 

Category A 
Not Permitted 

Delicatessen Permitted Not Permitted 
Theater or Auditorium Permitted Not Permitted 
Dry Cleaning or Laundry Service Permitted Not Permitted 
Employment Agency Not Permitted Not Permitted 
Essential Services and Utilities Permitted Permitted 
Exhibition of Wildlife Pets Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted
Gasoline Station Permitted Not Permitted
Shooting Range, Indoor Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted
Hotel Permitted Not Permitted
Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted subject to Article 80 Permitted subject to Article 80 
Laboratory (e.g., medical, dental, 
research) 

Permitted Permitted 

Offices (e.g. business, professional, 
medical) 

Permitted Permitted 

Package Liquor, Beer or Wine Store Permitted Not Permitted 
 
Outdoor Events 

Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Permitted subject to Article 80 
and to a Special Exception 
Category B 

Retail Plant or Produce Sales Permitted Not Permitted 
Restaurant, Fast Food Permitted Not Permitted 
Restaurant, Full Service Permitted Permitted 
Restaurant, Take Out Permitted Permitted 
Retail Services Permitted Not Permitted 
Retail Store Permitted Not Permitted 
Commercial Recreation (e.g. batting 
cages, rink) 

Permitted Not Permitted 

 
127 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 14 of 17 
 

 

 
 

Principal  Uses (continued) Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)
Veterinary Clinic or Hospital Permitted Not Permitted 
Warehouse, Self Storage Permitted Not Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted Permitted 
Adult Day Care Permitted Permitted 
Schools, Public or Private Permitted Not Permitted 
Gym or Fitness Center Permitted Permitted 
 
Section 30-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Institutional and Public Facilities zoning district may be used for one 
or more the following uses. 

Principal  Uses Institutional and Public Facilities  
Cemetery Not Permitted 
Congregate Living Facility Permitted 
Churches, Place of Worship Permitted 
Day Care, Preschool Permitted 
Essential Services Permitted 
Government Facilities and Services Permitted 
Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted Subject to Article 80 
Outdoor Events Conditional Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 

a Special Exception Category B 
Private Service Club or Lodge Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Public Parks and Outdoor Events Permitted 
School, Public and Private Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Institutional and Public Facilities 
Cemetery Not Permitted 
Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
Child Care, Preschool, Adult Day Care Permitted 
Swimming Pool Permitted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
128 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 15 of 17 
 

 

 
 
 Section 115-010 
 
 
Section 115-010:  Table of public notice requirements 
Application 
Type 

Required 
Public 
Hearings 

Timing of 
Notice 
(number of 
days prior 
to public 
hearing 
that notice 
must be 
given) 

Newspaper 
Notice 
Format 

Mail Notice 
Radius 

Sign 
Posting 
Required 

Other 
Notice 

Administrative 
Appeal 

Town 
Council 

10 days Standard Ad Applicant 
Only 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Variance Town 
Council 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception A 

Town 
Council 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception B 

Not 
Required 

10 days Not Required Abutting 
Properties 

Not 
Required 

Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception C 

Not 
Required 

Not 
Required 

Not Required Not Required Not 
Required 

Not 
Required 

Site Plan Town 
Council 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Plat Town 
Council 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
property 
owner 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town 
Council (first 
reading) 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town 
Council 
(second 
reading) 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 
feet 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for fewer 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town 
Council  

30 days Standard Ad All owners of 
property 
proposed for 
rezoning shall 
be notified 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 
 
 

 
129 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 16 of 17 
 

 

 
  Section 115-010 (2) 
 
 
 
 
Application 
Type 

Required 
Public 
Hearings 

Timing of 
Notice 
(number of 
days prior 
to public 
hearing that 
notice must 
be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice 
Format 

Mail Notice 
Radius 

Sign 
Posting 
Required 

Other 
Notice 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for more 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

Town 
Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

Town 
Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

Amendments 
to the Unified 
Land 
Development 
Code (ULDC) 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

10 days No Not Required  Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

Town 
Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

Town 
Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting 
at Town 
Hall 

 
Land use map 
amendment 
(small scale per 
Section 
163.3187(1)(c) 
F.S.) 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Land use plan 
amendment 
(not small 
scale) 

Local 
Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(first reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

 

 
130 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  Page 17 of 17 
 

 

Section 120-015: Quasi-judicial matters 
For purposes of this Article, the following matters, regardless of whether the final 
determination is made by the Town Council or a board, shall be considered to be quasi-
judicial: 
 

(A) Site Plans 
(B) Plats 
(C) Conditional use approvals 
(D) Category A Special Exceptions, and appeals of denials of Category B and 

C Special Exceptions by the Town Manager 
(E) Variances 
(F) Administrative appeals 
(G) Site-specific rezonings 
(H) Any other matters the Town Attorney determines are subject to quasi-

judicial hearing. 

 
131 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.e. 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013‐08 

 
132 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 
840 N.E. Stokes Terrace                                                                                                               William F. Underwood, II 
Jensen Beach, Florida 34957                                                                                                                                           Managing Partner 
Telephone: 772.233.1511                                                                                                                                           Email: umsg@att.net                    

 

 

To:  TOWN COUNCIL  

Through: MARK KUTNEY, TOWN MANAGER 

From:  JIM FLEISCHMANN, TOWN PLANNING CONSULTANT 

 
Re: STAFF REPORT – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (CPA) 13-1: CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENTS TEXT AMENDMENTS 

Date:  October 28, 2013 

____________________________________________________________________ 

Previously, Town Management Staff  identified  deficiencies  of the Comprehensive Plan as it related to 
planning for capital improvements. Of immediate concern was fact that the Town’s Capital Improvements 
Element (CIE), as adopted in 2009, indicated no scheduled capital projects for the ensuing five-year 
planning period.   

To address this concern, the Town Council adopted Ordinance 2013-04 which incorporated an updated 
Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements within the Capital Improvements Element of the 
Comprehensive Plan. By adopting Ordinance 2013-04, the Town is now compliant with F.S. Section 
163.3177(3)(b) which requires the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements to be reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis. 

While the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements has been updated, Comprehensive Plan text 
establishing the Town’s policy regarding capital improvements programming has not  been updated since 
the initial Comprehensive Plan was adopted in 2009. 

Proposed Amendment 13-1 represents an update of the following Comprehensive Plan elements, as 
they relate to establishing Town capital improvements planning policy:  Transportation; Drainage Sub-
element; Recreation and Open Space; and Capital Improvements. 

I.  GENERAL INFORMATION 

A.  APPLICANT:  Town of Loxahatchee Groves.   

B.  OWNER:  Not applicable, as the amendment does not pertain to a specific property or 
properties.  Rather, the proposed amendment is a general text amendment. 

C.  LOCATION:  Not applicable.  

D.  LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  Not applicable.   

 

 
133 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 2 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

E.  PARCEL SIZE:  Not applicable. 

F.  EXISTING FUTURE LAND USE (FLU) DESIGNATION:  Not applicable.  

G.  EXISTING ZONING: Not applicable.    

H.  EXISTING USE:  Not applicable.   

I.  ADJACENT USES:  Not applicable 

II.  REQUESTED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 

A.  FUTURE LAND USE MAP (FLUM) AMENDMENT:  None   

B.  TEXT AMENDMENT:  Text amendments are proposed for the following four Comprehensive 
Plan elements: Transportation; Drainage Sub-element; Recreation and Open Space; and Capital 
Improvements.  The following is a summary of the principal amendments, by Comprehensive Plan 
element: 

1. Transportation Element amendments:  Incorporates language oriented to establishing 
the role of the Roadway, Equestrian Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Committee in 
developing the Town’s greenways and trails system and establishes interim project 
priorities until such time that a master plan is completed. 
 
Additional language is incorporated: (a) establishing a local roads classification system 
that can be used as a basis to allocate annual capital improvements projects funds; and 
(b) establishing general roadway improvement programs. 

2. Drainage Sub-Element amendments:  Incorporates language requiring that Loxahatchee 
Groves Water Control District (LGWCD) capital projects be incorporated within the Town’s 
annual update of the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements. 

 
3. Recreation and Open Space Element amendments: Incorporates language further 

defining the role of the Roadway, Equestrian Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Committee 
in developing the Town’s greenways and trails system. 

 
4. Capital Improvements Element amendments:  Incorporates language coordinating the 

Town’s Capital Improvements Program, on an annual basis, with the required Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements update. 

 
In addition, a new objective is added defining the term “capital improvement” and 
establishing a system of priorities for the allocation of capital improvements funds. 

Full texts of the proposed amendments are presented in Attachment A. 

III.  PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM:  None 

IV.  INFRASTRUCTURE IMPACTS:  There are no specific infrastructure impacts associated with 
proposed Amendment 13-1 as it is a “text only” amendment which establishes current Town policy 
regarding capital improvements expenditures.   

 
134 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 3 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

V.  ENVIRONMENTAL  IMPACTS:  There are no environmental or historical resources impacts 
associated with proposed Amendment 13-1 as it is a “text only” amendment and does not involve a 
Future Land Use Atlas amendment.   

VI.  COMPATIBILITY AND CONSISTENCY ANALYSIS 

A.  ADJACENT LAND USES:   There are no issues related to compatibility with adjacent  land 
uses, as pr opposed  Amendment  13-1 is a “text only” amendment and does not involve a Future Land 
Use Atlas amendment.   

B.  TOWN  PLANNING DIRECTIVES:   The following Comprehensive Plan language is 
supportive of proposed Amendment 13-1. 

Objective 2.1 of the Transportation Element directs the Town to ensure that adequate public facilities 
are available concurrent with the impacts of development, and shall monitor impacts resulting from new 
development.   

Objective 2.2 of the Transportation Element directs the Town to participate in cooperative 
intergovernmental plans and programs to improve safety, efficiency and convenience of the 
transportation system.   

Objective 2.3 of the Transportation Element  directs the Town to develop a greenway and equestrian 
trail system to meet the needs and interests of its residents.   

Objective 2.4 directs that the greenways and trail system be financially feasible. 

Objective 2.7 of the Transportation Element directs the Town to maintain a safe local roadway network.  

Objective 3A.1 of the Infrastructure Element directs the Town to optimize water resources  by providing 
storm water management which reduces damage and inconvenience from flooding, promotes aquifer 
recharge, minimizes water quality degradation and protects the functions of wetlands. 

Objective 5A.1 of the Recreation and Open Space Element directs the Town to provide a sufficient 
supply of park, recreation, and open space facilities. 

Objective 5B.1 of the Recreation and Open Space Element directs the Town to provide a  greenway and 
equestrian trail system to meet the needs and interests of its residents.  Objective 5B.2 directs that the 
system be financially feasible. 

Objective 9.1 of the Capital Improvements Element directs the Town to maximize its fiscal resources for 
public facility improvements necessary to accommodate existing development, redevelopment, and 
planned future growth, and to replace obsolete or deteriorated facilities.  

 

 

 
135 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 4 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

                         
VII.  STAFF ANALYSIS 

A.  APPROPRIATENESS OF THE CURRENT FUTURE LAND USE (FLU) MAP 
DESIGNATION:  Not applicable. 

B. APPROPRIATENESS OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT:  The proposed amendment 
consists of revisions to the text of the Transportation, Infrastructure, Recreation and Open Space 
Elements necessary to further establish Town capital improvements planning policy:   

Based upon the review completed in Sections  VI above, it is concluded that the proposed amendment is 
consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the Town’s  Comprehensive Plan.  

C.  URBAN SPRAWL  ASSESSMENT:  Not applicable. 

VIII.  STAFF FINDINGS AND PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATION 
 
Planning staff finds Comprehensive Plan Amendment 13-1 to be consistent with the intent and direction 
of the Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan.   
 
Staff recommends approval of the proposed text amendments to the Transportation, Infrastructure, 
Recreation and Open Space and Capital Improvements Elements.  Proposed Amendment 13-1 is 
included in Attachment A.  Staff further recommends that proposed Amendment 13-1 be transmitted to 
the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity  (DOE) for review and processing. 
IX.  LOCAL PLANNING AGENCY (LPA) RECOMMENDATION:  At its meeting on September 12, 2013, 
the LPA continued the proposed amendments to a future meeting by a 5 – 0 vote.  It was the 
determination that, due to the fact that most of the proposed amendments were related to transportation 
and recreation issues, the Town’s RETAG Committee should be consulted prior to making any formal 
recommendation to the Town Council. 

At its meeting on  October 10, 2013 (held jointly with the RETAG Advisory Committee), the LPA voted, 
by a 5-0 vote, to recommend approval of the proposed amendments subject to proposed revisions.  The 
proposed revisions are highlighted in Attachment A.  Staff supports all of the proposed revisions. 

X.  RECREATION EQUESTRIAN TRAILS AND GREENWAYS (RETAG) ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDATION: At its meeting on September 25, 2013, the RETAG  undertook an extensive 
review of the proposed amendments and recommended several changes.  The RETAG voted, by a 5 – 0 
vote to recommend approval of the proposed amendments subject to the proposed revisions. The 
proposed revisions are highlighted in Attachment A. Staff supports all of the proposed revisions. 

XI.  TOWN COUNCIL TRANSMITTAL:   To be included. 

XII.  REGIONAL AND STATE AGENCY REVIEW 

To be included at a later date upon receipt of any state and regional agency comments. 

 

 

 
136 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 5 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

XIII.  FINAL STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

To be included following receipt of review process comments from the Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity, state or regional agencies, or local governments. 

XIV.  TOWN COUNCIL ADOPTION:  To be included. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
137 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 6 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

ATTACHMENT A  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (CPA) 13-1 

(Ref: Following Pages) 

Words underlined are  initial staff additions and words struck through are  initial staff deletions to the 
current text of the Comprehensive Plan.  Words underlined are  proposed RETAG Advisory Committee 
additions and words struck through are  proposed RETAG  deletions to the current text of the 
Comprehensive Plan.  Words underlined are  proposed Local Planning Agency (LPA) additions and 
words struck through are  proposed LPA  deletions to the current text of the Comprehensive Plan.   

1.  Revision of the Transportation Element Goals, Objectives and Policies. 

2.  Revision of the Infrastructure Element Drainage Sub-Element  Goals, Objectives and   

     Policies. 

3.  Revision of the Revision of the Recreation and Open Space Element Goals, Objectives  

     and Policies. 

4.  Revision of the Capital Improvements Element Goals, Objectives and Policies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
138 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 7 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

TRANSPORATION ELEMENT 

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

GOAL 1 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall provide, maintain and improve a safe, convenient and 
energy efficient multi-modal transportation system that is consistent with growth management 
principles, and is coordinated with a regional network which balances the needs of all current 
and future users so as to ensure the economic vitality of the Town and the enhancement of the 
quality of life. 

Concurrency Management 

2.1  Objective 

The Town shall ensure that adequate public facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of 
development, and shall monitor impacts resulting from new development. 

2.1.1  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall adopt the generalized two-way peak hour 
volumes for Florida’s Urbanized Areas for all County urban collector roadways such as 
Okeechobee Boulevard at the Level of Service (LOS) “D” standard. 

2.1.2  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall adopt the generalized two-way peak hour 
volumes at the Level of Service standards established by the Florida Department of 
Transportation for all roadways on the State Highway System, Florida Intrastate Highway 
System (FIHS), and/or Strategic Intermodal System (SIS). 

2.1.3  Policy: 

The transportation network should be kept at the adopted Levels of Service by means of 
implementation of improvements to correct projected deficiencies. Projects should be 
listed in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements or adopted by private parties to 
rectify deficiencies. 

2.1.4  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with Palm Beach County and the Florida Department of 
Transportation to address the deficiencies of roadways, as identified in the existing and 
future level of service analysis. 

 

2-14 

 
139 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 8 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2.1.5  Policy: 

Prior to the granting of a building permit, an applicant shall obtain transportation 
concurrency approval from Palm Beach County and the Town. No building permit will be 
issued unless documentation of the corresponding transportation concurrency approval 
certificate has been presented. 

Intergovernmental Coordination 

2.2  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall participate in cooperative intergovernmental plans and 
programs to improve the safety, efficiency and convenience of the transportation system, while 
protecting the interests of the Town. 

2.2.1  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall coordinate with Palm Beach County Transit Tran 
and the Palm Beach County MPO to identify programs and policies that will assist in the 
provision of a convenient, public transit network that will provide both local and regional 
connections and that will accommodate the physically disabled. 

2.2.2  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall participate in cooperative intergovernmental plans 
and programs that will improve safety for users of all modes of transportation including 
pedestrian, bicycle, equestrian, motor vehicle and transit. 

2.2.3  Policy: Reserved. 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall provide a convenient roadway network through 
coordination with all affected local governments, special districts, the Loxahatchee Groves 
Water Control District, Florida Department of Transportation, Palm Beach County, Palm 
Beach County MPO and other public agencies. The Town shall accordingly protect right-
of-way for future roadway projects and shall include right of way requirements in the Land 
Development Regulations by December 2010. 

2.2.4  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves will coordinate with all affected local governments, 
special districts, the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, Florida Department of 
Transportation, Palm Beach County, Palm Beach County MPO and other public agencies 
to provide input and advocate for the Town’s interests regarding future roadway plans for 
Okeechobee Boulevard, E Road/140th, SR-80 and other roadways as necessary. The 
Town shall accordingly protect rights-of-way for future roadway projects and shall include 
right-of-way requirements in the Land Development Regulations. 

 

2-15 

 
140 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 9 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Greenways and Equestrian Trails 

2.3  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall develop a greenway and equestrian trail system to meet 
the needs and interests of the residents of Loxahatchee Groves. To assist in this effort, the Town 
shall maintain the Roadway Equestrian Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Advisory Committee, 
created by Town Resolution 2011-05. 

2.3.1  Policy: 

The Town shall create a map of existing equestrian riding trails. 

2.3.2  Policy: 

The Town shall work toward establishing equestrian trails and greenways within the 
existing canal maintenance easements on all Letter Roads. In addition, the The Town 
shall identify new connections to existing trails, which if acquired would greatly enhance 
pedestrian, and bicycle, and equestrian circulation throughout the Town. 

2.3.3  Policy: 

A master plan for a cohesive internal trail system with connections to neighboring 
communities shall be completed , under the direction of the Roadway, Equestrian Trails 
and Greenways (RETAG) Committee. within one year of the adoption of this element. 
Further, the RETAG shall work cooperatively with the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control 
District to develop trail design documents. 

2.3.4: Policy 

Annually, the Town (RETAG) Committee shall assess whether the greenway and 
equestrian trail system is sufficient for the needs of the residents.  As part of its annual 
assessment, RETAG shall recommend projects to be included in the Five-Year Schedule 
of Improvements. 

2.3.5  Policy: 

The greenway and equestrian trails system, wherever feasible, shall provide connections 
between residential homes, parks, recreational facilities, open spaces, and commercial 
facilities throughout the Town. 

2.3.6  Policy: 

All vehicular parking for land uses which are adjacent to the greenway and equestrian trail 
system should provide the parking on a side away from the trail. 

2.3.7  Policy: 

The Town, in cooperation with LGWCD and the RETAG, will shall develop minimum 
design standards for greenway and equestrian trails for inclusion in its Land Development 

 
141 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 10 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Regulations. The Town shall coordinate the application of its minimum design standards 
with the LGWCD whenever a proposed greenway or equestrian trail falls within an 
LGWCD right-of-way. Further, the RETAG shall work cooperatively with the Loxahatchee 
Groves Water Control District to develop trail design documents. 

2-16 

2.3.8  Policy: 

The greenway and equestrian trail system shall be maintained and improved to be 
consistent with the Town’s Minimum Design Standards adopted design documents. 

  minimum design standards. 

2.3.9  Policy: 

The Town shall use landscaping and signs to visually identify crossings and trail access 
points. Safe and controlled crossings shall be provided. 

2.3.10  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure sufficient right-of-way is preserved to construct and maintain the 
multiuse trails. 

2.3.11 Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate the provision of greenway and equestrian trail connections 
among adjoining or abutting properties during the site plan review process. 

2.4  Objective: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ greenway and equestrian trail system shall be 

financially feasible. 

2.4.1  Policy: 

The Town shall determine which trails should be considered for public ownership. 

2.4.2  Policy: 

The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts, contributions, funding 
assistance, and other financial resources for the development of equestrian riding trails. 

2.4.3  Policy: 

The Town should pursue joint efforts with all affected local governments, special districts, 
and other public agencies with respect to the acquisition, development and maintenance 
of trails as a means for reducing costs and pooling resources. 

 

 
142 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 11 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2.4.4 The following equestrian trails and greenways projects shall be pursued by the Town until 
such time that a master plan pursuant to Policy 2.3.3 is completed:  

1. North/south Town-wide trail connectivity along B Road and F Road all Letter 
Roads by pursuing trail crossings of Okeechobee Boulevard and Collecting Canal 
at these intersections. 

 

2. East-west Town-wide trail connectivity along 6th Court North and North Road. 
easements along the south side of Collecting Canal and 6th Court North, North 
Road, and Okeechobee Boulevard. 

 
2-17 

3. Equestrian trail/greenway easements within future non-residential developments 
along Southern Boulevard. 
 

4. Equestrian Trail easements to provide connectivity between Loxahatchee Groves 
Park and the existing trail on F Road. 

 
5. Installation of fencing adjacent to canal maintenance easements along the Letter 

Roads to insure the safety of riders, animals and residents. 
 

6. Additional projects as deemed appropriate by the Town Council, as the opportunity 
arises. 

 

Land Use/Transportation Coordination 

2.5  Objective 

The Town shall coordinate the transportation system with the future land use map and ensure 
land uses are consistent with transportation modes and services proposed to serve those areas. 

2.5.1  Policy: 

The Town shall encourage connectivity among all new development and redevelopment 
projects so as to minimize impacts on the roadway network. 

2.5.2  Policy: 

The Town shall collocate where possible primary civic facilities, thereby reducing the 
number of vehicle trips. 

2.5.3  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate the transportation system with land uses through 
implementation of, but not limited to, the following programs, activities or actions: 

 

 
143 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 12 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

1.  Transportation facilities and services shall be planned and located in a manner 
which minimizes the potential impacts on adjacent land uses with consideration 
given specially to existing residential areas. 

2.  Intermodal facilities shall be located so as to maximize the efficiency of the 
transportation system. 

3. All opportunities to provide adequate bus shelters will be explored. 
 

Right of Way Protection 

2.6  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall ensure that future development does not encroach upon 
existing rights of-way. 

2-18 

2.6.1  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure that future development does not encroach upon existing rights-of-way. 

2.6.2  Policy: 

Future Right-of-Way requirements for State and County roads shall be established in 
conformance with FDOT, the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District and Palm Beach 
County Standards to meet the future needs. 

 2.6.3 Policy: 

The Town shall continue to obtain additional survey data on the Letter Town Roads as the 
basis for implementing future road improvements. 

Safety, and Maintenance and Improvement of Roadways 

2.7  Objective 

The Town shall maintain a safe local roadway network. 

2.7.1  Policy: 

The Town shall continue to coordinate with LGWCD for proper maintenance of the 
roadways. For the purpose of allocating maintenance and capital improvements projects 
funds, the Town’s local roads shall be classified as follows: 

1. Category 1 – Surfaced local public roads under the jurisdiction of the Town. 

  1.A. – Paved local public roads. 

  1.B. – OGEM-surfaced local public roads. 

 

 
144 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 13 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2. Category 2 – Unsurfaced local public roads. 

  2.A. -  Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District roads. 

  2.B. – Town of Loxahatchee Groves roads  

3. Category 3 – Private local roads (public access). 

4. Category 4 – Private local roads (no public access). 

Construction of new Town local roads, reconstruction or resurfacing of existing paved 
Town local roads, or paving or surfacing of existing graded Town local roads shall be 
deemed to maintain or increase existing Town local road capacity.    

For the purposes of state funding eligibility, maintaining existing Town local road capacity 
shall be deemed to be construction of new Town local roads, reconstruction, resurfacing 
or paving of existing surfaced or paved Town local roads, or paving or surfacing of 
existing graded Town local roads.  

2-19 

2.7.2  Policy: 

The Town shall continue to encourage joint use of driveways and cross access 
agreements among adjoining property owners to allow circulation between sites and 
reduce the number of vehicular trips along roadways. 

2.7.3  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure that proper traffic signage is provided on local roads including 
speed limit, warning, guide, and street name signs. 

2.7.4  Policy: 

The Town shall investigate and implement strategies with all affected governments, 
special districts, and other public agencies, including the LGWCD, to discourage cut-
through traffic on local roads throughout the Town 

  2.7.5  Policy: 

The Town shall review roadways and intersections with frequent speeding occurrences, 
operational deficiencies, and/or high crash frequencies. and Specifically, the Town shall 
investigate strategies to minimize crashes, coordinate with the Florida Department of 
Transportation and Palm Beach County to: 

1. Address traffic operational deficiencies at Southern Boulevard intersections. 
 

2. Reduce speeding on Okeechobee Boulevard. 
 

 

 
145 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 14 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2.7.6  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with law enforcement agencies to reduce crashes and enforce 
traffic codes and regulations. 

2.7.7  Policy: 

Within one year of adoption of the comprehensive plan, the  The  Town shall adopt and 
implement a  utilize the Road, Greenway, and Equestrian Trail Master Plan. Through 
coordination with all affected governments, special districts, and other public agencies, the 
Town Road and Equestrian Trail Master Plan will identify and evaluate existing public 
easements, rights-of-way, roadway characteristics, roadway deficiencies, and traffic 
volumes and patterns so that potential road improvements and roadway safety 
recommendations can be identified. The Master Plan will review the local road network 
comprehensively to provide recommendations that consider not only the localized traffic 
impacts, but area wide traffic impacts as well. In addition, public input regarding the 
Master Plan will be gathered through workshops and/or media outlets to help form a plan 
that the Town can collectively use to guide future roadway and equestrian trail 
maintenance and safety improvements. 

2-20 

2.7.8  Policy: 

The Town will strive to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by reducing traffic congestion 
and air pollution. The Town will promote alternative forms of transportation by solidifying a 
greenways/equestrian trail plan and cooperating with Palm Beach County for new and 
improved transit. The Town will also plan internal roadways and cross access between 
parcels that will allow for more efficient travel. 

2.7.9  Policy: 

The Town shall continue to coordinate with LGWCD for proper maintenance of the 
roadways. 

2.7.10 The following general roadway programs, determined to be necessary for attaining or 
maintaining desired service levels, shall be pursued by the Town. Specific projects shall 
be included as part of the annual review and update of the Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements:  

1. Intersection control improvements at Okeechobee Boulevard and Southern 
Boulevard intersections with “D” Road and “F” Road. 
 

2. Installation of OGEM surface treatment and/or pavement at appropriate locations 
on the Letter Town Roads. 

 
 

 
146 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 15 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

3. Installation of OGEM surface treatment on non-Letter Town Roads provided that 
public right-of-way dedications from all affected property owners are procured. 
 

4. Construction of new Town local roads, reconstruction or resurfacing of existing 
paved Town local roads, or paving or surfacing of existing graded Town local 
roads. 

 

Transit 

2.8  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall support and coordinate with Palm Beach County to 
provide safe, efficient, and convenient accessibility and availability to Transit transit for all users. 

2.8.1  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with Palm Beach County Transit   Tran and the MPO to 
provide convenient service and access to intermodal terminals and facilities, including 
Palm Beach International Airport and other generators and attractors. 

2-21 

 

2.8.2  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall coordinate with Palm Beach County Transit Tran, 
and the MPO to identify programs and policies that will assist in the provision of a 
convenient, public transit network that will provide both local and regional connections and 
that will accommodate the physically disabled. 

2.8.3 Require all applicants for site plan approval of a all non-residential development on a 
property fronting Okeechobee Boulevard or Southern Boulevard to coordinate  conform 
with Palm Tran to determine the need for a Bus Stop Boarding and Alighting Area 
(BSBAA), as determined  by Palm Tran. 

Greenhouse Gas Reduction 

2.9  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall support and coordinate with Palm Beach County to 
reduce greenhouse gas emission by promoting alternative modes of transportation.         

2.9.1  Policy: 

The Town will strive to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by reducing traffic congestion 
and air pollution. The Town will promote alternative forms of transportation by solidifying a 
greenways/equestrian trail plan and cooperating with Palm Beach County for new and 
improved transit. The Town will also plan internal roadways and cross access between 
parcels that will allow for more efficient travel. 

 
147 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 16 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

2.9.2  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure redevelopment is transit-ready along major transportation 
corridors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2-22 

 
148 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 17 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

INFRASTRUCTURE 

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

Ensure the provision of high quality, healthful, effective, reliable, efficient, environmentally sound 
and necessary services for coordinated sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, potable water and 
natural ground water aquifer recharge to town residents and visitors. 

DRAINAGE GOAL 3A 

Provide high quality, healthful, effective, reliable, efficient, environmentally sound and necessary 
services for coordinated drainage. 

3A.1.  Objective: 

To optimize the utilization of water resources through provision of stormwater 
management for the Town which reduces damage and inconvenience from flooding, 
promotes aquifer recharge, minimizes degradation of water quality in surface and 
groundwater and protects the functions of wetlands in urban areas. 

3A.1.1. Policy: 

Storm water management facilities shall be designed in accordance with South 
Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) criteria and, when applicable, with 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District (LGWCD) criteria. 

3A.1.2. Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall implement land development regulations 
which implement the minimum design criteria for stormwater management, as 
shown below, as the level of service standard to assess adequacy of service and 
concurrency during the development review process: 

a. Minimum roadway and parking lot elevations shall be at least at the  
highest elevation that may occur at the peak of the 10-yearone-day 
storm event; 

b. Minimum site perimeter elevations shall be at least the 25-year-3-day 
stage. Site runoff up to such stage level may not overflow into any 
adjacent property, unless a permanent drainage easement is obtained; 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-6 

 
149 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

c. Dry or wet retention/detention, stage versus storage, stage versus 
discharge and flood routing calculations for the 10-year-one day, 25-
year-3-day and 100-year-3-day storm events for the site shall be 
submitted with the site development plans; 

d. Building floor elevations shall be at or above the 100-year flood 
elevation, as determined from the Federal  Flood Insurance Rate Maps 
or calculations following the latest SFWMD methodology, whichever is 
greater; 

e. Off-site discharge shall be limited to pre-development runoff based on 
the 25-year-3-day storm event calculated by SFWMD methods; 

f.   All roof runoff shall be detained on site. 

g. Storm sewers shall be designed to convey the 5 year – 1 day stor event. 

h. Prior to discharge to surface or groundwater, BMP’s of SFWMD shall be               
used to reduce pollutant loading from storm water runoff from non-
agricultural uses. 

i. Prior to discharge to surface or groundwater, BMP’s of  the DEP and 
USDA shall be used to reduce pollutant loading from storm water run-off 
from agricultural uses. 

3A.1.3. Policy: 

The Town shall support the LGWCD in considering the impact of the construction 
and operation of stormwater management facilities and support services on 
adjacent natural resources in accordance with SFWMD regulations during the 
installation of new stormwater management facilities and the expansion of, or 
increase in capacity of stormwater management facilities 

3A.1.4. Policy: 

Coordinate with the SFWMD and the LGWCD to implement applicable portions of 
the SFWMD regional water resource projects, which intend to reduce losses of 
excess stormwater to tide, recharge the Surficial aquifer and Water Preserve 
Areas or provide additional storage surface waters. 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-7 

 

 
150 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 19 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

3A.1.5. Policy: 

The Town shall support the LGWCD in addressing stormwater management                    
issues on a watershed (basin) basis in accordance with SFWMD permits as a 
means of providing cost effective water quality and water quantity solutions to 
specific watershed problems. 

3A.1.6 Policy: 

The Town shall support the LGWCD in managing the construction and operation of 
its facilities which dam, divert or otherwise alter the flow of surface waters to 
minimize damage from flooding, soil erosion or excessive drainage. 

3A.1.7. Policy: 

The Town shall support the SFWMD in maintaining and protect ground water 
recharge of the Surficial Aquifer system so as to maintain all of the functions of the 
Aquifer, including the reduction of saltwater intrusion. LGWCD capital projects 
shall be incorporated within the Town’s Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements on an annual basis. 

3A.1.8. Policy: 

The Town shall support the LGWCD in requiring that new drainage facilities shall 
be designed to provide pollution control sufficient to meet criteria of all local, state 
and federal regulatory requirements, including but not limited to the following when 
applicable: 

a. Retention of stormwater 

b. Flow of stormwater over grassed and vegetated areas 

c. Sumps 

d. Grease separation baffles 

e. Mosquito control 

f. Infiltration and percolation prior to overflow or outfall  

   discharge 

3A.1.9. Policy: 

Use Best Management Practices (BMPs) in accordance with its 

regulations and those of the South Florida Water Management District and the 
Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 

 
151 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 20 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

3A.1.10. Policy: 

The Town shall support the Lower East Coast Regional Water Supply Plan and 
operating procedures to increase recharge water to the Surficial Aquifer. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-8 

3A.1.11. Policy: 

Utilize, preserve, restore and enhance natural water bodies and functions by  
encouraging non-structural and structural erosion control devices and 
discourage the canalization, installation of  seawalls or other alteration of natural 
rivers, streams and lakes. 

3A.1.12. Policy: 

Protect the water storage and water quality enhancement functions of wetlands, 
floodplains and aquifer recharge areas through acquisition, enforcement of rules 
and the application of land and water management practices which provide for  
compatible uses. 

3A.1.13. Policy: 

Coordinate with the LGWCD, Palm Beach County and SFWMD  to protect 
aquifers from depletion through water conservation and preservation of the 
functions of high recharge areas including but not limited to the water 
conservation areas and  water preserve areas. 

3A.1.14. Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall investigate acquiring the need to acquire 
a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System - Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (NPDES-MS4) and the implementation of the permit conditions 
including monitoring of outfalls and improving stormwater management 
practices. by December 2009. 

3A.1.15. Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall investigate the creation    of grading and 
drainage standards for residential properties. 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-9 

 
152 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 21 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE ELEMENT 

GOAL, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

Goal 5A  To provide safe and adequate open space and recreation facilities accessible to all 
Loxahatchee Groves residents. 

5A.1.  Objective: 

Provide a sufficient supply of park, recreation, and open space facilities to satisfy 
established level of service (LOS) standards. 

5A.1.1. Policy: 

The Town shall make available six (6) acres of park, recreation, and open space 
per one thousand (1,000) population. 

5A.1.2. Policy: 

The Town shall encourage development of a public equestrian facility at 
Loxahatchee Groves Park. 

5A.1.3. Policy: 

The Town shall continue to lobby the County to develop the Loxahatchee Groves 
County Park according to the intent of the original Master Plan and the Plan as 
amended in January 1991. 

5A.1.4. Policy: 

The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts, 

contributions, funding assistance, and other financial resources for the purchase of 
land contiguous to the Park, so that the acreage of the park may be increased to 
its original size. 

5A.2. Objective: 

Maximize the utility and function of recreation facilities and open space resources. 
Establish strategies to effectively coordinate the retention of recreation and open space 
opportunities, as well as the development of future opportunities to meet public demands. 

5A.2.1. Policy: Reserved. 

Require that all land dedicated to the public for parks and recreation purposes, 
with the exceptions of equestrian trails and greenways,   be located adjacent to 
arterial and/or collector roadways, pedestrian walkways and bicycle routes or be 
provided for in future development plans 

 
153 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 22 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 

Adoption – February 2009 

Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-4 

5A.2.2. Policy: 

All existing and future parks and recreation facilities shall comply with provisions of 
the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

5A.3. Objective: 

Establish effective methods of coordinating public and private resources to meet public 
demands. 

 

5A.3.1. Policy: 

Maintain cooperative relationships with agencies, groups, individuals and 
organizations currently providing leisure programs to the residents. 

 

5A.3.2. Policy: 

Pursue appropriate joint public and private ventures to obtain lands and/or 
financing necessary to provide recreation areas, including equestrian trails and 
greenways, facilities and programs. 

 

5A.4. Objective: 

Require the provision of open space in redevelopment and new development. 

 

5A.4.1. Policy: 

The provision of open space such as natural areas, vistas, land buffers, or trails, 
shall be required in residential and non-residential development as per the Unified 
Land Development Code (ULDC). 

 

5A.4.2. Policy: 

 
154 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 23 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

The Town emphasizes that open space is needed in order to create vista, to 
provide shade, and to create and enhance the rural image and flavor of the Town. 

Goal 5B The Town of Loxahatchee Groves will strive to provide a town-wide greenway and 
equestrian trail system which preserves the town’s rural lifestyle. 

5B.1. Objective: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall develop a greenway and equestrian trail system 
to meet the needs and interests of the residents of Loxahatchee Groves. 

5B.1.1. Policy: 

The Town shall create a map of existing greenway and equestrian riding trails. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 

Adoption – February 2009 

Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-5 

 

5B.1.2. Policy: 

The Town, based upon in addition to recommendations of the Roadways, 
Equestrian Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Committee, shall identify new 
connections to existing trails, which if acquired would greatly enhance pedestrian, 
bicycle, and equestrian circulation throughout the Town. 

5B.1.3. Policy: 

A master plan for a cohesive trail system shall be completed within two (2) years of 
the adoption of this element  The Roadways Equestrian Trails and Greenways  
Master Plan shall be updated every Five (5) years to insure consistency with 
current Town policy. 

5B.1.4. Policy: 

Annually, the Town  RETAG shall assess and recommend to the Town Council 
whether the greenway and equestrian trail system is sufficient for  to meet the 
needs of the residents, and recommend needed improvements. 

5B.1.5. Policy: 

The greenway and equestrian trails system, wherever feasible, shall provide 
linkages between residential homes, parks, recreational facilities, open spaces, 
and commercial facilities throughout the Town. 

 

 
155 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 24 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

5B.1.6. Policy: 

All vehicular parking for land uses which are adjacent to the greenway and 
equestrian trail system should provide the parking on a side away from the trail. 

5B.1.7. Policy: 

The greenway and equestrian trail system shall be consistent with the Town’s 
Minimum Design Standards.design documents adopted by the Town and based 
upon RETAG abd LGWCD recommendations in coordination with Loxahatchee 
Groves Water Control District. 

5B.1.8. Policy: 

The Town shall use landscaping and signs to visually identify street crossings and 
trail access points. Safe and controlled greenway and equestrian crossings shall 
be constructed. 

5B.1.9. Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate the construction of proposed multiuse trails with the 
LGWCD whenever they fall within the LGWCD rights-of-way. Doing so shall 
ensure that sufficient right-of-way is preserved to construct and maintain the 
Town’s multiuse trails. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 

Adoption – February 2009 

Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-6 

 

5B.1.10.Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate the provision of greenway and equestrian trail 
connections among adjoining or abutting properties during the site plan review 
process. 

5B.2.  Objective: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ greenway and equestrian trail system shall be 
financially feasible. 

5B.2.1. Policy: 

The Town shall determine which trails should be considered for public ownership. 

 

 

 
156 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 25 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

5B.2.2. Policy: 

The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts,contributions, 
funding assistance, and other financial resources for the development of 
greenways and equestrian riding trails. 

5B.2.3. Policy: 

The Town should pursue joint efforts with all affected local jurisdictions, including 
local governments, special districts, and other public agencies in the acquisition, 
development and maintenance of greenways and equestrian trails as a means for 
reducing costs and pooling resources. 

5B.3.  Objective: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ equestrian trail system shall provide access to abutting 
county parks, open space, and neighboring municipalities. 

5B.3.1. Policy: 

The Town shall pursue direct connections and access between the Town’s 
equestrian trail(s) and the Loxahatchee Groves County Park and the Royal Palm 
Beach Pines Nature Area. 

5B.3.2. Policy: 

The Town shall pursue direct connections and access between the Town’s 
equestrian trails and the Village of Wellington’s equestrian preserves and public 
trails. 

5B.3.3. Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District for 
development of greenways and equestrian trials. 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 

Adoption – February 2009 

Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-7 

 

 

 

 

 
157 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 26 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT                                                                     
GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

Goal 9: The Town shall ensure adequate and timely public facilities and infrastructure capacity to 
accommodate existing and future residents and businesses maximizing the use and value of 
existing facilities, and effectively managing future growth consistent with the level-of-service 
standards established in the Comprehensive Plan. 

9.1  Objective: 

Maximize fiscal resources available to the Town for public facility improvements 
necessary to accommodate existing development, redevelopment, and planned future 
growth, and to replace obsolete or deteriorated facilities. 

9.1.1  Policy: 

Ensure capital revenues and/or secured developer commitments are in place to 
maintain all public facilities at acceptable level of service standards prior to the 
issuance of new development orders. 

The Town shall follow the following timing requirements to ensure that adequate 
public facilities are available to meet level of service standards with the impact of 
development. 

(a) Sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, adequate water  
supplies, and potable water facilities shall be in place and available to serve new 
development no later than the issuance by the local government of a certificate of 
occupancy or its functional equivalent. Prior to approval of a building permit or its 
functional equivalent, the Town shall determine whether adequate water supplies 
to serve the new development will be available no later than the anticipated date of 
issuance by the Town of a certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent. 

(b) Parks and recreation facilities to serve new development shall  
be in place or under actual construction no later than 1 year after issuance by the 
local government of a certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent. 
However, the acreage for such facilities shall be dedicated or be acquired by the 
Town prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent, or 
funds in the amount of the developer's fair share shall be committed no later than 
the local government's approval to commence construction. 

  

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                        9 -8 

 
158 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 27 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

(c) Transportation facilities needed to serve new development  
shall be in place or under actual construction within 3 years after the Town 
approves a building permit that results in traffic generation.   

(d) The Town shall continue to obtain additional public roadways  
as a means of increasing its gas tax revenues. 

9.1.2:  Policy: 

Utilize a variety of funding sources to implement capital improvements, within the 
limitation of existing law. These methods may include ad valorem taxes, general 
revenues, enterprise revenues, assessments, tax increment, grants, and private 
contributions, including dedications and/or funds. 

9.1.3:  Policy: 

Ensure that new development bears a proportionate cost for public facility 
improvements by utilizing a variety of mechanisms to assess and collect impact 
fees, dedications and/or contributions from private development. 

9.1.4:  Policy: 

Aggressively seek all realistic grant opportunities to fund projects in the Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements. 

9.1.5  Policy: 

Land development regulations established by the Town shall provide for the timely 
completion and maintenance of the capital improvements required by the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

9.1.6  Policy: 

Each review of the Capital Improvements Element shall include a review of the 
assumptions, projections, needs, and consideration for appropriate and timely 
renewal of existing facilities according to the following criteria: 

1)   Emergency and post-disaster mitigation. 

2)   Deficiency determination by a Concurrency Management  System. 

3)   Public involvement in Capital Improvement Program and Budget. 

4)   Existing land development and Town master plans. 

5) Plans of local, county, state agencies including the Loxahatchee Groves                  
Water Control District. 

6)   Accommodation of new development and redevelopment. 

 
159 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 28 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

7)   Financial feasibility. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                        9 -9 

9.2  Objective: 

Provide the necessary capital improvements to replace worn-out or obsolete public 
facilities, correct service deficiencies and accommodate planned future growth consistent 
with the adopted level-of-service standards. 

9.2.1 Policy: 

Prepare and adopt a Five-Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) as part of the 
Town’s annual budgeting process. Amend the Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements Capital Improvement Element annually to reflect these changes 
annual CIP updates. 

9.2.2  Policy: 

Annual  The annual  update of the Capital Improvement Element  Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements shall reflect proportionate fair-share and other 
developer contributions. 

9.2.3  Policy: 

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be financially feasible. 
Sufficient revenues shall be available for the first three years or will be available 
from committed or planned funding sources for years 4 and 5 of a 5-year capital 
improvement schedule. 

9.2.4 Policy: 

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be based upon the Future 
Land Use Element and consistent with all other objectives and policies of 
Comprehensive Plan elements. 

9.2.5   Policy: 

Coordinate proportionate fair share mitigation procedures and payments with Palm 
Beach County, the Florida Department of Transportation, and the Palm Beach 
County School District. 

9.2.6  Policy: 

Coordinate planning for the Town improvements with the plans of state agencies, 
the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD), Palm Beach County, the 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District and adjacent municipalities when 
applicable. 

 
160 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 29 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

9.2.7   Policy: 

All capital improvements in the Five–Year Schedule of Capital Improvements for 
which the Town is responsible will be included in the Five-Year Capital 
Improvements Program (CIP and Town’s Annual Capital Budget and Capital 
Improvement Fund. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -10 

9.2.8  Policy: Reserved 

Evaluate and rank the proposed capital improvement projects listed in the Five-
Year Schedule of Capital Improvements, prioritizing them according to the 
following guidelines: 

•   Protection of public health, safety and welfare; 

•   Fulfills the Town’s legal commitment to provide facilities and   

    services; 

•   Corrects existing deficiencies; 

•   Maintains adopted levels of service; 

•   Provides for the most efficient and effective use of existing   

    and/or future facilities; 

  • Provides new capacity to accommodate future growth  

    consistent with this Plan; 

•   Prevents or reduces future improvement costs; and 

•   Promotes cost-effective use of time and revenue. 

•   Financial feasibility; 

•   The plans of local, county and state agencies providing public  

     facilities. 

 

 

 

 
161 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 30 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

9.2.9  Policy: 

Use the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) to ensure that all 
decisions regarding land use planning and the issuance of development orders 
and permits consider the availability of public facilities and services necessary to 
support such development at the adopted LOS standards concurrent with the 
associated impacts. 

9.2.10  Policy: 

Coordinate with road, utility and infrastructure service providers within the Town to 
ensure that necessary capital improvements are implemented to support new 
construction and redevelopment. 

9.2.11 Policy: 

Repair, rehabilitate, and replace the Town’s capital facilities according to generally 
accepted engineering principles and guidelines and ensure that facilities and 
services provided by other agencies are held to the same standard. 

9.2.12  Policy: 

Assess new development a proportionate fair-share of the public facility costs 
necessary to accommodate the impacts of new development at the adopted 
levels-of-service through the enforcement of existing public facility funding 
mechanisms, conditions of development approval, and impact fees. Public facilities 
include potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, parks, including 
equestrian trails and greenways, schools and roadways. 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -11 

9.2.13  Policy: 

Capital improvements associated with the construction of educational facilities are 
not addressed in the Town’s Capital Improvement Fund CIP or Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements, but rather are the responsibility of the Palm 
Beach County School District. To address financial feasibility\ associated with 
school concurrency, the School District Five Year Plan and Capital Budget for 
educational facilities will be incorporated by reference into the CIE. 

9.2.14  Policy: 

The Town, in conjunction with Palm Beach County and the Palm Beach County 
School District, has the responsibility for providing implementing the public school 
concurrency program within Loxahatchee Groves. related to capital improvements 
and should continually seek to expand funding sources available to meet those 
requirements. 

 
162 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 31 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

9.2.15  Policy: 

For public school facilities, a proportionate share mitigation agreement is subject to 
approval by Palm Beach County School District and the Town.  and must be 
identified in the adopted School District Five Year Plan and Capital Budget. 

9.2.16  Policy:  Reserved 

The Town shall update its Capital Improvements Element and Program annually, 
to include the annual update of the School District Five Year Plan and Capital 
Budget. 

9.2.17 Policy: Reserved 

The FY2009-2013 Plan & Capital Budget adopted by the School District of Palm 
Beach County on September 10, 2008 shall be incorporated into the Capital 
Improvement Element by reference. 

9.2.18  Policy: 

The public school LOS standard is the school’s utilization, expressed as a 
percentage, which is the result of comparing the number of students with the 
satisfactory Florida Inventory of School Houses (FISH) capacity at a given 
location, e.g. an elementary facility with 1,000 students and a FISH capacity of 
970, has an LOS of 103%.  Also referred to as the utilization of a facility.  which is 
defined as the enrollment as a percentage of school student capacity based upon 
the Florida Inventory of School Houses (FISH). The level of service (LOS) 
standard shall be established for all schools of each type within the School District 
as 110 percent utilization, measured as the average for all schools of each type 
within each Concurrency Service Area.  

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -11 

No individual school shall be allowed to operate in excess of 110% utilization, 
unless the school is the subject of a School Capacity Study (SCS) undertaken by 
the School District, working with the Technical Advisory Group (TAG)  which 
determines that the school can operate in excess of 110% utilization. The SCS 
shall be required if a school in the first student count of the second semester 
reaches 108 % or higher Capacity. As a result of an SCS, an individual school may 
operate at up to 120% utilization. 

9.3  Objective 

Develop and implement a debt management program to assist the Town in providing 
adequate and timely revenues for scheduled capital improvements. 

 
163 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 32 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

9.3.1  Policy: 

Incur Provided the Town Charter allows such an activity,  Loxahatchee Groves 
may incur debt within generally accepted municipal finance principles and 
guidelines, and only in relation to the Town’s ability to pay for a new capital asset 
or to significantly extend the life expectancy of a capital asset. 

9.3.2  Policy: 

Ensure that any increase in operating costs for a new or additional facility is also 
considered when evaluating the debt to be incurred for a facility. 

9.3.3  Policy: 

The Town will not provide a public facility, nor accept the provision of a public 
facility by others, if it is unable to pay for the subsequent annual operation and 
maintenance costs of the facility. 

9.3.4  Policy: 

The Town shall adopt standards for debt management by 2009 prior to incurring 
any public debt. 

9.3.5  Policy: 

Debt payment shall not exceed the anticipated useful life of a capital improvement 
and, in no case, shall exceed thirty years. 

9.4  Objective: 

Land use decisions shall be made based upon available or projected        fiscal resources 
in coordination with a schedule of capital improvements the Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements which maintains adopted level of service standards and meets existing and 
future facility needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -12 

 
164 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 33 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

9.4.1  Policy: 

The Town shall determine whether projects in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements will allow level of service standard to be maintained with a proposed 
land use change. 

9.4.2  Policy: 

The Town shall provide for the availability of public facilities and services needed 
to support development concurrent with the impacts of such development. 
subsequent to the adoption of the local comprehensive plan. 

9.4.3  Policy: 

In order to coordinate land uses with available and projected fiscal 

resources and a financially feasible schedule of capital improvements for water 
supply and facility projects, the Town shall include in its annual update of its 
financially feasible five (5) year capital improvements the Five-Year Schedule of 
Capital Improvements,  any appropriate projects listed in listing the first five (5) 
years of the (10) year Water Supply Facility Work Plan (WSFWP). to ensure 
consistency between the Potable Water Sub-Element of the Infrastructure Element 
and the Capital Improvements Element. 

9.5 Objective:    
The Town shall include all projects identified in the policies of the various elements of this 
Comprehensive Plan that are the responsibility of Loxahatchee Groves and determined to 
be of relatively large scale and high cost as capital improvements projects for inclusion 
within the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements.   

9.5.1 Policy:  
Capital improvements shall be provided to:  (1) correct existing deficiencies and 
extend the life expectancy; (2) accommodate desired future  manage growth, as 
defined in the Future Land Use Element and the Town’s Charter; and/or (3) 
replace worn-out or obsolete facilities, as indicated in the Five-Year Schedule of 
Capital Improvements of this element. 

  9.5.2 Policy:   

The Town defines a capital improvements project or program as a major, not 
often-recurring, expenditure that costs or commits at least $25,000, which has an 
expected life of at least five (5) years, and which falls into one of the following 
categories: 

a. Acquisition or lease of land or interests in land for public  
purposes. 

 

 

 
165 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 34 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                       9 -13 

b. Accommodation of Town growth and improvement of  
infrastructure services delivery by means of the purchase, lease, construction, 
rehabilitation, or replacement of: 

1. A public building or physical facility; 

2. Public infrastructure such as  roads, drainage canals,  parks, trails, or 
similar projects; 

      3.   Equipment supporting the maintenance of infrastructure. 

c.   Projects designed to bring the community into immediate  

compliance with state or federal law or court order.  Such projects  are not subject 
to the above cost or life expectancy limits. 

A capital improvements project or program is further defined to include any 
planning, engineering, feasibility or appraisal studies related thereto if the total cost 
is at least $10,000.  This shall include any studies oriented to defining the initial 
need for land and/or facilities. 

9.5.3 Policy: 
Normal maintenance activities are not included in the Five-Year Schedule of 
Capital Improvements.   

9.5.4 Policy:   
The Town shall, as a matter of priority, schedule for funding any capital 
improvement projects in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements which 
are designed to correct existing public facility deficiencies. 

  9.5.5  Policy:   

Proposed capital improvements projects shall be evaluated and ranked in order of 
priority according to the following guidelines: 

a. Whether the proposed project is financially feasible, in terms of  
                                         its impact upon Town budget potential; 

b. Whether the project is needed to protect public health and safety, to fulfill the 
Town’s legal commitment to provide facilities and services, or to preserve, 
achieve full use of, or increase the efficiency of existing facilities; 
 

c. Whether the project prevents or reduces future improvement costs or       
provides service to areas currently lacking such service; 
 

 
166 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 35 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

d. Whether the project represents a logical extension of facilities and     
services within the Town; and 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                       9 -14 

e.  Whether or not the proposed project is consistent with plans of State 
agencies, Palm Beach County agencies and the Loxahatchee Groves  
Water Control District.  

 9.6 Objective:  

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be reviewed by the FAAC on an 
annual basis as part of the Town budget process.  Any revisions and/or amendments to 
the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be made by the Town Council at 
that time. Annual updates to Tables 9-1 to 9-3 shall be made by Town Council Ordinance 
and not subject to the comprehensive plan amendment process.  

  9.6.1 Policy: 

The annual update process shall include a review to determine that proposed Five-
Year Schedule of Capital Improvements revisions are internally consistent with the 
Goals, Objectives and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan. 

9.6.2 Policy: 

All items to address an imminent danger or threat to the public health or safety 
shall be submitted to the Town Council for decision and appropriate action through 
the Town Manager.  If the obligation duration exceeds one budget year, the item 
shall be included in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital  Improvements.  

9.7     Objective: 

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements consists of Tables 9-1 to 9-3.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 

Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                      9 - 15 

 
167 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 36 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Table 9-1 -  Summary of FY 2014 – 2018 Capital Improvements Projects 

A.  Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards: Loxahatchee Groves 

Comprehensive 
Plan Element 

Project No. and Description 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Transportation TRAN-1: Non-District Town Road Survey (1) 
Objective 2.6 and Policies 2.2.4,  
2.7.1 and 2.7.9 Transportation 
Element 

Transportation  TRAN-2: Collecting Canal Road  OGEM surface 
Improvements (1,2)  

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation  TRAN-3: Okeechobee Traffic Signal @ “D” Rd. (1) Policies 2.1.4 and 2.2.2, 
Transportation Element 

Transportation  TRAN-4: Town Road OGEM Projects –Specific  
Future Projects To Be Identified (1,2) 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-5:  Pave/OGEM Surface “D” Road from 
Southern Blvd. to Collecting Canal 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-6:  LGWCD to Town road transfer costs - 
Specific  Future Projects To Be Identified 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Drainage Sub-
Element 

DR-1:  Drainage Canal Refurbishment Program  (sub 
to LGWCD) 

Policies 3A.1.5 and 3A.1.6 Drainage 
Sub-Element 

Key:  TRAN – Transportation; DR – Drainage;  LGWCD – Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District.                                                                   
(1) – Existing Deficiency ; (2) – Replacement Project; 3) – To Meet Future Need 

B.  FY 2014 to 2018 Improvements Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards:                 
Outside Agencies 

Agency 
 

Project No. and Description 

Comprehensive Plan Consistency  

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Lox Groves Water 
Control Dist 

DR-2:  40-foot  Long Front  Backhoe lease 
purchase (1,3)  

Objective 3.A.1 Drainage Sub-
Element 

Lox Groves Water 
Control Dist 

DR-3:  Long-Reach Mower lease purchase (1,3) Objective 3.A.1 Drainage Sub-
Element 

Palm Beach County 
School District 

PSF-1 Palm Beach County School District 5-Year 
Capital Budget (FY 2013 – 2017) By Reference (3) 

Policy 8A.3-A Public School 
Facilities Element 

Florida Department 
of Transportation 

FDOT-1: #4282391 Bridge #930402  repair and 
rehab.  West of “D” Road (1)* 

Policy 2.2.4 Transportation Element;  
Policy 9.2.10 Capital Improvements 
Element 

Florida Department 
of Transportation 

FDOT-2: #4193452 Add lanes and reconstruct 
Southern Boulevard (3)* 

Policies  2.2.4 and 2.6.2 
Transportation Element; Policy 
9.2.10 Capital Improvements 
Element 

* -  Project included in the FY 2011 – 2015 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) of the MPO.Key:  DR – Drainage; PSF – 
Public School Facility; FDOT – Florida Department of Transportation                                                                                                        
(1) – Existing Deficiency; (2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement ElementAdoption – 
February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                   9 -16 

 
168 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 37 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

C.  FY 2014 to 2018 Non-LOS Comprehensive Plan-Directed Improvements: 

Loxahatchee Groves 

Comprehensive Plan 
Element 

Project No. and Description 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Recreation and Open 
Space 

ROS-1: Equestrian Trails – Linear Park 
from “A” Road to Folsom Road (1,3) 

Objective 2.3 Transportation Element 

Recreation and Open 
Space 

ROS-2: Equestrian Trails – Future 
Projects To Be Identified (1,3) 

Objective 2.3 Transportation Element 

Key:  ROS – Recreation and Open Space                                                                                                                                                                
(1) – Existing Deficiency; (2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 

D. FY 2014 to 2018 Other Infrastructure Improvements: Outside Agencies/Private Parties 
 

Project No. and Description 
Public Agency/Private 

Party 

Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

TRAN-7 “F” Road Pavement and OGEM 
Improvements: Southern Blvd. to 
Collecting Canal(1,3) 

Grove Medical Plaza Site 
Plan Approval Condition Policy 2.1.4 Transportation Element 

Key:  TRAN – Transportation.                                                                                                                                                                                  
(1) – Existing Deficiency ;(2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
169 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 38 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Table 9-2 – FY 2014 – 2018  

Schedule and Cost of Capital Improvements Projects 

A. Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards 
 

Project  Number* 

Fiscal Year Cost ($ 000’s) Total Cost 

(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

TRAN-1 100 100 0 0     0    200,000 

TRAN-2 944      0 0 0     0    944,000 

TRAN-3 250      0 0 0     0    250,000 

TRAN-4 100      0 0 0     0    100,000 

TRAN 5 300      0 0 0     0      300,000 

TRAN-6 29    29        29       29   29      145,000 

TRAN-7 106      0 0 0     0      106,000 

DR-1 150        150      150     150 150    750,000 

DR-2   62    62        62       62    62    310,000 

DR-3   34    34        34       34    34    170,000 

FDOT #4282391         119      0 0 0     0    119,000 

FDOT##4193452**     5,200      0 0 0 34,500 39,700,000 

Totals     7,394  375      275     275 34,775 43,094,000 

**Cost includes entire project length (Lion Country Safari to west of Crestwood Blvd).                                                                                              
* - Refer to Table 9-1A , 9-1B and 9-1D. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element              
Adoption – February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                    9 -17 

 

 
170 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

Page | 39 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

B.  Non-LOS Comprehensive Plan-Directed Improvements 

 

 

Project  Number* 

Fiscal Year Cost ($ 000’s) Total Cost 

(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

ROS-1        80    0    0 0 0    80,000 

ROS-2   0          100          100 0 0   200,000 

Totals 80 100 100 0 0  280,000 

PBC School Dist. 5-Year Capital Budget (FY 2013 – 2017)Incorporated  By Reference 

* - Refer to Table 9-1C. 

 

Table 9-3 – Revenue Sources for Town Directed Capital Improvements Projects 

 

Project 
Number* 

Revenue 
Source 

Fiscal Year Budget ($000) Total Cost 

(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

TRAN-1 GF/GT 100,000 100,000           0           0           0 200,000 

TRAN-2 GF/GT 944,000             0            0            0           0 944,000 

TRAN-3 GF/GT 250,000               0            0            0           0 250,000 

TRAN-4 GF 100,000             0            0            0           0 100,000 

TRAN-5 GF 300,000             0            0            0           0    300,000 

TRAN-6 GT   29,000    29,000    29,000      29,000   29,000    145,000 

TRAN-7 P 106,000            0            0            0           0 106,000 

DR-1 GT 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 750,000 

ROS-1 GF   80,000             0             0             0             0   80,000 

ROS-2 GF             0 100,000 100,000             0             0 200,000 

Town Totals GF/GT/P 2,059,000 379,000 279,000 179,000 179,000 3,075,000 

* - Refer to Tables9-1A,  9-1C and 9-1D. 

Revenue Sources:  GF-General Fund; GT-Gas Tax; G-Grant; P –Private Source 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element              
Adoption – February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                     9-18 

 

 
171 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 1 of 34 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 1 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 2 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, IN 3 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 163.3184(3) FLORIDA STATUTES TO: 4 
(1) AMEND THE TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TEXT; (2) AMEND 5 
THE DRAINAGE SUB-ELEMENT TEXT OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE 6 
ELEMENT; (3) AMEND THE RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE 7 
ELEMENT TEXT; AND (4) AMEND THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 8 
ELEMENT TEXT; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 9 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 10 

 11 
WHEREAS, Section 163.3167, Florida Statutes, requires that each local government 12 

prepare a Comprehensive Plan in compliance with the Local Government Comprehensive 13 

Planning and Development Act, as amended; and 14 

WHEREAS, the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida, pursuant to the Local 15 

Government Comprehensive Planning Act, and in accordance with all of its terms and 16 

provisions, adopted a Comprehensive Plan which has been found to be “in compliance” by, the 17 

State Department of Community Affairs (DCA); and, 18 

WHEREAS, Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes allows the Comprehensive Plan to be 19 

amended in order to further the Town’s planning goals and objectives and address changing 20 

conditions; and,  21 

WHEREAS, the Town’s Planning Consultant recommends approval of Town of 22 

Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan as provided herein, through Amendment 13-1 as set 23 

forth in a report to the Town Council, which sets forth findings and recommendations, and which 24 

report is incorporated herein; and,  25 

WHEREAS, the Local Planning Agency and Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee 26 

Groves have conducted the required public hearings on this Amendment to the Town of 27 

Loxahatchee Groves adopted Comprehensive Plan; and, 28 

 
172 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 2 of 34 

WHEREAS, the reports, records, and materials from the public hearings to adopt 1 

Ordinance 2013-08 are incorporated herein and relied upon by the Town Council to the extent 2 

not inconsistent with this Ordinance; and,  3 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves has deemed it to be 4 

in the best interest of the citizens and residents of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves to adopt 5 

Amendment 13-1 to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan in accordance with 6 

Chapter 163, Florida Statutes to revise the text of the following elements of the Town of 7 

Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan: Transportation Element; Drainage Sub-Element of 8 

the Infrastructure Element; Recreation and Open Spaced Element; and Capital Improvements 9 

Element.  10 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 11 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 12 

SECTION 1:  The foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and 13 

confirmed as being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of the Ordinance upon 14 

adoption hereof; all exhibits attached hereto or referenced herein are incorporated herein and 15 

made a specific part of this Ordinance. 16 

SECTION 2:  The Town Council approves and adopts the recommendations of 17 

the Town’s Planning Consultant, which are incorporated herein.. 18 

 SECTION 3:  In accordance with the requirements of Section 163.3184, Florida 19 

Statutes, the Town Council hereby adopts the amended elements of the Town of Loxahatchee 20 

Groves Comprehensive Plan:  Transportation Element; Drainage Sub-Element of the 21 

Infrastructure Element; Recreation and Open Space Element; and Capital Improvements 22 

 
173 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 3 of 34 

Element, as set forth in Exhibit “A”, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 1 

reference..      2 

 SECTION 4:  The Town’s Planning Consultant is further authorized and directed 3 

to make the necessary textual changes to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 4 

in order to reflect the above-stated changes consistent with the recommendations of the Town 5 

Planning Consultant Report. 6 

SECTION 5:  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, and all Resolutions or parts 7 

of Resolutions, in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 8 

SECTION 6:  If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any 9 

person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 10 

applications of this Ordinance that can be given affect without the invalid provision or 11 

application, and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. 12 

SECTION 7:  This Ordinance shall become effective as provided by law.   13 

 14 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 15 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 5th DAY OF 16 
NOVEMBER, 2013. 17 
 18 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 19 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 20 
_____ DAY OF ____________________, 2013.        21 
 22 
              23 
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  24 
       FLORIDA 25 
 26 
ATTEST:      ____________________________________ 27 
       Mayor David Browning  28 
        29 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 30 
TOWN CLERK     Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   31 
    32 

 
174 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 4 of 34 

       ____________________________________ 1 
       Council Member Tom Goltzené 2 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:   3 
       ____________________________________4 
       Council Member Ron Jarriel 5 
_________________________________   6 
Office of the Town Attorney    ____________________________________ 7 
       Council Member Ryan Liang 8 
 9 
 10 
 11 
 12 

 
175 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 5 of 34 

 
 

EXHIBIT A  
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT (CPA) 13-1 

(Ref: Following Pages) 
 

Words underlined are  additions to and words struck through are  deletions from the 
current text of the Comprehensive Plan.   
 

 
1.  Revision of the Transportation Element Goals, Objectives and Policies. 
 
2.  Revision of the Infrastructure Element Drainage Sub-Element  Goals, Objectives and   
     Policies. 
 
3.  Revision of the Revision of the Recreation and Open Space Element Goals,  
     Objectives and Policies. 
 
4.  Revision of the Capital Improvements Element Goals, Objectives and Policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
176 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 6 of 34 

 
 

TRANSPORATION ELEMENT 
GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

 
 
GOAL 1 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall provide, maintain and improve a safe, convenient 
and energy efficient multi-modal transportation system that is consistent with growth 
management principles, and is coordinated with a regional network which balances the 
needs of all current and future users so as to ensure the economic vitality of the Town 
and the enhancement of the quality of life. 
 
Concurrency Management 
 
2.1  Objective 

The Town shall ensure that adequate public facilities are available concurrent with the 
impacts of development, and shall monitor impacts resulting from new development. 
 
2.1.1  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall adopt the generalized two-way peak hour 
volumes for Florida’s Urbanized Areas for all County urban collector roadways 
such as Okeechobee Boulevard at the Level of Service (LOS) “D” standard. 

 
2.1.2  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall adopt the generalized two-way peak hour 
volumes at the Level of Service standards established by the Florida Department 
of Transportation for all roadways on the State Highway System, Florida 
Intrastate Highway System (FIHS), and/or Strategic Intermodal System (SIS). 

 
2.1.3  Policy: 

The transportation network should be kept at the adopted Levels of Service by 
means of implementation of improvements to correct projected deficiencies. 
Projects should be listed in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements or 
adopted by private parties to rectify deficiencies. 

 
2.1.4  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with Palm Beach County and the Florida Department 
of Transportation to address the deficiencies of roadways, as identified in the 
existing and future level of service analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2-14 

 
177 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 7 of 34 

2.1.5  Policy: 
Prior to the granting of a building permit, an applicant shall obtain transportation 
concurrency approval from Palm Beach County and the Town. No building permit 
will be issued unless documentation of the corresponding transportation 
concurrency approval certificate has been presented. 

 
Intergovernmental Coordination 
 
2.2  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall participate in cooperative intergovernmental 
plans and programs to improve the safety, efficiency and convenience of the 
transportation system, while protecting the interests of the Town. 
 
2.2.1  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall coordinate with Palm Beach County 
Transit Tran and the Palm Beach County MPO to identify programs and policies 
that will assist in the provision of a convenient, public transit network that will 
provide both local and regional connections and that will accommodate the 
physically disabled. 
 

2.2.2  Policy: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall participate in cooperative 
intergovernmental plans and programs that will improve safety for users of all 
modes of transportation including pedestrian, bicycle, equestrian, motor vehicle 
and transit. 
 

2.2.3  Policy: Reserved. 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall provide a convenient roadway network 
through coordination with all affected local governments, special districts, the 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, Florida Department of 
Transportation, Palm Beach County, Palm Beach County MPO and other public 
agencies. The Town shall accordingly protect right-of-way for future roadway 
projects and shall include right of way requirements in the Land Development 
Regulations by December 2010. 
 

2.2.4  Policy: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves will coordinate with all affected local 
governments, special districts, the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 
Florida Department of Transportation, Palm Beach County, Palm Beach County 
MPO and other public agencies to provide input and advocate for the Town’s 
interests regarding future roadway plans for Okeechobee Boulevard, E 
Road/140th, SR-80 and other roadways as necessary. The Town shall 
accordingly protect rights-of-way for future roadway projects and shall include 
right-of-way requirements in the Land Development Regulations. 
 

 
 
 

2-15 

 
178 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 8 of 34 

Greenways and Equestrian Trails 
 
2.3  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall develop a greenway and equestrian trail system 
to meet the needs and interests of the residents of Loxahatchee Groves. To assist in this 
effort, the Town shall maintain the Roadway Equestrian Trails and Greenways (RETAG) 
Advisory Committee, created by Town Resolution 2011-05. 
 
2.3.1  Policy: 

The Town shall create a map of existing equestrian riding trails. 
 

2.3.2  Policy: 
The Town shall work toward establishing equestrian trails and greenways within 
the existing canal maintenance easements on all Letter Roads. In addition, the 
The Town shall identify new connections to existing trails, which if acquired 
would greatly enhance pedestrian, and bicycle, and equestrian circulation 
throughout the Town. 
 

2.3.3  Policy: 
A master plan for a cohesive internal trail system with connections to neighboring 
communities shall be completed , under the direction of the Roadway, Equestrian 
Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Committee. within one year of the adoption of 
this element. Further, the RETAG shall work cooperatively with the Loxahatchee 
Groves Water Control District to develop trail design documents. 
 

2.3.4: Policy 
Annually, the Town (RETAG) Committee shall assess whether the greenway and 
equestrian trail system is sufficient for the needs of the residents.  As part of its 
annual assessment, RETAG shall recommend projects to be included in the 
Five-Year Schedule of Improvements. 
 

2.3.5  Policy: 
The greenway and equestrian trails system, wherever feasible, shall provide 
connections between residential homes, parks, recreational facilities, open 
spaces, and commercial facilities throughout the Town. 
 

2.3.6  Policy: 
All vehicular parking for land uses which are adjacent to the greenway and 
equestrian trail system should provide the parking on a side away from the trail. 
 

2.3.7  Policy: 
The Town, in cooperation with LGWCD and the RETAG, will shall develop 
minimum design standards for greenway and equestrian trails for inclusion in its 
Land Development Regulations. The Town shall coordinate the application of its 
minimum design standards with the LGWCD whenever a proposed greenway or 
equestrian trail falls within an LGWCD right-of-way. Further, the RETAG shall 
work cooperatively with the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District to 
develop trail design documents. 

2-16 

 
179 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 9 of 34 

2.3.8  Policy: 
The greenway and equestrian trail system shall be maintained and improved to 
be consistent with the Town’s Minimum Design Standards adopted design 
documents minimum design standards. 
 

2.3.9  Policy: 
The Town shall use landscaping and signs to visually identify crossings and trail 
access points. Safe and controlled crossings shall be provided. 
 

2.3.10  Policy: 
The Town shall ensure sufficient right-of-way is preserved to construct and 
maintain the multiuse trails. 
 

2.3.11 Policy: 
The Town shall coordinate the provision of greenway and equestrian trail 
connections among adjoining or abutting properties during the site plan review 
process. 
 

2.4  Objective: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ greenway and equestrian trail system shall be 
financially feasible. 
 
2.4.1  Policy: 

The Town shall determine which trails should be considered for public ownership. 
 

2.4.2  Policy: 
The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts, contributions,
 funding assistance, and other financial resources for the development of 
equestrian riding trails. 
 

2.4.3  Policy: 
The Town should pursue joint efforts with all affected local governments, special 
districts, and other public agencies with respect to the acquisition, development 
and maintenance of trails as a means for reducing costs and pooling resources. 
 

2.4.4 The following equestrian trails and greenways projects shall be pursued by the 
Town until such time that a master plan pursuant to Policy 2.3.3 is completed:  

 
1. North/south Town-wide trail connectivity along all Letter Roads by 

pursuing trail crossings of Okeechobee Boulevard and Collecting Canal at 
these intersections. 

 
2. East-west Town-wide trail connectivity along easements along the south 

side of Collecting Canal and 6th Court North, North Road, and 
Okeechobee Boulevard. 

 
 

 
2-17 

 
180 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 10 of 34 

3. Equestrian trail/greenway easements within future non-residential 
developments along Southern Boulevard. 

 
4. Equestrian Trail easements to provide connectivity between Loxahatchee 

Groves Park and the existing trail on F Road. 
 

 
5. Installation of fencing adjacent to canal maintenance easements along 

the Letter Roads to insure the safety of riders, animals and residents. 
 
6. Additional projects as deemed appropriate by the Town Council, as the 

opportunity arises. 
 
Land Use/Transportation Coordination 
 
2.5  Objective 

The Town shall coordinate the transportation system with the future land use map and 
ensure land uses are consistent with transportation modes and services proposed to 
serve those areas. 

 
2.5.1  Policy: 

The Town shall encourage connectivity among all new development and 
redevelopment projects so as to minimize impacts on the roadway network. 
 

2.5.2  Policy: 
The Town shall collocate where possible primary civic facilities, thereby reducing 
the number of vehicle trips. 
 

2.5.3  Policy: 
The Town shall coordinate the transportation system with land uses through 
implementation of, but not limited to, the following programs, activities or actions: 
 
1.  Transportation facilities and services shall be planned and located in a 

manner which minimizes the potential impacts on adjacent land uses with 
consideration given specially to existing residential areas. 

 
2.  Intermodal facilities shall be located so as to maximize the efficiency of 

the transportation system. 
 
3. All opportunities to provide adequate bus shelters will be explored. 
 

Right of Way Protection 
 
2.6  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall ensure that future development does not 
encroach upon existing rights of-way. 

 
 

2-18 

 
181 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 11 of 34 

2.6.1  Policy: 
The Town shall ensure that future development does not encroach upon existing rights-
of-way. 

 
2.6.2  Policy: 

Future Right-of-Way requirements for State and County roads shall be 
established in conformance with FDOT, the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control 
District and Palm Beach County Standards to meet the future needs. 

 
 2.6.3 Policy: 

The Town shall continue to obtain additional survey data on the Letter Town 
Roads as the basis for implementing future road improvements. 
 

Safety, and Maintenance and Improvement of Roadways 
 
2.7  Objective 

The Town shall maintain a safe local roadway network. 
 
2.7.1  Policy: 

The Town shall continue to coordinate with LGWCD for proper maintenance of 
the roadways. For the purpose of allocating maintenance and capital 
improvements projects funds, the Town’s local roads shall be classified as 
follows: 
 
1. Category 1 – Surfaced local public roads under the jurisdiction of the 

Town. 
 
  1.A. – Paved local public roads. 
  1.B. – OGEM-surfaced local public roads. 
 
2. Category 2 – Unsurfaced local public roads. 
 
  2.A. -  Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District roads. 
  2.B. – Town of Loxahatchee Groves roads  
 
3. Category 3 – Private local roads (public access). 

 
4. Category 4 – Private local roads (no public access). 

 
For the purposes of state funding eligibility, maintaining existing Town local road 
capacity shall be deemed to be construction of new Town local roads, 
reconstruction, resurfacing or paving of existing surfaced or paved Town local 
roads, or paving or surfacing of existing graded Town local roads.  
 
 
 
 

2-19 
 

 
182 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 12 of 34 

2.7.2  Policy: 
The Town shall continue to encourage joint use of driveways and cross access 
agreements among adjoining property owners to allow circulation between sites 
and reduce the number of vehicular trips along roadways. 

 
2.7.3  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure that proper traffic signage is provided on local roads 
including speed limit, warning, guide, and street name signs. 
 

2.7.4  Policy: 
The Town shall investigate and implement strategies with all affected 
governments, special districts, and other public agencies, including the LGWCD, 
to discourage cut-through traffic on local roads throughout the Town. 

 
  2.7.5  Policy: 

The Town shall review roadways and intersections with frequent speeding 
occurrences, operational deficiencies, and/or high crash frequencies. and 
Specifically, the Town shall investigate strategies to minimize crashes, 
coordinate with the Florida Department of Transportation and Palm Beach 
County to: 

 
1. Address traffic operational deficiencies at Southern Boulevard intersections. 

 
2. Reduce speeding on Okeechobee Boulevard. 

 
2.7.6  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with law enforcement agencies to reduce crashes and 
enforce traffic codes and regulations. 
 

2.7.7  Policy: 
Within one year of adoption of the comprehensive plan, the  The  Town shall 
adopt and implement a  utilize the Road, Greenway, and Equestrian Trail Master 
Plan. Through coordination with all affected governments, special districts, and 
other public agencies, the Town Road and Equestrian Trail Master Plan will 
identify and evaluate existing public easements, rights-of-way, roadway 
characteristics, roadway deficiencies, and traffic volumes and patterns so that 
potential road improvements and roadway safety recommendations can be 
identified. The Master Plan will review the local road network comprehensively to 
provide recommendations that consider not only the localized traffic impacts, but 
area wide traffic impacts as well. In addition, public input regarding the Master 
Plan will be gathered through workshops and/or media outlets to help form a plan 
that the Town can collectively use to guide future roadway and equestrian trail 
maintenance and safety improvements. 
 
 
 

 
 

2-20 

 
183 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 13 of 34 

2.7.8  Policy: 
The Town will strive to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by reducing traffic 
congestion and air pollution. The Town will promote alternative forms of 
transportation by solidifying a greenways/equestrian trail plan and cooperating 
with Palm Beach County for new and improved transit. The Town will also plan 
internal roadways and cross access between parcels that will allow for more 
efficient travel. 

 
2.7.9  Policy: 

The Town shall continue to coordinate with LGWCD for proper maintenance of 
the roadways. 

 
2.7.10 The following general roadway programs, determined to be necessary for 

attaining or maintaining desired service levels, shall be pursued by the Town. 
Specific projects shall be included as part of the annual review and update of the 
Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements:  

 
1. Intersection control improvements at Okeechobee Boulevard and 

Southern Boulevard intersections with “D” Road. 
 

2. Installation of OGEM surface treatment and/or pavement at appropriate 
locations on the Town Roads. 

  
 

3. Installation of OGEM surface treatment on non Town Roads provided that 
public right-of-way dedications from all affected property owners are 
procured. 

 
4. Construction of new Town local roads, reconstruction or resurfacing of 

existing paved Town local roads, or paving or surfacing of existing graded 
Town local roads. 

 
Transit 
 
2.8  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall support and coordinate with Palm Beach County 
to provide safe, efficient, and convenient accessibility and availability to Transit transit for 
all users. 
 
2.8.1  Policy: 

The Town shall coordinate with Palm Beach County Transit   Tran and the MPO 
to provide convenient service and access to intermodal terminals and facilities, 
including Palm Beach International Airport and other generators and attractors. 
 
 
 
 
 

2-21 

 
184 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 14 of 34 

 
2.8.2  Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall coordinate with Palm Beach County 
Transit Tran, and the MPO to identify programs and policies that will assist in the 
provision of a convenient, public transit network that will provide both local and 
regional connections and that will accommodate the physically disabled. 
 

2.8.3 Require all applicants for site plan approval of all non-residential development on 
a property fronting Okeechobee Boulevard or Southern Boulevard to conform 
with the need for a Bus Stop Boarding and Alighting Area (BSBAA), as 
determined  by Palm Tran. 

 
Greenhouse Gas Reduction 
 
2.9  Objective 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall support and coordinate with Palm Beach County 
to reduce greenhouse gas emission by promoting alternative modes of transportation. 

                
2.9.1  Policy: 

The Town will strive to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by reducing traffic 
congestion and air pollution. The Town will promote alternative forms of 
transportation by solidifying a greenways/equestrian trail plan and cooperating 
with Palm Beach County for new and improved transit. The Town will also plan 
internal roadways and cross access between parcels that will allow for more 
efficient travel. 

 
2.9.2  Policy: 

The Town shall ensure redevelopment is transit-ready along major transportation 
corridors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2-22 
 

 
185 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 15 of 34 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

 

 
 
Ensure the provision of high quality, healthful, effective, reliable, efficient, 
environmentally sound and necessary services for coordinated sanitary sewer, solid 
waste, drainage, potable water and natural ground water aquifer recharge to town 
residents and visitors. 
 
DRAINAGE GOAL 3A 
 
Provide high quality, healthful, effective, reliable, efficient, environmentally sound and 
necessary services for coordinated drainage. 
 

3A.1.  Objective: 
To optimize the utilization of water resources through provision of stormwater 
management for the Town which reduces damage and inconvenience from 
flooding, promotes aquifer recharge, minimizes degradation of water quality in 
surface and groundwater and protects the functions of wetlands in urban areas. 
 
3A.1.1. Policy: 

Storm water management facilities shall be designed in accordance with 
South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) criteria and, when 
applicable, with Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District (LGWCD) 
criteria. 
 

3A.1.2. Policy: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall implement land development 
regulations which implement the minimum design criteria for stormwater 
management, as shown below, as the level of service standard to assess 
adequacy of service and concurrency during the development review 
process: 
 

a. Minimum roadway and parking lot elevations shall be at  
least at the highest elevation that may occur at the peak of the 
10-yearone-day storm event; 
 

b. Minimum site perimeter elevations shall be at least the  
25-year-3-day stage. Site runoff up to such stage level may not 
overflow into any adjacent property, unless a permanent 
drainage easement is obtained; 
 
 
 
 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-6 
 

 
186 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 16 of 34 

c. Dry or wet retention/detention, stage versus storage,  
stage versus discharge and flood routing calculations for the 10-
year-one day, 25-year-3-day and 100-year-3-day storm events 
for the site shall be submitted with the site development plans; 
 

d. Building floor elevations shall be at or above the 100- 
year flood elevation, as determined from the Federal   
Flood Insurance Rate Maps or calculations following the latest 
SFWMD methodology, whichever is greater; 
 

e. Off-site discharge shall be limited to pre-development  
runoff based on the 25-year-3-day storm event calculated by 
SFWMD methods; 
 

f. All roof runoff shall be detained on site. 
 
g. Storm sewers shall be designed to convey the 5 year –  
    1 day storm event. 
 
h. Prior to discharge to surface or groundwater, BMP’s of  

SFWMD shall be used to reduce pollutant loading from storm 
water runoff from non-agricultural uses. 
 

i. Prior to discharge to surface or groundwater, BMP’s of  
   the DEP and USDA shall be used to reduce pollutant     
   loading from storm water run-off from agricultural uses. 
 

3A.1.3. Policy: 
The Town shall support the LGWCD in considering the impact of the 
construction and operation of stormwater management facilities and 
support services on adjacent natural resources in accordance with 
SFWMD regulations during the installation of new stormwater 
management facilities and the expansion of, or increase in capacity of 
stormwater management facilities. 
 

3A.1.4. Policy: 
Coordinate with the SFWMD and the LGWCD to implement applicable 
portions of the SFWMD regional water resource projects, which intend to 
reduce losses of excess stormwater to tide, recharge the Surficial aquifer 
and Water Preserve Areas or provide additional storage surface waters. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-7 

 
 

 
187 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 17 of 34 

3A.1.5. Policy: 
The Town shall support the LGWCD in addressing stormwater 
management issues on a watershed (basin) basis in accordance with 
SFWMD permits as a means of providing cost effective water quality and 
water quantity solutions to specific watershed problems. 
 

3A.1.6 Policy: 
The Town shall support the LGWCD in managing the construction and 
operation of its facilities which dam, divert or otherwise alter the flow of 
surface waters to minimize damage from flooding, soil erosion or 
excessive drainage. 
 

3A.1.7. Policy: 
The Town shall support the SFWMD in maintaining and protect ground 
water recharge of the Surficial Aquifer system so as to maintain all of the 
functions of the Aquifer, including the reduction of saltwater intrusion. 
LGWCD capital projects shall be incorporated within the Town’s Five-
Year Schedule of Capital Improvements on an annual basis. 
 

3A.1.8. Policy: 
The Town shall support the LGWCD in requiring that new drainage 
facilities shall be designed to provide pollution control sufficient to meet 
criteria of all local, state and federal regulatory requirements, including 
but not limited to the following when applicable: 
 

a. Retention of stormwater 
b. Flow of stormwater over grassed and vegetated areas 
c. Sumps 
d. Grease separation baffles 
e. Mosquito control 
f. Infiltration and percolation prior to overflow or outfall  
   discharge 
 

3A.1.9. Policy: 
Use Best Management Practices (BMPs) in accordance with its 
regulations and those of the South Florida Water Management District 
and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 

 
3A.1.10. Policy: 

The Town shall support the Lower East Coast Regional Water Supply 
Plan and operating procedures to increase recharge water to the Surficial 
Aquifer. 

 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-8 

 
 

 
188 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 18 of 34 

3A.1.11. Policy: 
   Utilize, preserve, restore and enhance natural water bodies and 
   functions by encouraging non-structural and structural erosion   
   control devices and discourage the canalization, installation of    
   seawalls or other alteration of natural rivers, streams and lakes. 
 

3A.1.12. Policy: 
   Protect the water storage and water quality enhancement  
   functions of wetlands, floodplains and aquifer recharge areas  
   through acquisition, enforcement of rules and the application of  
   land and water management practices which provide for  
   compatible uses. 
 

3A.1.13. Policy: 
   Coordinate with the LGWCD, Palm Beach County and SFWMD   
   to protect aquifers from depletion through water conservation  
   and preservation of the functions of high recharge areas  
   including but not limited to the water conservation areas and  
   water preserve areas. 
 

3A.1.14. Policy: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall investigate acquiring     the 
need to acquire a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System - 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (NPDES-MS4) and the 
implementation of the permit conditions including monitoring of outfalls 
and improving stormwater management practices. by December 2009. 

 
3A.1.15. Policy: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall investigate the creation    of 
grading and drainage standards for residential properties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan Infrastructure Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                         3-9 

 
189 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 19 of 34 

 
 

RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE ELEMENT 
GOAL, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

 
 
Goal 5A  To provide safe and adequate open space and recreation facilities 

accessible to all Loxahatchee Groves residents. 
 

5A.1.  Objective: 
Provide a sufficient supply of park, recreation, and open space facilities to satisfy 
established level of service (LOS) standards. 

 
5A.1.1. Policy: 

The Town shall make available six (6) acres of park, recreation, and open 
space per one thousand (1,000) population. 
 

5A.1.2. Policy: 
The Town shall encourage development of a public equestrian facility at 
Loxahatchee Groves Park. 
 

5A.1.3. Policy: 
The Town shall continue to lobby the County to develop the Loxahatchee 
Groves County Park according to the intent of the original Master Plan 
and the Plan as amended in January 1991. 
 

5A.1.4. Policy: 
The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts, 
contributions, funding assistance, and other financial resources for the 
purchase of land contiguous to the Park, so that the acreage of the park 
may be increased to its original size. 
 

5A.2. Objective: 
Maximize the utility and function of recreation facilities and open space 
resources. Establish strategies to effectively coordinate the retention of 
recreation and open space opportunities, as well as the development of future 
opportunities to meet public demands. 
 
5A.2.1. Policy: Reserved. 

Require that all land dedicated to the public for parks and recreation 
purposes  be located adjacent to arterial and/or collector roadways, 
pedestrian walkways and bicycle routes or be provided  
for in future development plans. 
 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 
Adoption – February 2009 
Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-4 

 
190 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 20 of 34 

5A.2.2. Policy: 
All existing and future parks and recreation facilities shall comply with 
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
 

5A.3. Objective: 
Establish effective methods of coordinating public and private resources to meet 
public demands. 
 
5A.3.1. Policy: 

Maintain cooperative relationships with agencies, groups, individuals and 
organizations currently providing leisure programs to the residents. 
 

5A.3.2. Policy: 
Pursue appropriate joint public and private ventures to obtain lands 
and/or financing necessary to provide recreation areas, including 
equestrian trails and greenways, facilities and programs. 
 

5A.4. Objective: 
Require the provision of open space in redevelopment and new development. 
 
5A.4.1. Policy: 

The provision of open space such as natural areas, vistas, land buffers, 
or trails, shall be required in residential and non-residential development 
as per the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC). 
 

5A.4.2. Policy: 
The Town emphasizes that open space is needed in order to create vista, 
to provide shade, and to create and enhance the rural image and flavor of 
the Town. 

 
Goal 5B The Town of Loxahatchee Groves will strive to provide a town-wide 

greenway and equestrian trail system which preserves the town’s rural 
lifestyle. 

 
5B.1. Objective: 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall develop a greenway and equestrian trail 
system to meet the needs and interests of the residents of Loxahatchee Groves. 

 
5B.1.1. Policy: 

The Town shall create a map of existing greenway and equestrian riding 
trails. 

 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 
Adoption – February 2009 
Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-5 
 

 
191 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 21 of 34 

5B.1.2. Policy: 
The Town, in addition to recommendations of the Roadways, Equestrian 
Trails and Greenways (RETAG) Committee, shall identify new 
connections to existing trails, which if acquired would greatly enhance 
pedestrian, bicycle, and equestrian circulation throughout the Town. 
 

5B.1.3. Policy: 
A master plan for a cohesive trail system shall be completed within two 
(2) years of the adoption of this element  The Roadways Equestrian Trails 
and Greenways Plan shall be updated every Five (5) years to insure 
consistency with current Town policy. 
 

5B.1.4. Policy: 
Annually, the Town  RETAG shall assess and recommend to the Town 
Council whether the greenway and equestrian trail system is sufficient for  
to meet the needs of the residents, and recommend needed 
improvements. 
 

5B.1.5. Policy: 
The greenway and equestrian trails system, wherever feasible, shall 
provide linkages between residential homes, parks, recreational facilities, 
open spaces, and commercial facilities throughout the Town. 
 

5B.1.6. Policy: 
All vehicular parking for land uses which are adjacent to the greenway 
and equestrian trail system should provide the parking on a side away 
from the trail. 
 

5B.1.7. Policy: 
The greenway and equestrian trail system shall be consistent with the 
Town’s Minimum Design Standards.design documents adopted by the 
Town and based upon RETAG recommendations in coordination with 
Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District. 
 

5B.1.8. Policy: 
The Town shall use landscaping and signs to visually identify street 
crossings and trail access points. Safe and controlled greenway and 
equestrian crossings shall be constructed. 
 

5B.1.9. Policy: 
The Town shall coordinate the construction of proposed multiuse trails 
with the LGWCD whenever they fall within the LGWCD rights-of-way. 
Doing so shall ensure that sufficient right-of-way is preserved to construct 
and maintain the Town’s multiuse trails. 

 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 
Adoption – February 2009 
Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-6 
 

 
192 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 22 of 34 

5B.1.10.Policy: 
The Town shall coordinate the provision of greenway and equestrian trail 
connections among adjoining or abutting properties during the site plan 
review process. 
 

5B.2.  Objective: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ greenway and equestrian trail system shall be 
financially feasible. 
 
5B.2.1. Policy: 

The Town shall determine which trails should be considered for public 
ownership. 
 

5B.2.2. Policy: 
The Town shall explore the possibility of obtaining grants, gifts, 
contributions, funding assistance, and other financial resources for the 
development of greenways and equestrian riding trails. 
 

5B.2.3. Policy: 
The Town should pursue joint efforts with all affected local jurisdictions, 
including local governments, special districts, and other public agencies in 
the acquisition, development and maintenance of greenways and 
equestrian trails as a means for reducing costs and pooling resources. 
 

5B.3.  Objective: 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ equestrian trail system shall provide access to 
abutting county parks, open space, and neighboring municipalities. 
 
5B.3.1. Policy: 

The Town shall pursue direct connections and access between the 
Town’s equestrian trail(s) and the Loxahatchee Groves County Park and 
the Royal Palm Beach Pines Nature Area. 
 

5B.3.2. Policy: 
The Town shall pursue direct connections and access between the 
Town’s equestrian trails and the Village of Wellington’s equestrian 
preserves and public trails. 
 

5B.3.3. Policy: 
The Town shall coordinate with Loxahatchee Groves Water Control 
District for development of greenways and equestrian trials. 

 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan 
Adoption – February 2009 
Recreation and Open Space Element                                                                                       5-7 
 
 

 
193 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 23 of 34 

 
 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT 
GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Goal 9: The Town shall ensure adequate and timely public facilities and infrastructure 
capacity to accommodate existing and future residents and businesses maximizing the 
use and value of existing facilities, and effectively managing future growth consistent 
with the level-of-service standards established in the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

9.1  Objective: 
Maximize fiscal resources available to the Town for public facility improvements 
necessary to accommodate existing development, redevelopment, and planned 
future growth, and to replace obsolete or deteriorated facilities. 

 
9.1.1  Policy: 

Ensure capital revenues and/or secured developer commitments are in 
place to maintain all public facilities at acceptable level of service 
standards prior to the issuance of new development orders. 

 
The Town shall follow the following timing requirements to ensure that 
adequate public facilities are available to meet level of service standards 
with the impact of development. 
 
(a) Sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage, adequate water  
supplies, and potable water facilities shall be in place and available to 
serve new development no later than the issuance by the local 
government of a certificate of occupancy or its functional equivalent. Prior 
to approval of a building permit or its functional equivalent, the Town shall 
determine whether adequate water supplies to serve the new 
development will be available no later than the anticipated date of 
issuance by the Town of a certificate of occupancy or its functional 
equivalent. 

 
(b) Parks and recreation facilities to serve new development shall  
be in place or under actual construction no later than 1 year after 
issuance by the local government of a certificate of occupancy or its 
functional equivalent. However, the acreage for such facilities shall be 
dedicated or be acquired by the Town prior to issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy or its functional equivalent, or funds in the amount of the 
developer's fair share shall be committed no later than the local 
government's approval to commence construction. 
 
  

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                        9 -8 
 

 
194 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 24 of 34 

(c) Transportation facilities needed to serve new development  
shall be in place or under actual construction within 3 years after the 
Town approves a building permit that results in traffic generation.   

 
9.1.2:  Policy: 

Utilize a variety of funding sources to implement capital improvements, 
within the limitation of existing law. These methods may include ad 
valorem taxes, general revenues, enterprise revenues, assessments, tax 
increment, grants, and private contributions, including dedications and/or 
funds. 

 
9.1.3:  Policy: 

Ensure that new development bears a proportionate cost for public facility 
improvements by utilizing a variety of mechanisms to assess and collect 
impact fees, dedications and/or contributions from private development. 

 
9.1.4:  Policy: 

Aggressively seek all realistic grant opportunities to fund projects in the 
Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements. 

 
9.1.5  Policy: 

Land development regulations established by the Town shall provide for 
the timely completion and maintenance of the capital improvements 
required by the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
9.1.6  Policy: 

Each review of the Capital Improvements Element shall include a review 
of the assumptions, projections, needs, and consideration for appropriate 
and timely renewal of existing facilities according to the following criteria: 
 
1)   Emergency and post-disaster mitigation. 
2)   Deficiency determination by a Concurrency Management   
      System. 
3)   Public involvement in Capital Improvement Program and  
      Budget. 
4)   Existing land development and Town master plans. 
5)   Plans of local, county, state agencies including the     
      Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District. 
6)   Accommodation of new development and redevelopment. 
7)   Financial feasibility. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                        9 -9 

 
195 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 25 of 34 

 
9.2  Objective: 

Provide the necessary capital improvements to replace worn-out or obsolete 
public facilities, correct service deficiencies and accommodate planned future 
growth consistent with the adopted level-of-service standards. 
 
9.2.1 Policy: 

Prepare and adopt a Five-Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) as 
part of the Town’s annual budgeting process. Amend the Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements Capital Improvement Element 
annually to reflect these changes annual CIP updates. 

 
9.2.2  Policy: 

Annual  The annual  update of the Capital Improvement Element  Five-
Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall reflect proportionate fair-
share and other developer contributions. 
 

9.2.3  Policy: 
The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be financially 
feasible. Sufficient revenues shall be available for the first three years or 
will be available from committed or planned funding sources for years 4 
and 5 of a 5-year capital improvement schedule. 

 
9.2.4 Policy: 

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be based upon 
the Future Land Use Element and consistent with all other objectives and 
policies of Comprehensive Plan elements. 

 
9.2.5   Policy: 

Coordinate proportionate fair share mitigation procedures and payments 
with Palm Beach County, the Florida Department of Transportation, and 
the Palm Beach County School District. 

 
9.2.6  Policy: 

Coordinate planning for the Town improvements with the plans of state 
agencies, the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD), Palm 
Beach County, the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District and 
adjacent municipalities when applicable. 

 
9.2.7   Policy: 

All capital improvements in the Five–Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements for which the Town is responsible will be included in the 
Five-Year Capital Improvements Program (CIP and Town’s Annual 
Capital Budget and Capital Improvement Fund. 

 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -10 

 
196 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 26 of 34 

 
9.2.8  Policy: Reserved 

Evaluate and rank the proposed capital improvement projects listed in the 
Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements, prioritizing them according 
to the following guidelines: 
 
•   Protection of public health, safety and welfare; 
•   Fulfills the Town’s legal commitment to provide facilities and   
    services; 
•   Corrects existing deficiencies; 
•   Maintains adopted levels of service; 
•   Provides for the most efficient and effective use of existing   
    and/or future facilities; 
  • Provides new capacity to accommodate future growth  
    consistent with this Plan; 
•   Prevents or reduces future improvement costs; and 
•   Promotes cost-effective use of time and revenue. 
•   Financial feasibility; 
•   The plans of local, county and state agencies providing public  
     facilities. 
 

9.2.9  Policy: 
Use the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) to ensure that 
all decisions regarding land use planning and the issuance of 
development orders and permits consider the availability of public 
facilities and services necessary to support such development at the 
adopted LOS standards concurrent with the associated impacts. 

 
9.2.10  Policy: 

Coordinate with road, utility and infrastructure service providers within the 
Town to ensure that necessary capital improvements are implemented to 
support new construction and redevelopment. 

 
9.2.11 Policy: 

Repair, rehabilitate, and replace the Town’s capital facilities according to 
generally accepted engineering principles and guidelines and ensure that 
facilities and services provided by other agencies are held to the same
 standard. 

 
9.2.12  Policy: 

Assess new development a proportionate fair-share of the public facility 
costs necessary to accommodate the impacts of new development at the 
adopted levels-of-service through the enforcement of existing public 
facility funding mechanisms, conditions of development approval, and 
impact fees. Public facilities include potable water, sanitary sewer, solid 
waste, drainage, parks, including equestrian trails and greenways, 
schools and roadways. 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -11 

 
197 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 27 of 34 

9.2.13  Policy: 
Capital improvements associated with the construction of educational 
facilities are not addressed in the Town’s Capital Improvement Fund CIP 
or Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements, but rather are the 
responsibility of the Palm Beach County School District. To address 
financial feasibility\ associated with school concurrency, the School 
District Five Year Plan and Capital Budget for educational facilities will be 
incorporated by reference into the CIE. 

 
9.2.14  Policy: 

The Town, in conjunction with Palm Beach County and the Palm Beach 
County School District, has the responsibility for providing implementing 
the public school concurrency program within Loxahatchee Groves. 
related to capital improvements and should continually seek to expand 
funding sources available to meet those requirements. 

 
9.2.15  Policy: 

For public school facilities, a proportionate share mitigation agreement is 
subject to approval by Palm Beach County School District and the Town.  
and must be identified in the adopted School District Five Year Plan and 
Capital Budget. 

 
9.2.16  Policy:  Reserved 

The Town shall update its Capital Improvements Element and Program 
annually, to include the annual update of the School District Five Year 
Plan and Capital Budget. 

 
9.2.17 Policy: Reserved 

The FY2009-2013 Plan & Capital Budget adopted by the School District 
of Palm Beach County on September 10, 2008 shall be incorporated into 
the Capital Improvement Element by reference. 

 
9.2.18  Policy: 

The public school LOS standard is the school’s utilization, expressed as a 
percentage, which is the result of comparing the number of students with 
the satisfactory Florida Inventory of School Houses (FISH) capacity at a 
given location, e.g. an elementary facility with 1,000 students and a FISH 
capacity of 970, has an LOS of 103%.  Also referred to as the utilization 
of a facility.  which is defined as the enrollment as a percentage of school 
student capacity based upon the Florida Inventory of School Houses 
(FISH). The level of service (LOS) standard shall be established for all 
schools of each type within the School District as 110 percent utilization, 
measured as the average for all schools of each type within each 
Concurrency Service Area.  
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -11 

 

 
198 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 28 of 34 

 
No individual school shall be allowed to operate in excess of 110% 
utilization, unless the school is the subject of a School Capacity Study 
(SCS) undertaken by the School District, working with the Technical 
Advisory Group (TAG)  which determines that the school can operate in 
excess of 110% utilization. The SCS shall be required if a school in the 
first student count of the second semester reaches 108 % or higher 
Capacity. As a result of an SCS, an individual school may operate at up 
to 120% utilization. 

 
9.3  Objective 

Develop and implement a debt management program to assist the Town in 
providing adequate and timely revenues for scheduled capital improvements. 

 
9.3.1  Policy: 

Incur Provided the Town Charter allows such an activity,  Loxahatchee 
Groves may incur debt within generally accepted municipal finance 
principles and guidelines, and only in relation to the Town’s ability to pay 
for a new capital asset or to significantly extend the life expectancy of a 
capital asset. 

 
9.3.2  Policy: 

Ensure that any increase in operating costs for a new or additional facility 
is also considered when evaluating the debt to be incurred for a facility. 

 
9.3.3  Policy: 

The Town will not provide a public facility, nor accept the provision of a 
public facility by others, if it is unable to pay for the subsequent annual 
operation and maintenance costs of the facility. 

 
9.3.4  Policy: 

The Town shall adopt standards for debt management by 2009 prior to 
incurring any public debt. 

 
9.3.5  Policy: 

Debt payment shall not exceed the anticipated useful life of a capital 
improvement and, in no case, shall exceed thirty years. 

 
9.4  Objective: 

Land use decisions shall be made based upon available or projected        fiscal 
resources in coordination with a schedule of capital improvements the Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements which maintains adopted level of service 
standards and meets existing and future facility needs. 

 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                                      9 -12 

 
199 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 29 of 34 

9.4.1  Policy: 
The Town shall determine whether projects in the Five-Year Schedule of 
Capital Improvements will allow level of service standard to be maintained 
with a proposed land use change. 

 
9.4.2  Policy: 

The Town shall provide for the availability of public facilities and services 
needed to support development concurrent with the impacts of such 
development. subsequent to the adoption of the local comprehensive 
plan. 
 

9.4.3  Policy: 
In order to coordinate land uses with available and projected fiscal 
resources and a financially feasible schedule of capital improvements for 
water supply and facility projects, the Town shall include in its annual 
update of its financially feasible five (5) year capital improvements the 
Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements,  any appropriate projects 
listed in listing the first five (5) years of the (10) year Water Supply Facility 
Work Plan (WSFWP). to ensure consistency between the Potable Water 
Sub-Element of the Infrastructure Element and the Capital Improvements 
Element. 

 
9.5 Objective:    

The Town shall include all projects identified in the policies of the various 
elements of this Comprehensive Plan that are the responsibility of Loxahatchee 
Groves and determined to be of relatively large scale and high cost as capital 
improvements projects for inclusion within the Five-Year Schedule of Capital 
Improvements.   

 
9.5.1 Policy:  

Capital improvements shall be provided to:  (1) correct existing 
deficiencies and extend the life expectancy; (2) manage growth, as 
defined in the Future Land Use Element and the Town’s Charter; and/or 
(3) replace worn-out or obsolete facilities, as indicated in the Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital Improvements of this element. 

 
  9.5.2 Policy:   

The Town defines a capital improvements project or program as a major, 
not often-recurring, expenditure that costs or commits at least $25,000, 
which has an expected life of at least five (5) years, and which falls into 
one of the following categories: 

 
a. Acquisition or lease of land or interests in land for public  
purposes. 
 

 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                       9 -13 

 
200 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 30 of 34 

b. Accommodation of Town growth and improvement of  
infrastructure services delivery by means of the purchase, lease, 
construction, rehabilitation, or replacement of: 

 
1. A public building or physical facility; 
2. Public infrastructure such as  roads, drainage canals,  parks, 

trails, or similar projects; 
      3.   Equipment supporting the maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
c.   Projects designed to bring the community into immediate  
compliance with state or federal law or court order.  Such projects  are not 
subject to the above cost or life expectancy limits. 

 
A capital improvements project or program is further defined to include 
any planning, engineering, feasibility or appraisal studies related thereto if 
the total cost is at least $10,000.  This shall include any studies oriented 
to defining the initial need for land and/or facilities. 
 

9.5.3 Policy: 
Normal maintenance activities are not included in the Five-Year Schedule 
of Capital Improvements.   

 
9.5.4 Policy:   

The Town shall, as a matter of priority, schedule for funding any capital 
improvement projects in the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements 
which are designed to correct existing public facility deficiencies. 

 
  9.5.5  Policy:   

Proposed capital improvements projects shall be evaluated and ranked in 
order of priority according to the following guidelines: 

 
a. Whether the proposed project is financially feasible, in terms of  

its impact upon Town budget potential; 
 

b. Whether the project is needed to protect public health and  
safety, to fulfill the Town’s legal commitment to provide facilities 
and services,  or to preserve, achieve full use of, or increase the 
efficiency of existing facilities; 

 
c. Whether the project prevents or reduces future improvement costs or       

provides service to areas currently lacking such service; 
 

d. Whether the project represents a logical extension of facilities and     
services within the Town; and 
 

 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                       9 -14 

 
201 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 31 of 34 

e.  Whether or not the proposed project is consistent with plans of 
State agencies, Palm Beach County agencies and the 
Loxahatchee Groves  Water Control District.  

 
 9.6 Objective:  

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be reviewed by the FAAC 
on an annual basis as part of the Town budget process.  Any revisions and/or 
amendments to the Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements shall be made 
by the Town Council at that time. Annual updates to Tables 9-1 to 9-3 shall be 
made by Town Council Ordinance and not subject to the comprehensive plan 
amendment process.  

 
  9.6.1 Policy: 

The annual update process shall include a review to determine that 
proposed Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements revisions are 
internally consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
9.6.2 Policy: 

All items to address an imminent danger or threat to the public health or 
safety shall be submitted to the Town Council for decision and 
appropriate action through the Town Manager.  If the obligation duration 
exceeds one budget year, the item shall be included in the Five-Year 
Schedule of Capital  Improvements.  

 
9.7     Objective: 

The Five-Year Schedule of Capital Improvements consists of Tables 9-1 to 9-3.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009                                                                                                      9 - 15 

 
202 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 32 of 34 

Table 9-1 -  Summary of FY 2014 – 2018 Capital Improvements Projects 
 

A.  Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards: Loxahatchee Groves 

Comprehensive 
Plan Element 

Project No. and Description 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Transportation TRAN-1: Non-District Town Road Survey (1) 
Objective 2.6 and Policies 2.2.4,  
2.7.1 and 2.7.9 Transportation 
Element 

Transportation TRAN-2: Collecting Canal Road  OGEM surface 
Improvements (1,2)  

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-3: Okeechobee Traffic Signal @ “D” Rd. (1) Policies 2.1.4 and 2.2.2, 
Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-4: Town Road OGEM Projects –Specific  
Future Projects To Be Identified (1,2) 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-5:  Pave/OGEM Surface “D” Road from 
Southern Blvd. to Collecting Canal 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Transportation TRAN-6:  LGWCD to Town road transfer costs - 
Specific  Future Projects To Be Identified 

Policy 2.1.3 Transportation Element 

Drainage Sub-
Element 

DR-1:  Drainage Canal Refurbishment Program  (sub 
to LGWCD) 

Policies 3A.1.5 and 3A.1.6 Drainage 
Sub-Element 

 
Key:  TRAN – Transportation; DR – Drainage;  LGWCD – Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District. 

(1) – Existing Deficiency ; (2) – Replacement Project; 3) – To Meet Future Need 
 

B.  FY 2014 to 2018 Improvements Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards:   
     Outside Agencies 

 

Agency 
 

Project No. and Description 

Comprehensive Plan Consistency  

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Lox Groves Water 
Control Dist 

DR-2:  40-foot  Long Front  Backhoe lease 
purchase (1,3)  

Objective 3.A.1 Drainage Sub-
Element 

Lox Groves Water 
Control Dist 

DR-3:  Long-Reach Mower lease purchase (1,3) Objective 3.A.1 Drainage Sub-
Element 

Palm Beach County 
School District 

PSF-1 Palm Beach County School District 5-Year 
Capital Budget (FY 2013 – 2017) By Reference (3) 

Policy 8A.3-A Public School 
Facilities Element 

Florida Department 
of Transportation 

FDOT-1: #4282391 Bridge #930402  repair and 
rehab.  West of “D” Road (1)* 

Policy 2.2.4 Transportation Element;  
Policy 9.2.10 Capital Improvements 
Element 

Florida Department 
of Transportation 

FDOT-2: #4193452 Add lanes and reconstruct 
Southern Boulevard (3)* 

Policies  2.2.4 and 2.6.2 
Transportation Element; Policy 
9.2.10 Capital Improvements 
Element 

 

* -  Project included in the FY 2011 – 2015 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) of the MPO. 
Key:  DR – Drainage; PSF – Public School Facility; FDOT – Florida Department of Transportation 

(1) – Existing Deficiency; (2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 

 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                   9 -16 
 

 
203 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 33 of 34 

C.  FY 2014 to 2018 Non-LOS Comprehensive Plan-Directed Improvements: 
Loxahatchee Groves 

Comprehensive Plan 
Element 

Project No. and Description 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

Recreation and Open 
Space 

ROS-1: Equestrian Trails – Linear Park 
from “A” Road to Folsom Road (1,3) 

Objective 2.3 Transportation Element 

Recreation and Open 
Space 

ROS-2: Equestrian Trails – Future 
Projects To Be Identified (1,3) 

Objective 2.3 Transportation Element 

Key:  ROS – Recreation and Open Space 

(1) – Existing Deficiency; (2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 
 
 

D. FY 2014 to 2018 Other Infrastructure Improvements: Outside Agencies/Private 
Parties 

 

Project No. and Description 
Public Agency/Private 

Party 
Comprehensive Plan Consistency 

(Objective/Policy Citation)       

TRAN-7 “F” Road Pavement and OGEM 
Improvements: Southern Blvd. to 
Collecting Canal(1,3) 

Grove Medical Plaza Site 
Plan Approval Condition Policy 2.1.4 Transportation Element 

Key:  TRAN – Transportation. 

 (1) – Existing Deficiency ;(2) – Replacement Project; (3) – To Meet Future Need 
 

 Table 9-2 – FY 2014 – 2018  

Schedule and Cost of Capital Improvements Projects 

A. Necessary to Maintain LOS Standards 

 
 

Project  Number* 
Fiscal Year Cost ($ 000’s) Total Cost 

(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

TRAN-1 100 100 0 0     0    200,000 

TRAN-2 944      0 0 0     0    944,000 
TRAN-3 250      0 0 0     0    250,000 
TRAN-4 100      0 0 0     0    100,000 
TRAN 5 300      0 0 0     0      300,000 
TRAN-6 29    29        29       29   29      145,000 
TRAN-7 106      0 0 0     0      106,000 
DR-1 150        150      150     150 150    750,000 
DR-2   62    62        62       62    62    310,000 
DR-3   34    34        34       34    34    170,000 
FDOT #4282391         119      0 0 0     0    119,000 

FDOT##4193452**     5,200      0 0 0 34,500 39,700,000 

Totals     7,394  375      275     275 34,775 43,094,000 

**Cost includes entire project length (Lion Country Safari to west of Crestwood Blvd). 

* - Refer to Table 9-1A , 9-1B and 9-1D. 
 
 
 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                    9 -17 
 

 
204 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-08 
 

Page 34 of 34 

B.  Non-LOS Comprehensive Plan-Directed Improvements 

 
 
Project  Number* 

Fiscal Year Cost ($ 000’s) Total Cost 
(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

ROS-1        80    0    0 0 0    80,000 

ROS-2   0          100          100 0 0   200,000 

Totals 80 100 100 0 0  280,000 
PBC School Dist. 5-Year Capital Budget (FY 2013 – 2017)Incorporated  By Reference 

* - Refer to Table 9-1C. 

 

 

Table 9-3 – Revenue Sources for Town Directed Capital Improvements Projects 

 

Project 
Number* 

Revenue 
Source 

Fiscal Year Budget ($000) Total Cost
(Dollars) 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

TRAN-1 GF/GT 100,000 100,000           0           0           0 200,000 

TRAN-2 GF/GT 944,000             0            0            0           0 944,000 
TRAN-3 GF/GT 250,000               0            0            0           0 250,000 
TRAN-4 GF 100,000             0            0            0           0 100,000 
TRAN-5 GF 300,000             0            0            0           0    300,000 

TRAN-6 GT   29,000    29,000    29,000      29,000   29,000    145,000 

TRAN-7 P 106,000            0            0            0           0 106,000 

DR-1 GT 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 750,000 

ROS-1 GF   80,000             0             0             0             0   80,000 

ROS-2 GF             0 100,000 100,000             0             0 200,000 

Town Totals GF/GT/P 2,059,000 379,000 279,000 179,000 179,000 3,075,000

* - Refer to Tables9-1A,  9-1C and 9-1D. 

Revenue Sources:  GF-General Fund; GT-Gas Tax; G-Grant; P –Private Source 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan                  Capital Improvement Element 
Adoption – February 2009; Rev.:  Ord. 2013-04                                                                     9-18 

 
 

 

 
205 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.f. 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013‐09 

 
206 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
207 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
208 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
209 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
210 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
211 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
212 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
213 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
214 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
215 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
216 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
217 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
218 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
219 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
220 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
221 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
222 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
223 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
224 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
225 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
226 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
227 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
228 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
229 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
230 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
231 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
232 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
233 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
234 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
235 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
236 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
237 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
238 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
239 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
240 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
241 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
242 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
243 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
244 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
245 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 6.g. 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013‐10 

 
246 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
247 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
248 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
249 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
250 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
251 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
252 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
253 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
254 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
255 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
256 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
257 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
258 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
259 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
260 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
261 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
262 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
263 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
264 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
265 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
266 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
267 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
268 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
269 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
270 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
271 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
272 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
273 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
274 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
275 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
276 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
277 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
278 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
279 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
280 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
281 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
282 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
283 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
284 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
285 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
286 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
287 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
288 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.a. 

WORK AUTHORIZATIONS FOR UNDERWOOD MANAGEMENT 

SERVICES GROUP 

 
289 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            October 31, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Town Management Company Work Authorizations 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
The Town Council has approved four (4) work authorizations with the Town Management 
Company. An amendment to address hay sales was approved on June 26, 2012; an amendment to 
the CIE Element and related elements to the Comprehensive Plan was approved on July 31, 
2012; an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan regarding policies and treatment for 
development along Okeechobee and Southern Boulevards was approved on August 21, 2012 and 
Staff support to the newly created Unified Land Development Committee was approved on 
November 20, 2012. The CIE Element amendment is scheduled for Town Council transmittal 
hearing on November 5, 2013, and will subsequently be transmitted to the State of Florida.  The 
historical legacy amendment (the subsequent and evolving amendment relative to hay sales) will 
be returning to Town Council at the December 3, 2013 meeting. ULDC activities will be 
concluded after the Committee sunsets in December and the final report is issued to Town 
Council. The Comprehensive Plan amendments relative to Okeechobee/Southern will be coming 
to Town Council in early 2014.   
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
At this point in time and due to changes of direction in all of the work authorizations, some fiscal 
adjustments must be made to these efforts. No financial adjustments are necessary to Work 
Authorization 12-01, Hay Sales, in spite of the fact that late in the project, the amendment was 
modified to change course to be prepared as a historical legacy amendment.  Work Authorization 
12 -02 CIE will need an additional $1000.00 dollars to complete the transmittal/adoption phase 
of the ordinance. The additional funds are necessary due to the P&Z Board (sitting as LPA) 
holding an extra meeting and Town Management Staff had to take the amendment to the 

 
290 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



Roadway Equestrian Trials and Greenways Committee (RETGAC) which requested the ability 
to review the document necessitating an extra meeting and staff time.  
 
Work Authorization 12-03 Okeechobee/Southern Moratorium Amendments to the 
Comprehensive Plan needs an infusion of $8000 to finish the amendments. This will cover the 
necessary processing and modifications as a result of the additional workshop and change of 
directions related to Southern Boulevard and also to assess the effects and impacts that Minto 
West may have on planning efforts along Okeechobee. Finally, $5,370 is needed to complete the 
ULDC Committee activities (Work Authorization 12-04)  which include three meetings, agenda 
and minutes’ preparation and the final report to Town Council of the Committee’s 
recommendations. The reason for additional funds is due to incorporating the Special Exceptions 
work item ($2700 in charges) under this work task (previously unplanned for and set for Town 
Council review on November 5, 2013) and numerous discussions related to Agriculture that have 
consumed the Committee’s time and expanded a number of meetings. The requested funds are 
based upon hourly projections of the time needed to finish the tasks.  
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

The total additional funds needed to finish these projects is $14,370 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

Work Authorizations 12-01, 12-02, 12-03 and 12-04 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Town Management recommends Town Council approval of the additional $14,370 to complete 
the work authorizations. 
 
 
 
 

 
291 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
292 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
293 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
294 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
295 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.b. 

RETGAC PROPOSAL 

 
296 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            October 30, 2013  
 
SUBJECT:     Roadway Equestrian Trails and Greenways Advisory Committee (RETGAC) 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
At the October 23, 2013 RETGAC Meeting, the Committee on a motion by Keith Harris and 
seconded by Dr. Bill Louda recommended to Town Council that The Town Council consider and 
implement the placement of controlled crossings with equestrian/pedestrian/bicycle signage at 
the intersections of Okeechobee Blvd and B and F Roads.  The Committee made a second 
motion to have member Keith Harris come before the Town Council at their November 5, 2013 
meeting and provide a presentation on their proposal. 
  
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
RETGAC Committee member Harris will be providing information from the Conceptual Study 
of Controlled Equestrian Crossings for B and F Roads at Okeechobee Boulevard which is 
attached to this report. 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

To be determined dependent upon Town Council Action 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

A Conceptual Study of Controlled Equestrian Crossings for B and F Roads at Okeechobee 
Boulevard by Keith Harris 

 
297 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



V. RECOMMENDATION 
 
None at this time. 
 
 

 
298 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
299 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
300 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
301 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
302 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
303 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
304 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
305 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
306 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
307 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
308 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
309 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
310 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
311 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
312 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.c. 

E‐MAIL FROM SOUTHERN STATES 

 
313 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
314 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.d. 

SPECIAL ACTS – LEGISLATION REGARDING ROADWAYS 

 
315 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

An act relating to the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, Palm Beach County, Florida; amending 

Chapter 99‐425, Laws of Florida, as amended; providing for the dedication of road right‐of‐way 

easements to the public; providing requirements for such dedication; providing for prima facie evidence 

of such public road right‐of‐way easements; exempting certain property of an electric utility; assigning 

continuing traffic control jurisdiction on all public roads within the district to the Town of Loxahatchee 

Groves; providing an effective date. 

 

Roads presumed to be dedicated. 

(1)  When a road within the district has been constructed by the district, and when such road has 

been maintained or repaired continuously and uninterruptedly for 7 years by the district, an easement 

for such road over, under, across, upon, through, and within the underlying real property for road right‐

of‐way purposes, shall be deemed to be dedicated to the public to the extent of the width that has been 

actually maintained or repaired for the prescribed period, whether or not the road has been formally 

established as a public road.  The dedication shall vest such easement in and to the road in the public, 

whether or not there is a record of conveyance, dedication, or appropriation to the public use. 

(2)  The filing of a map in the office of the clerk of the circuit court of the county where the road is 

located showing the lands and reciting on it that the road has been dedicated in accordance with 

subsection (1), or by any other means of acquisition, duly certified by the chair and secretary of the 

district shall be prima facie evidence of the public’s easement rights. 

(3)  This section does not apply to any facility of an electric utility which is located on property 

otherwise subject to this section. 

(4)  The Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall continue to have traffic control jurisdiction over all public 

roads located within the district. 

 

 

 

H:\C&P Clients\Loxahatchee Groves WCD\Legislation & State Statutes\Legislation\Legislation 2013\Roads presumed to be dedicated 

10.29.13.docx 

 

 

 

 

   

 
316 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.e. 

MINTO WEST LAND USE AMENDMENT AND REZONING 

 
317 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
318 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.f. 

DISCUSSION AND APPROVAL OF ALL CONCERNS OF LGWCD 

PROPOSED LEGISLATION REGARDING ROADWAYS 

 (Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel)

 
319 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
320 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 

 

 

 

 

 ITEM 9.g. 

REVIEW OF COUNCIL’S POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES NOT 

INCLUDED IN TOW ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS TO 

DETERMINE IF ANY MODIFICATIONS OR CHANGES NEED TO BE 

MADE (Councilman Jim Rockett) 

 
321 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13



 
322 of 322  Agenda Packet 11-5-13


	2.a. Invoice from Town Attorney
	2.b. Minutes for Approval
	2.c. Water Service Connection
	2.d. Inspector General Agreement
	5.a. FAAC Report
	6.a. Resolution No 2013-15
	6.b. Resolution No. 2013-16
	6.d. Ordinance No. 2013-06
	6.e. Ordinance No. 2013-08
	6.f. Ordinance No. 2013-09
	6.g. Ordinance No. 2013-10
	9.a. Work Authorizations for UMSG
	9.b. RETGAC Proposal
	9.c. E-mail from Southern States
	9.d. Special Acts
	9.e. Minto West
	9.f. Discussion of LGWCD Proposed Legislation
	9.g. Review of Council policies, etc.



